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FINANCIALS t  ge
FINANCIAL YAR 2020-21 2019-20 2018-19 2017-18 2016-17

I CAPIAL ACCOUNS

A. Share Capital 1,258 1,258 1,258 1,258 1,258

B. Reserves (5,870) (2,718) 441 2,678 4,119

C. Net Worth (A+B) (4,612) (1,460) 1,699 3,936 5,377

D. Borrowings 11,097 9,721 7,541 5,903 5,584

E. Net Block 341 414 516 622 744

F. Debt-Equity Ratio (D/C) NA NA 4.44:1 1.50:1 1.04:1

II RVNU ACCOUNS

A. Gross Revenue 2,529 4,484 5,503 7,935 13,619

B. Profit / (Loss) before Taxes (PBT) (3,132) (3,019) (2,263) (1,109) (307)

C. Profit / (Loss) after Taxes (PAT) (3,095) (3,018) (2,213) (1,085) (260)

D. Return on Shareholders' Fund % (67.10) (206.74) (130.00) (27.57) (4.83)

III QUIY SHARHOLDRS' ARNINS

A. Earnings per Equity Share (in `) (24.62) (24.01) (17.61) (8.63) (2.07)

B. Net Worth per Equity Share (in `) (36.69) (11.61) 13.51 31.31 42.77

(` in lakhs)
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Notice

To,

The Members,

N is hereby given that the hirty Fifth (35th) Annual 
General Meeting (“AGM”) of the Members of the Mukand 
ngineers Limited will be held on Monday, 27th September, 
2021 at 11.30 a.m (.S.) through Video onferencing (V) 
/ ther Audio Visual Means (AVM) facility, to transact the 
following business:

RDNARY BUSNSS:

1. To consider and adopt the Financial Statements of 
the Company for the Financial Year ended March 31, 
2021 and the Reports of the Board of Directors and the 
Auditors thereon.

2. To appoint a Director in place of Shri Niraj Bajaj (DIN: 
00028261), who retires by rotation and being eligible, 
offers himself for re-appointment.

SPAL BUSNSS:

3.	 Approval / Ratification of Material Related Party
ransactions for F.Y. 2021-22 / F.Y. 2020-21.

	 To consider and if thought fit, to pass, with or without
modification(s),thefollowingResolutionasanrdinary 
Resolution:

 “RSLVD ht pursuant to the provisions of the 
Regulation 23 of Securities and Exchange Board of 
India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 and Section 188 of the Companies Act, 
2013 read with the Companies (Meeting of Board and its 
Powers) Rules, 2014 as applicable and any amendments 
thereto and subject to such other approvals, consents, 
permissions and sanctions of any authorities as may be 
necessary, consent of the Members of the Company be 
and is hereby accorded to the Board of Directors to ratify/
approve all existing contracts/arrangements/agreements 
entered into/to be entered with Mukand Limited and 
Mukand Global Finance Limited, (wholly owned 
subsidiary of Mukand Limited) and Mukand Sumi Metal 
Processing Limited (subsidiary of Mukand Limited), India 
Thermal Power Limited (Group Company) and hence a 
related party within the meaning of the aforesaid law, the 
value of which either singly or taken together may exceed 
ten percent of the annual turnover of the Company as 
perAuditedFinancial Statements for the financial year
2019-20 & 2020-21. The details of which are given in the 
tabular chart hereto and explained further in detail in the 
Explanatory Statement annexed hereto;

Name of Related 
Party

Description of ontract Period of 
ontract

otal 
cumulative 
contract value 
with Related 
Parties  
(` in Lacs)

Mukand Limited/ 
India Thermal 
Power Limited 

Inter Corporate Deposit 
(ICD) along with interest 
thereon

April 1, 
2020 to 
March 31, 
2021

2,216.28

Mukand Limited 
and Mukand 
Global Finance 
Limited (wholly 
owned subsidiary 
of Mukand 
Limited) and 
Mukand Sumi 
Metal Processing 
Limited. 
(subsidiary of 
Mukand Limited). 
India Thermal 
Power Limited 
(Group Company)

Contract Execution 
- Design, Erection, 
Commissioning 
& Transportation, 
Consultancy Service - 
PMS, Contract Execution, 
Maintenance Service 
- Maintenance of EDP 
System- Commission on 
Corporate Guarantee-
Supplies of Traded 
Material -Purchase of 
Cranes & Maintenance, 
Rent, and Management 
fess -Fixed Deposit -SAP 
up-gradation services - 
Inter-Corporate Deposit 
along with Interest 
thereon.

April 1, 
2021 to 
March 31, 
2022

8,588,00

Mukand Limited Corporate Guarantee 
given by Mukand Limited 
for credit facilities of the 
Company

April 1, 
2021 to 
March 31, 
2022

11,500.00

 RSLVD FURR A the Board be and is hereby 
authorized to take such steps as may be necessary for 
obtaining approvals, statutory or contractual if any, in 
relation to the above and be authorized to approve 
aforesaid transactions and the terms & conditions 
thereof.

 RSLVD FURR A the Board be and is 
hereby authorised on behalf of the Company to do all 
such acts, deeds and things, to sign, execute all such 
documents, instruments in writing on an ongoing basis 
as may be required in its absolute discretion pursuant to 
the above Resolution.”
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NS FR MMBRS’ ANN:

1. In view of the continuing COVID-19 pandemic situation 
and social distancing norm to be followed and the 
continuing restriction on movement of people at several 
places in the country and pursuant to General Circular 
No.14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, General Circular No. 
17/2020 dated April 13, 2020, Circular No. 20/2020 dated 
May 05, 2020, Circular No. 02/2021 dated January 13, 
2021 respectively, issued by the Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs (“MCA Circulars”), Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/
CMD1/CIR/P/2020/79 dated May 12, 2020 and Circular 
No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD2/CIR/P/2021/11 dated January 
15, 2021 issued by the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (“SEBI Circular”) and in compliance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) and the 
SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (“Listing Regulations”), the 35th  Annual 
General Meeting (‘35th AGM/ AGM’) of the Company is 
being conducted through VC/OAVM Facility, which does 
not require physical presence of members at a common 
venue. The deemed venue for the 35th AGM shall be the 
RegisteredOfficeoftheCompany.

2. Pursuant to MCA Circular No. 02/2021 dated January 
13, 2021 read with 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020 read 
with Circular No. 14/2020 dated April 08, 2020, As the 
AGM shall be conducted through VC/OAVM, the facility 
for appointment of proxy by the members to attend and 
cast vote for the members is not available for this AGM 
and hence the proxy form and attendance slip including 
Route map are not annexed to the Notice. However, in 
pursuance of Section 113 of the Companies Act, 2013, 
the Body Corporate member/ institutional members are 
entitled to appoint authorised representatives to attend 
the AGM through VC/OAVM and participate and cast 
their votes through e-voting. Accordingly, Institutional / 
Corporate Members are requested to send a scanned 
copy (PDF / JPEG format) of the Board Resolution 
authorizing its representatives to attend and vote 
at the AGM, pursuant to Section 113 of the Act, at  
dhawal@mukand.com

3. Those Shareholders whose Email IDs are not registered 
can get their Email ID registered as follows:

•	 Members holding shares in Demat form can
get their email ID registered by contacting their 
respective Depository Participant.

•	 Membersholdingshares in thephysical formcan
get their Email ID registered by contacting our 
Registrar and Share Transfer Agent “Bigshare 
Services Private Limited” on their email id  
investor@bigshareonline.com.

4.  Pursuant to the MCA circulars, since this AGM is being 
held through VC/OAVM, physical attendance of Members 
has been dispensed with and there is no provision for 
the appointment of proxies. Accordingly, the facility for 
appointment of proxies by the Members under Section 
105 of the Act will not be available for the 35th AGM. 

5. The Members can join the AGM in the VC/OAVM 
mode 30 minutes before and after the scheduled time 
of the commencement of the Meeting by following the 
procedure mentioned in the Notice. Instructions and 
other information for Members for attending the AGM 
through VC/OAVM are given in this Notice.

6.  The attendance of the Members attending the AGM 
through VC/OAVM will be counted for the purpose 
of reckoning the quorum under Section 103 of the 
Companies Act, 2013.

7. As the Annual General Meeting of the Company is held 
through Video Conferencing/OAVM, we therefore request 
the members to submit questions in advance relating to 
thebusinessspecifiedinthisNoticeofAGMontheemail
ID dhawal@mukand.com.

8. The Register of Members and Share Transfer Books 
of the Company will remain closed from Tuesday, 
September 21, 2021 to Monday, September 27, 2021 
(both days inclusive) in terms of the provisions of Section 
91 of the Companies Act, 2013.

9.	 Brief profile of Director Shri Niraj Bajaj as per the
requirements of Regulation 26(4) & 36(3) of SEBI (LODR) 
Regulations, 2015 and paragraph 1.2.5 of Secretarial 
Standard-2 on General Meetings, are provided in “Details 
of Directors seeking Appointment / Re-appointment 
at the Annual General Meeting” annexed herewith as 
Annexure 1.

10.  Explanatory Statement pursuant to Section 102 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“Act”) Secretarial Standard-2 on 
General Meeting in respect of items of Special Business, 
and as per Regulation 26(4) and 36(3) of Securities 
and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 (SEBI 
LODR, 2015 or SEBI Listing Regulations, 2015) for 
item no. 3 of the Notice is annexed hereto. The Board 
of Directors has decided that the special businesses set 
out under item no. 3 being considered ‘unavoidable’ be 
transacted at the 35th AGM of the Company

11.  The Securities and Exchange Board of India (SEBI) has 
mandated the submission of Permanent Account Number 
(PAN) by every participant in securities market. Members 
holding shares in electronic form are therefore requested 
to submit the PAN to their Depository Participants with 
whom they are maintaining their Demat accounts. 
Members holding shares in physical form can submit 
their PAN details to the Company or to the Registrar and 
Share Transfer Agent.

12.  Members desiring any information as regards 
to Accounts are requested to send an email to  
dhawal@mukand.com, 10 days in advance before the 
date of the Meeting to enable the Management to keep 
full information ready on the date of AGM.

13.  Members who wish to inspect the Register of Directors 
and Key Managerial Personnel and their shareholding 
maintained under section 170 of Companies Act, 2013 
and Register of Contracts or arrangements in which 
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Directors are interested maintained under section 189 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and relevant documents 
referred to in this Notice of AGM and explanatory 
statement on the date of AGM in electronic mode can 
send an email to dhawal@mukand.com.

14.  The business set out in the Notice will be transacted 
through electronic voting system and the Company 
is providing facility for voting by electronic means. 
Instructions and other information relating to e-voting are 
given in this Notice under Note No. 22.

15.  In case of joint holders attending the Meeting, only such 
joint holder who is higher in the order of names will be 
entitled to vote at the AGM.

16. The Annual Report along with the Notice of AGM 
will be placed on the Company’s website on  
www.mukandengineers.com.

17.  Shareholders of the Company holding shares either in 
Physical form or in dematerialised forms as on Benpos 
date i.e. August 27 2021 will receive Annual Report for 
thefinancialyear2020-21throughelectronicmodeonly.

18.	 SEBIvideitsnotificationdatedJune8,2018asamended
on November 30, 2018, has stipulated that w.e.f.  
April 1, 2019, the transfer of securities (except transmission 
or transposition of shares) shall not be processed, unless 
the securities are held in the dematerialized form. The 
Company has complied with the necessary requirements 
as applicable, including sending of letters to shareholders 
holding shares in physical form and requesting them to 
demat their physical holdings.

19.  Members are requested to notify any changes in their 
address to the Company’s Registrar & Share Transfer 
Agent, M/s. Bigshare Services Pvt. Ltd., 1st Floor, Bharat 
Tin Works Building, Opp.  Vasant Oasis Makwana Road, 
Marol, Andheri East, Mumbai - 400059.

20.  Members are requested to quote their Folio No. or DP ID/ 
Client ID, in case shares are in physical / dematerialized 
form, as the case may be, in all correspondence with the 
Company / Registrar and Share Transfer Agent.

21  To prevent fraudulent transactions, Members are advised 
to exercise due diligence and notify the Company of any 
change in address or demise of any member as soon 
as possible. Members are also advised not to leave their 
demat account(s) dormant for long. Periodic statement 
of holdings should be obtained from the concerned 
DepositoryParticipantandholdingsshouldbeverified.

22.  NFRMAN AND R NSRUNS 
RLANG  -VNG AR AS UNDR:

a.   Pursuant to the provisions of Section 108 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 20 of the 
Companies (Management and Administration) 
Rules, 2014 (as amended) and Regulation 
44 of SEBI (Listing Obligations & Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations 2015 (as amended), 
the Company is providing facility of remote e-voting 
to its Members in respect of the business to be 

transacted at the AGM. The Company has engaged 
the services of Central Depository Services Limited 
(“CDSL”) as the Agency to provide e-voting facility. 
The facility of casting votes by a member using 
remote e-voting system as well as e-voting system 
on the date of AGM will be provided by CDSL.

b.   The Board of Directors of the Company has 
appointed M/s. Ragini Chokshi & Co. Practicing 
Company Secretary, (CP No. 1436) to act as a 
Scrutinizer, to scrutinize the e-voting and remote 
e-voting process in a fair and transparent manner 
and she has communicated her willingness to be 
appointed and will be available for same purpose.

c.   The Members, whose names appear in the 
RegisterofMembers/listofBeneficialOwnersas
on Monday, September 20, 2021 (“Cut-off date”), 
are entitled to avail the facility of remote e-voting as 
well as e-voting system as on the date of the AGM. 
Any recipient of the Notice, who has no voting rights 
as on the Cut-off date, shall treat this Notice as 
intimation only.

d.  A person who has acquired the shares and has 
become a member of the Company after the 
dispatch of the Notice of the AGM and prior to 
the Cut-off date i.e. Monday, September 20, 2021 
shall be entitled to exercise his/her vote either 
electronically i.e. remote e-voting or e-voting 
system on the date of the AGM by following the 
procedure mentioned below. The remote e-voting 
period will commence at 9.00 a.m. (I.S.T.) on Friday,  
September 24, 2021 and will end at 5.00 p.m. 
(I.S.T.) on Sunday, September 26, 2021. In addition, 
the Members attending the AGM who have not cast 
their vote by remote e-voting shall be eligible for 
e-voting at the AGM. The Members desiring to vote 
through remote e-voting are requested to refer to 
the detailed procedure given hereinafter.

e.  The Results declared along with the report of the 
Scrutinizer shall be placed on the website of the 
Company www.mukandengineers.com and on 
the website of CDSL after the declaration of result 
by the Chairman or a person authorized by him in 
writing. The results shall also be forwarded to the 
BSE Limited and National Stock Exchange Limited, 
where the shares of the Company listed.

f.  Subject to receipt of requisite number of votes, the 
Resolutions shall be deemed to be passed on the 
date of the Meeting, i.e. September 27, 2021.

g.   Once the vote on a resolution is cast by a Member, 
the Member shall not be allowed to change it 
subsequently or cast the vote again.

h. Pursuant to SEBI Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/
CIR/P/2020/242 dated 09.12.2020, under Regulation 
44 of Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015, listed entities are required to 
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provide remote e-voting facility to its shareholders, in 
respect of all shareholders’ resolutions. However, it 
has been observed that the participation by the public 
non-institutional shareholders/retail shareholders is 
at a negligible level. 

 Currently, there are multiple e-voting service 
providers (ESPs) providing e-voting facility to listed 
entities in India. This necessitates registration on 
various ESPs and maintenance of multiple user IDs 
and passwords by the shareholders. 

	 In order to increase the efficiency of the voting
process, pursuant to a public consultation, it 
has been decided to enable e-voting to all the 
demat account holders by way of a single login 
credential, through their demat accounts/ websites 
of Depositories/Depository Participants. Demat 
account holders would be able to cast their vote 
without having to register again with the ESPs, 
thereby, not only facilitating seamless authentication 
but also enhancing ease and convenience of 
participating in e-voting process. 

i. In terms of SEBI circular no. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD/
CIR/P/2020/242 dated December 9, 2020 on 
e-Voting facility provided by Listed Companies, 
Individual shareholders holding securities in 
demat mode are allowed to vote through their 
demat account maintained with Depositories and 
Depository Participants. Shareholders are advised 
to update their mobile number and email Id in their 
demat accounts in order to access e-Voting facility.

 Pursuant to above said SEBI Circular, Login 
method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings for 
Individual shareholders holding securities in Demat 
mode CDSL/NSDL is given below:
ype of 
shareholders

 Login Method

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding securities 
in Demat mode 
with CDSL

1) Users who have opted for 
CDSL Easi / Easiest facility, 
can login through their existing 
user id and password. Option 
will be made available to 
reach e-Voting page without 
any further authentication. 
The URL for users to login to 
Easi / Easiest are https://web.
cdslindia.com/myeasi/home/
login or visit www.cdslindia.com 
and click on Login icon and 
select New System Myeasi.

2) After successful login the Easi 
/ Easiest user will be able to 
see the e-Voting option for 
eligible companies where 
the e-voting is in progress as 
per the information provided 
by company. On clicking the 
e-voting option, the user will 
be able to see e-Voting page 
of the e-Voting service provider 
for casting your vote during 
the remote e-Voting period 
or joining virtual meeting & 
voting during the meeting. 
Additionally, there is also 
links provided to access the 
system of all e-Voting Service 
Providers i.e. CDSL/NSDL/
KARVY/LINKINTIME, so that 
the user can visit the e-Voting 
service providers’ website 
directly.

3) If the user is not registered 
for Easi/Easiest, option to 
register is available at https://
web.cdslindia.com/myeasi/
Registration/EasiRegistration

4) Alternatively, the user can 
directly access e-Voting page 
by providing Demat Account 
Number and PAN No. from 
a e-Voting link available on 
www.cdslindia.com home 
page or click on https://
evoting.cdslindia.com/Evoting/
EvotingLogin The system 
will authenticate the user by 
sending OTP on registered 
Mobile & Email as recorded 
in the Demat Account. After 
successful authentication, user 
will be able to see the e-Voting 
option where the e-voting is 
in progress and also able to 
directly access the system of all 
e-Voting Service Providers.

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding securities 
in demat mode 
with NSDL

1) If you are already registered 
for NSDL IDeAS facility, please 
visit the e-Services website of 
NSDL. Open web browser by 
typing the following URL: https://
eservices.nsdl.com either on 
a Personal Computer or on a 
mobile. Once the home page 
of e-Services is launched, 
click on the “Beneficial Owner”
icon under “Login” which is 
available under ‘IDeAS’ section. 
A new screen will open. You 
will have to enter your User ID 
and Password. After successful 
authentication, you will be able 
to see e-Voting services. Click 
on “Access to e-Voting” under 
e-Voting services and you will be 
able to see e-Voting page. Click 
on company name or e-Voting 
service provider name and you 
will be re-directed to e-Voting 
service provider website for 
casting your vote during the 
remote e-Voting period or joining 
virtual meeting & voting during 
the meeting.
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2) If the user is not registered 
for IDeAS e-Services, option 
to register is available at 
https:/ /eservices.nsdl.com. 
Select “Register Online for 
IDeAS “Portal or click at 
https:/ /eservices.nsdl.com/
SecureWeb/IdeasDirectReg.jsp

3) Visit the e-Voting website of 
NSDL. Open web browser by 
typing the following URL: https://
www.evoting.nsdl.com/ either 
on a Personal Computer or on 
a mobile. Once the home page 
of e-Voting system is launched, 
click on the icon “Login” which 
is available under Shareholder/
Member’ section. A new screen 
will open. You will have to enter 
your User ID (i.e. your sixteen 
digit demat account number 
hold with NSDL), Password/
OTP and a Verification Code
as shown on the screen. After 
successful authentication, you 
will be redirected to NSDL 
Depository site wherein you 
can see e-Voting page. Click 
on company name or e-Voting 
service provider name and you 
will be redirected to e-Voting 
service provider website for 
casting your vote during the 
remote e-Voting period or joining 
virtual meeting & voting during 
the meeting

Individual 
Shareholders 
(holding securities 
in demat mode) 
login through 
their Depository 
Participants

You can also login using the login 
credentials of your demat account 
through your Depository Participant 
registered with NSDL/CDSL for 
e-Voting facility. After Successful 
login, you will be able to see e-Voting 
option. Once you click on e-Voting 
option, you will be redirected to 
NSDL/CDSL Depository site after 
successful authentication, wherein 
you can see e-Voting feature. Click 
on company name or e-Voting 
service provider name and you will 
be redirected to e-Voting service 
provider website for casting your 
vote during the remote e-Voting 
period or joining virtual meeting & 
voting during the meeting.

 Important note: Members who are unable to retrieve 
User ID/ Password are advised to use Forget User  
ID and Forget Password option available at 
abovementioned website. Helpdesk for Individual 
Shareholders holding securities in demat mode 
for any technical issues related to login through 
Depository i.e. CDSL and NSDL

Login type elpdesk details
Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
Demat mode 
with CDSL

Members facing any technical 
issue in login can contact CDSL 
helpdesk by sending a request at 
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com 
or contact at 022- 23058738 and 
22-23058542-43.

Individual 
Shareholders 
holding 
securities in 
Demat mode 
with NSDL

Members facing any technical 
issue in login can contact NSDL 
helpdesk by sending a request 
at evoting@nsdl.co.in or call at 
toll free no.: 1800 1020 990 and 
1800 22 44 30 

 nstructions for Members for Remote -Voting are as 
under:-

 Login method for e-Voting and joining virtual meetings 
for Physical shareholders and Shareholders other than 
individual holding in Demat form.

(i) The voting period begins on Friday, 24th September, 
2021 at 9.00 a.m. (I.S.T) and ends on Sunday,  
26th September, 2021 at 5.00 p.m. (I.S.T). The 
remote e-voting module shall be disabled by CDSL 
for voting thereafter.

(ii) The shareholders should logon to the e-voting 
website www.evotingindia.com.

(iii) Click on Shareholders/Member module.

(iv) Now Enter your User ID

	 a.	 ForCDSL:16digitsbeneficiaryID,
b.   For NSDL: 8 Character DP ID followed by 8 

Digits Client ID,
c.   Members holding shares in Physical Form 

should enter Folio Number registered with the 
Company.

 OR
 Alternatively, if you are registered for CDSL’s EASI/

EASIEST e-services, you can log-in at https://www.
cdslindia.com from Login - Myeasi using your login 
credentials. Once you successfully log-in to CDSL’s 
EASI/EASIEST e-services, click on e-Voting option 
and proceed directly to cast your vote electronically.

(v)	 NextentertheImageVerificationasdisplayedand
Click on Login.

(vi) If you are holding shares in Demat form and had 
logged on to www.evotingindia.com and voted 
on an earlier voting of any Company, then your 
existing password is to be used.

(vii)	 If youarea first timeuser follow the stepsgiven
below:
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For Members holding shares in 
Demat Form and Physical Form

PAN Enter your 10 digit alpha-numeric 
*PAN issued by Income Tax 
Department (Applicable for both 
demat shareholders as well as 
physical shareholders)
• Members who have not updated

their PAN with the Company/
Depository Participant are 
requested to use the sequence 
number which is sent by Company/
RTA indicated in the PAN field or
contact Company/RTA.

Dividend 
Bank 
Details
OR 
Date 
of Birth 
(DOB)

Enter the Dividend Bank Details or 
Date of Birth (in dd/mm/yyyy format) 
as recorded in your demat account 
or in the Company records in order 
to login
• Ifboththedetailsarenotrecorded

with the depository or Company 
please enter the member id / folio 
number in the Dividend Bank details 
fieldasmentionedininstruction

(viii)  After entering these details appropriately, click on 
“SUBMIT” tab.

(ix)  Members holding shares in physical form will then 
directly reach the Company selection screen. 
However, members holding shares in Demat 
form will now reach ‘Password Creation’ menu 
wherein they are required to mandatorily enter their 
login password in the new password field. Kindly
note that this password is to be also used by the 
Demat holders for  voting for  resolutions of any 
other Company on which they are eligible to vote, 
provided  that Company opts for e-voting through 
CDSL platform. It is strongly recommended not to 
share your password with any other person and take 
utmostcaretokeepyourpasswordconfidential.

(x) For Members holding shares in Physical form, 
the details can be used only for e-voting on the 
resolutions contained in this Notice.

(xi)  Click on the EVSN 210816018 for the relevant 
Mukand Engineers Ltd <CompanyName> on which 
you choose to vote.

(xii) On the voting page, you will see “RESOLUTION 
DESCRIPTION” and against the same the   option 
“YES/NO” for voting. Select the option YES or NO 
as desired. The option YES implies that you assent 
to the Resolution and option NO implies that you 
dissent to the Resolution.

(xiii) Click on the “RESOLUTIONS FILE LINK” if you 
wish to view the entire Resolution details.

(xiv) After selecting the resolution you have decided 
tovoteon,clickon“SUBMIT”.Aconfirmationbox
willbedisplayed.Ifyouwishtoconfirmyourvote,
click on “OK”, else to change your vote, click on 
“CANCEL” and accordingly modify your vote.

(xv)  Once you “CONFIRM” your vote on the resolution, 
you will not be allowed to modify your vote.

(xvi) You can also take a print of the votes cast by 
clicking on “Click here to print” option on the Voting 
page.

(xvii) If a Demat account holder has forgotten the login 
password then enter the User ID and the image 
verification codeandclickonForgotPassword&
enter the details as prompted by the system.

(xviii) Shareholders can also cast their vote using CDSL’s 
mobile app m-Voting available for android based 
mobiles. The m-Voting app can be downloaded 
from Google Play Store. Apple and Windows phone 
users can download the app from the App Store 
and the Windows Phone Store respectively. Please 
follow the instructions as prompted   by the mobile 
app while voting on your mobile.

(xix) Note for Non - ndividual Shareholders and 
ustodians

•	 Non-Individual shareholders (i.e.Other than
Individuals, HUF, NRI etc.) and Custodian are 
required to log on to www.evotingindia.com 
and register themselves as Corporate.

•	 A scanned copy of the Registration Form
bearing the stamp and sign of the entity 
should be emailed to helpdesk.evoting@
cdslindia.com.

•	 AfterreceivingthelogindetailsaCompliance
User should be created using the admin login 
and password. The Compliance User would 
be able to link the account(s) for which they 
wish to vote on.

•	 Thelistofaccountslinkedintheloginshouldbe
mailed to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com 
and on approval of the accounts they would 
be able to cast their vote.

•	 AscannedcopyoftheBoardResolutionand
Power of Attorney (POA) which they have 
issued in favour of the Custodian, if any, 
should be uploaded in PDF format in the 
system for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

•	 Alternatively Non-Individual shareholders
are required to send the relevant Board 
Resolution/Authority letter etc. together with 
attested specimen signature of the duly 
authorized signatory who are authorized to 
vote, to the Scrutinizer and to the Company 
at the email address viz; mel@mukand.com, 
if they have voted from individual tab & not 
uploaded same in the CDSL e-voting system 
for the scrutinizer to verify the same.

 In case you have any queries or issues regarding 
e-voting, you may refer the Frequently Asked 
Questions (“FAQs”) and e-voting manual available at  
www.evotingindia.com, under help section or write an 
email to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or contact 
at 022- 23058738 and 022-23058542/43.
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 All grievances connected with the facility for voting 
by electronic means may be addressed to Mr. Rakesh 
Dalvi, Manager, (CDSL,) Central Depository Services 
(India) Limited, A Wing, 25th Floor, Marathon Futurex, 
Mafatlal Mill Compounds, N M Joshi Marg, Lower 
Parel (East), Mumbai-400013 or send an email to  
helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call 1800225533.

 nstructions for Members for -Voting on the day of 
the AGM are as under:
(i) The procedure for E-Voting is same as the 

instructions mentioned above for Remote E-Voting.
(ii) The link for VC/OAVM to attend meeting will 

be available where the EVSN of Company will 
be displayed after successful login as per the 
instructions mentioned above for e-voting.

(iii)   Only those Members/shareholders, who will be 
present in the AGM through VC/OAVM facility 
and have not casted their vote on the Resolutions 
through Remote E-Voting and are otherwise not 
barred from doing so, shall be eligible to vote 
through E-Voting system in the AGM.

(iv)   Members who have voted through Remote E-Voting 
will be eligible to attend the AGM and participate 
there at. However, they will not be eligible to vote 
at the AGM. In case any Member, who had voted 
through Remote E-Voting, casts his vote again at 
the E-Voting provided during the AGM, then the 
Votes cast during the AGM through E-voting shall 
be considered as Invalid.

(v)   Members are requested to follow the instructions, 
if any, provided during the currency of the AGM for 
E-Voting.

(vi)  The details of the person who may be contacted 
for any grievances connected with the facility for 
e-voting during the AGM shall be the same person 
mentioned for Remote e-voting.

 Process for those shareholders whose email addresses 
are not registered with the depositories for obtaining login 
credentials for e-voting for the resolutions proposed in 
this notice:

(i) For Physical shareholders:- Please provide 
necessary details like Folio No., Name of 
shareholder,Scannedcopyofthesharecertificate
(front and back), PAN (self-attested scanned copy 
of PAN card), AADHAR (self-attested scanned 
copy of Aadhar Card) by email to our RTA 
Bigshare Services Private Limited on their email ID 
investor@bigshareonline.com.

(ii)  For Demat shareholders:- Please provide Demat 
account details (CDSL-16 digit  beneficiary ID or
NSDL-16 digit DPID + CLID), Name, Client master 
or  Copy  of Consolidated Account statement, PAN 
(self-attested scanned copy of PAN card), AADHAR 
(self-attested scanned copy of Aadhar Card) by 
email to our RTA Bigshare Services Private Limited 
on their email ID investor@bigshareonline.com.

(iii) The RTA shall co-ordinate with CDSL and provides 
the login credentials to the above mentioned 
shareholders.

23.  NSRUNS FR MMBRS FR ANDNG 
 AGM RUG V/AVM AR AS UNDR:

a)  Members whose email IDs are already registered 
with the Depository Participant/ Registrar and Share 
Transfer Agent of the Company and who are desirous 
to attend the AGM through VC/OAVM can apply at 
dhawal@mukand.com requesting for participation 
in the AGM, by giving their name as registered in 
the records of the Company, DPID/Client ID or Folio 
Number and the Registered email ID.

b)  Members who are desirous of attending the AGM 
through VC/OAVM and whose email IDs are not 
registered with the RTA of the Company/DP, may 
get their email IDs registered as per the instructions 
provided in point No. 3 of this Notice.

c)  Shareholder will be provided with a facility to attend 
the AGM through VC/OAVM through the CDSL 
e-Voting system.

d)  Shareholders may access the same at  
https://www.evotingindia.com under shareholders/
members login by using the remote e-voting 
credentials. The link for VC/OAVM will be available 
in shareholder/members login where the EVSN of 
Company will be displayed. Click on live streaming 
appearing beside the EVSN.

e)  For convenience of the members and proper 
conduct of the AGM, Members can login and 
join the AGM in the VC/OAVM mode at least 30 
(Thirty) minutes before the time scheduled of 
the commencement of the Meeting by following 
the procedure mentioned hereto. The facility of 
participation at the AGM through VC/OAVM will be 
madeavailable toat least1000membersonfirst
comefirstservedbasis.Thiswillnotincludelarge
Shareholders (Shareholders holding 2% or more 
shareholding), Promoters, Institutional Investors, 
Directors, Key Managerial Personnel, the 
Chairpersons of the Audit Committee, Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee and Stakeholders 
Relationship Committee, Auditors etc. who are 
allowed to attend the AGM without restriction on 
accountoffirstcomefirstservedbasis.

f)  Shareholders are encouraged to join the Meeting 
through Laptops / IPads for better experience.

g)  System requirements for best VC experience 
 Internet connection - broadband, wired or wireless 

(3G or 4G/LTE), with a speed of 5 Mbps or more 
Microphone and speakers - built-in or USB plug-in 
or wireless Bluetooth

 Browser: Google Chrome: Version 72 or latest 
Mozilla Firefox: Version 72 or latest Microsoft Edge 
Chromium: Version 72 or latest Safari: Version 11 
or latest Internet Explorer: Not Supported
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h)  Please note that Participants Connecting from 
Mobile Devices or Tablets or through Laptop 
connecting via Mobile Hotspot may experience 
Audio/Video loss due to Fluctuation in their 
respective network. It is therefore recommended to 
use Stable Wi-Fi or LAN Connection to mitigate any 
kind of aforesaid glitches.

i) Members who would like to express their views 
or ask questions during the AGM may register 
themselves as a speaker by sending their request 
from their registered email address mentioning 
their Name, DP ID and Client ID/Folio number, 
PAN, mobile number to dhawal@mukand.com 
from 20th September, 2021 (9:00 a.m. IST) to  
25th September, 2021 (5:00 p.m. IST).

j) Those Members who have registered themselves 
as a speaker will only be allowed to express their 
views/ask questions during the AGM. The Company 
reserves the right to restrict the number of speakers 
depending on the availability of time for the AGM.

k) Members who need assistance before or during 
the AGM, can contact CDSL by sending an email 
to helpdesk.evoting@cdslindia.com or call 
1800225533.

l) Institutional Shareholders are encouraged to 
participate at the AGM through VC/OAVM and vote 
thereat.

24.  Regulation 36 (1)(b) and (c) of the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and 
Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 prescribes 
that a listed entity shall send a hard copy of the statement 
containing salient features of all the documents, as 
prescribed in Section 136 of the Companies Act, 2013 
to the shareholders who have not registered their email 
addresses and hard copies of full annual reports to those 
shareholders, who request for the same, respectively. 
However, in line with the MCA Circular No. 02/2021 
dated January 13, 2021 read with General circulars 
No. 20/2020 dated May 05, 2020 issued by MCA and 
Circular No. SEBI/HO/CFD/CMD2/CIR/P/2021/11 dated 
15th January, 2021 read with Circular No. SEBI/HO/
CFD/CMD1/CIR/P/2020/79 dated May 12, 2020 issued 
bySEBI,owing to thedifficulties involved indispatching
of physical copies of the Annual Report for the Financial 
Year 2020-21 and the Notice of AGM are being sent in 
electronic mode to Members whose names appear on 
the Register of Members/ List of Beneficial owners as
received from M/s. Bigshare Services Private Limited 
(“RTA”) and whose email address is available with the 
RTA, the Company or the Depository Participant(s) as on 
Friday, August 27, 2021. Members may note that, Notice 
and Annual Report 2020-21 can also be accessed from 
the website of the Company at www.mukandengineers.
com. The Notice can also be accessed from the websites 
of the Stock Exchanges i.e. BSE Limited and NSE Limited  
at www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com  
respectively and the AGM Notice is also available on 
the website of CDSL (agency for  providing the  Remote 
e-voting  facility) i.e. www.evotingindia.com.

25. Investor Grievance Redressal: -The Company has 
designated an e-mail id mel@mukand.com to enable 
investors to register their complaints, if any.

26. (a)  Members who have neither received nor uncashed  
	 their dividend warrant(s) for financial year 2013- 
 14 are requested to write to the Registrars and  
 Share Transfer Agent of the Company mentioning  
 the relevant Folio Number(s)/ DP ID and Client ID,  
 for issuance of duplicate/revalidated dividend  
 warrant(s). It may be noted that the unclaimed  
	 dividendforfinancialyear2013-14canbeclaimed 
 by shareholders by 10th September 2021.

(b) Pursuant to the Provisions of Investor Education and 
Protection Fund (IEPF) Authority (Accounting, Audit, 
Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016, as amended 
from time to time, the Company has uploaded 
details of unpaid and unclaimed amounts lying with 
the Company as on 29th September 2020 (the date 
of the last Annual General Meeting) on the website 
of the Company www.mukandengineers.com and 
also on the website of the Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs.

(c) The members/claimants whose shares, unclaimed 
dividend, etc. have been transferred to the IEPF 
may claim the shares or apply for refund by making 
an application to IEPF Authority in Form IEPF-
5 (available on www.iepf.gov.in). The member/
claimantcanfileonlyoneconsolidatedclaim ina
financialyearasperIEPFRules.

(d) In terms of section 124(5) of the Companies 
Act, 2013, dividend amount for the year ended  
31st March 2014, remaining unclaimed for a period 
of seven years shall become due for transfer in 
September, 2021 to the IEPF established by the 
Central Government.

 Further, in terms of section 124(6) of the Act, In 
case of such shareholders whose dividends are 
unpaid for a continuous period of seven years, the 
corresponding shares shall be transferred to the 
IEPF demat account. Therefore, the members who 
havenotclaimeddividends in respectoffinancial
years from 2013-14 onwards are requested to 
approach the Company/RTA for claiming the same 
as early as possible on receipt of this Notice.



 rder of the Board of Directors
      For Mukand ngineers Limited

Dhawal J. Vora
ompany Secretary

      AS-18646
Mumbai, May 25, 2021.
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tem No. 3 of the Notice 
Pursuant to Section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), read with Rule 15 of the Companies (Meetings of Board and its 
Powers) Rules, 2014 the Company is required to obtain consent of the Board and prior approval of the Members by way of an Ordinary 
ResolutionincasecertainRelatedPartyTransactionsexceedsuchsumasisspecifiedintherules.Theaforesaidprovisionsarenot
applicable in respect transactions entered into by the Company in the ordinary course of business and on an arm’s length basis.
However, pursuant to regulation 23 of LODR Regulations, 2015, approval of the shareholders through Ordinary Resolution is required 
for all ‘material’ Related Party Transactions (RPT) even if they are entered into in the ordinary course of business on arm’s length 
basis. For this purpose, a RPT will be considered ‘material’ if the transaction / transactions to be entered into individually or taken 
togetherwithprevioustransactionsduringafinancialyearexceed10%oftheannualturnoveroftheCompanyasperthelastAudited
Financial Statements of the Company. 
The following transactions to be entered into by the Company, together with transactions already entered into by the Company with 
Mukand Limited (“ML”) & Mukand Global Finance Limited (wholly owned subsidiary of Mukand Limited) and Mukand Sumi Metal 
Processing Limited (subsidiary of Mukand Limited) and Indian Thermal Power Limited (Group Company) and therefore a related party, 
duringthecurrentfinancialyear,eventhoughareintheordinarycourseofbusinessandonanarm’slengthbasis,have/areestimated
to exceed 10% of the annual turnover of the Company as per the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the year ended 
31st March, 2020 and 31st March, 2021

RelatedPartiesTransactionswherecontrol/significantinfluenceexists:-FinancialYear2020-2021
Sr.
No.

Name of Related Party Nature of Work otal 
` n Lacs

Basis for Pricing

1 Mukand Limited ICD taken along with interest thereon 2,208.63 Interest as per prevailing market rate.
2 India Thermal Power Limited Interest on ICD given 7.65 Interest as per prevailing market rate.

otal 2,216.28
RelatedPartiesTransactionswherecontrol/significantinfluenceexists:-FinancialYear2021-2022

A perations - ncome
1 Mukand Limited Contract Execution - Design, Erection, 

Commissioning, Transportation, ERP 
Services, trading activities etc

1,956.00 As per contract.

2 India Thermal Power Limited Interest on ICD 2.00 -

otal 1,958.00
B. perations - xpenses
1 Mukand Limited Purchase of Cranes & Maintenance, 

Rent &Electricity for office space,CG
commission etc

424.00 As per Contract 

2 Mukand Global Finance Limited  
(wholly owned subsidiary of 
Mukand Limited)

Management Fees - Fixed Deposit 
System Management

4.00 As per Contract

3 Mukand Sumi Metal Processing 
Limited (Subsidiary of Mukand 
Limited)

SAP Upgradation Services 2.00 As per Contract

otal 430.00
. Loan-Mukand Limited Likely requirement of ICD and interest 

thereon
6,200.00 Interest as per prevailing market rate

 D. thers- orporate Guarantee
Corporate Guarantee given by Mukand Limited on behalf of the Company for 
Credit facilities

11,500.00 Corporate Guarantee given by Mukand 
Limited to Central Bank of India. 

ANNXUR   N
SAMN PURSUAN  SN 102(1) F  MPANS A, 2013 (“the Act”)

he following xplanatory Statement sets out all material facts relating to the Special Business mentioned in the 
accompanying Notice:
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 he other particulars of above transactions are as under:-

Sr. 
No.

Details Particulars

a. Name of the Related Party: Mukand Limited, Mukand Global Finance Limited (wholly 
owned subsidiary of Mukand Limited), Mukand Sumi Metal 
Processing Limited (subsidiary of Mukand Limited) and India 
Thermal Power Limited (Group Company).

b. Name of the Director or Key Managerial Personnel who is 
related, if any:

Shri Rajesh V. Shah - Chairman, Shri Niraj Bajaj - Director, 
Shri Prakash V. Mehta - Director & Shri R. Sankaran - Director.

c. Nature of Relationship: Group Company.
d. Nature, Material Terms, Monetary Value and Particulars of the 

contract or arrangement:
As per details above.

e. Any other information relevant or important for the members to 
take a decision on the proposed resolution

The transactions are in the ordinary course of business and on 
an arm’s length basis.

Further, the Members of the Company had approved at the 34th Annual General Meeting held on September 29, 2020 through an 
Ordinary Resolution that all the ‘Material Related Party Transactions (RPT) even though these were entered into in the ordinary 
course of business and on arm’s length basis with Mukand Limited (“ML”) and India Thermal Power Limited (Group Companies) 
for the Financial Year 2020-21 to the extent of ` 5,701.28 lacs for ICD along with interest thereon, due to delay in release of 
dues from major clients, the Company had to avail additional loan from Mukand Limited (“ML”) a group Company to the extent of  
` 2,216.28 lacs for which approval is being sought from the shareholders.

The above transactions are approved by the Audit Committee as per the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 and LODR Regulations, 2015.

In view of the above, it is proposed to seek approval of the Members of the Company through an Ordinary Resolution for the above 
transactionsandinpursuanceofregulation23(7)oftheListingRegulations,2015,allentitiesfailingunderthedefinitionof“Related
Party” shall not vote irrespective of whether the entity is a party to the particular transaction or not.

None of the Directors, Key Managerial Personnel or their relatives is interested or concerned in the said Resolution except for their 
holdings in the shares of the Company, if any, and to the extent of their Memberships and/or Directorships in the subsidiaries and 
associate companies, if any.

Accordingly, your Directors recommend the resolution mentioned in Item no. 3 of the Notice for the approval of the Members.

 rder of the Board of Directors
      For Mukand ngineers Limited

Dhawal J. Vora
ompany Secretary

      AS-18646
Mumbai, May 25, 2021.

RegisteredOffice:
Bajaj Bhawan, 

Jamnalal Bajaj Marg
226, Nariman Point, 

Mumbai- 400021
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ANNXUR- 

nformation pursuant to Regulation 36 of the SB (Listing bligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 read 
with the provisions of the Secretarial Standard on General Meetings issued by the nstitute of ompany Secretaries of ndia 
regarding the Directors proposed to be appointed/re-appointed at the Annual General Meeting

Name of the Director Shri Niraj Bajaj
DN No 00028261
Date of Birth & Age 10th October 1954 (66 years) 
Qualification Shri Niraj Bajaj is a Commerce Graduate from Sydenham College of Commerce 

and Economics, Mumbai. He acquired his Masters in Business Administration 
from Harvard Business School, Boston, U.S.A

Date of appointment 27th July 1992
Experience&ExpertiseinSpecificFunctional
areas

Shri Niraj Bajaj was selected by World Economic Forum, as one of the ‘Global 
Leaders for Tomorrow’, in 1993. He was the President of the Indian Merchants’ 
Chamber for the centenary year 2007-08. He was President of the Alloy Steel 
Producer’s Association and Indian Stainless Steel Development Association. 
He represented India in table tennis for 7 years between 1970-1977 and was three 
times All-India Table Tennis Champion and ranked India No.1, four times. 
He is the Recipient of Arjuna Award, India’s highest Sport’s honour, Shiv 
Chhatrapati Award, Maharashtra’s highest sport’s honour and awarded the 
Maharashtra Gaurav Puraskar Award. 
He provides valuable inputs, advice, guidance on matters relating to strategic 
planning and performance, finance, expansion, diversification, new business
decisions in his position as Director of the Company subject to the superintendence, 
control and directions of the Board of Directors of the Company.

^^List of Directorship / Membership / 
hairmanship of ommittees of other Boards

Directorship: 
Public ompanies 
Bajaj Auto Limited - Chairman 
Bajaj Allianz Life Insurance Company Limited 
Bajaj Allianz General Insurance Company Limited 
Mukand Limited
Jeewan Limited *
Bajaj Holdings & Investment Limited  Vice Chairman

Private ompanies 
Bajaj Sevashram Private Limited 
Sanraj Nayan Investments Private Limited 
Kamalnayan Investment and Trading Private Limited
Niraj Holdings Private Limited 
Jamnalal Sons Private Limited 
Baroda Industries Private Limited 
Bachhraj and Company Private Limited

#hairman / Member of the ommittee of the 
Board of other ompanies in which he is a 
Director

Chairman of Audit Committee of Jeewan Limited 

Shareholding of Director as on March 31, 
2021.

4,13,750

Number of Meetings of the Board attended 
duringthefinancialyear2020-2021

4 out of 4

Relationship with other Directors, Manager 
and other Key Managerial Personnel of the 
ompany.

Nil

erms and onditions of re-appointment N.A
Details of remuneration sought to be paid N.A

*Unlisted  Public Company

^^ List of Directorship of public and private Companies are considered.

# Chairmanship and Membership of Audit Committee and Stakeholder’s Relationship Committee are considered.
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Diecto’ Reot
  MMBRS,

1. Your Directors are pleased to present the 35th Annual 
Report and the Audited Statement of Accounts of the 
Company for the year ended March 31, 2021.

2. Financial Results

(` in rores)
Description urrent 

Year
Previous 

Year
Revenue from operations and 
other Income

25.29 44.84

Profit/(Loss)fortheyearBefore
Tax

(31.32) (30.19)

Add / (Less) : Provision for Tax 
(including deferred tax)

(0.38) (0.01)

Profit/(Loss)AfterTax (30.94) (30.18)
Other Comprehensive Income (0.58) (1.41)
Total Comprehensive Income (31.52) (31.59)
Earnings Per Share in ` (24.62) (24.01)

3. Dividend

 The Directors do not recommend any dividend on equity 
sharesonaccount of loss incurredduring the financial
year ended March 31, 2021.

4.  ransfers to Reserves

 In view of losses for the year under review, no amount 
has been transferred to the Reserves.

5.  perations

5.1.  General - 

 The income from operations and other income 
during the year was ` 25.29 Cr as compared to  
` 44.84 Cr in the previous year.

5.2  Engineering -

5.2.1 The Revenue from engineering operation during 
the year was ` 16 Cr as against ` 35 Cr in previous 
year. During the year, executions of many projects 
were severally affected due to national lockdown 
declared by Central Government because of 
Covid-19 Pandemic.

        The Company has lodged claims for establishment 
cost and time overruns which are under active 
consideration. As per the policy of the Company 
these will be considered only on acceptance by 
client.   

5.3  Infotech - 

 Revenue from Infotech Segment during the year 
was ` 6.72 Cr.  

6.    Note on ovid-19 Pandamic
 During the second wave of Covid-19 no national lockdown 

was declared by the central government. Instead, the 
strategy of micro-containment zones was adopted 
and various state/local governments have announced 
lockdowns / restrictions of varying degrees. Accordingly, 
some sites of the Company were closed or working on 
revised timings in accordance with local guidelines.

 In locations where sites were open, the necessary 
hygiene protocols, safety precautions and social 
distancing requirements were being followed at shop 
floor level, where mandated, staff were in office on a
rotational basis and in accordance with local guidelines.

 Based on the internal and external information the 
Company has considered the possible impact of 
Covid-19 pandemic on its operation, liquidity position, 
recoverability of assets balance at 31st March, 2021. 
The management will continue to monitor any material 
changesarisingoutofthispandemiconitsfinancialsand
operational performance and take necessary measures 
accordingly.

7.  uman Resource Development 
 Attracting, enabling and retaining talent have been 

the cornerstone of the Human Resource function and 
the results underscore the important role that human 
capital plays in critical strategic activities such as 
growth. A robust Talent Acquisition System enables the 
Company to balance unpredictable business demands 
with a predictable resource supply through organic and 
inorganic growth.

8. Fixed Deposits 
 The Company is authorized to accept Fixed Deposits 

up to 35 % of aggregate of the paid-up share capital, 
free reserves and securities premium account in terms 
of Companies (Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014 
only from its Members. The Company has not accepted 
any fresh Deposits during the year under review, Fixed 
deposits repaid during the year amounted to ` 4.43 Crs 
and matured & unclaimed deposits as at the end of the 
year were ` 0.11 Crs. The Company held ` 0.59 Crs as 
Fixed Deposits as of March 31, 2021. There has been no 
default in repayment of deposits or payment of interest 
thereon during the year. There are no Fixed deposits 
which are not in compliance with the requirements of 
Chapter V of the Companies Act, 2013.

9.    Statutory Auditor
 M/s. Bhushan Khot & Co., Chartered Accountants (Firm 

Registration No. 116888W) are the Statutory Auditors 
of the Company for the year ended March 31, 2021.  
In terms of provisions of Section 139 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and the rules made thereunder, M/s. Bhushan 
Khot & Co., Chartered Accountants (Firm Registration 
No. 116888W) were appointed as Statutory Auditors of 
your Company at the 34th Annual General Meeting held 
onSeptember29, 2020, for a termof five consecutive
years from the conclusion of 34th Annual General Meeting 
of Company till the conclusion of its 39th Annual General 
Meeting to be held in the year 2025. The Company has 
received a certificate from the auditors confirming that
theyarenotdisqualified fromcontinuingasAuditorsof
the Company. 
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10. orporate Governance Report
 Pursuant to Regulation 34 of SEBI (Listing Obligations 

and Disclosures Requirement) Regulations, 2015 
(“LODR Regulations, 2015”) a report on Corporate 
Governance Annexure-, along with Practising 
Company Secretaries Certificate regarding compliance
of conditions of Corporate Governance and Management 
Discussion and Analysis is separately given in this Report 
as Annexure-. 

	 A Certificate of the Chief Executive Officer as per
Companies Act, 2013 and Chief Financial Officer of
the Company in terms of Listing Regulations, inter alia, 
confirming the correctness of the financial statements
and cash flow statements, adequacy of the internal
control measures and reporting of matters to the Audit 
Committee, is also annexed.

11.   Annual Return  
 A copy of the annual return as provided under section 

92(3) read with Rule 12 of the Companies (Management 
and Administration) Rules, 2014, which will be filed
with the Register of Companies / MCA, is hosted 
on the Company website and can be accessed at  
www.mukandengineers.com. 

12.   Meetings of the Board and its ommittees
 During the year under review, 4 (Four) Board Meetings 

of the Board of Directors of the Company were convened 
and held. The intervening gap between the meetings was 
within the period prescribed under the Companies Act, 
2013 and as per the relaxation granted by the MCA due to 
Covid -19 pandemic and Listing Regulations, 2015. The 
details of the Committees along with their composition, 
number of meetings and attendance at the meetings are 
provided in the Corporate Governance Report.

13.   Details in respect of frauds reported by auditors 
under section 143(12) of the ompanies Act, 2013.

        During the year under review, there were no frauds 
reported by the Statutory Auditors to the Audit Committee 
or the Board under section 143(12) of the Companies 
Act, 2013.

14  Disclosure Regarding ompany’s policies under 
ompanies Act, 2013 and (LDR) Regulations, 2015

 The Company has framed various policies as per 
LODR Regulations, 2015 & Companies Act, 2013; viz 
i) Remuneration ii) Determining material subsidiary  
iii) Performance evaluation of the Board, Committees and 
Directors, iv) Materiality of Related Party Transactions, 
v) Whistle Blower/Vigil Mechanism vi) Archival Policy 
for disclosure vii) Board diversity and viii) Code of 
Conduct for Directors are displayed on the website of 
the Company www.mukandengineers.com. The brief 
about the policies are given in Annexure-V.

15.  Particulars of Loans, Guarantees and nvestments
 Details of Loans, Guarantees and Investments covered 

under the provisions of Section 186 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 are given in the notes to Financial Statements 
forming a part of this Annual Report.

16.  Vigil Mechanism/Whistle Blower Policy

 The purpose of the policy is to provide a framework to 
promote responsible and secure Whistle Blowers and to 
protect Directors/Employees wishing to raise a concern 
about serious irregularities within the Company. During the 
year under review, no reporting under Vigil Mechanism was 
made by any Employee or Director of the Company. The 
Whistle Blower Policy has been available on the website of 
the Company at www.mukandengineers.com.

17.  Material Subsidiary

 Your Company does not have any material subsidiary 
as per the thresholds laid down under the Listing 
Regulations, 2015. The Board of Directors of the 
Company has approved a Policy for determining 
material subsidiaries which is in line with the Listing 
Regulations, 2015 as amended from time to time. The 
Policy has been uploaded on the Company’s website viz  
www.mukandengineers.com.

18.  Performance valuation of Board 

 Pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013 
and the Listing Regulations, a structured questionnaire 
was prepared after taking into consideration the 
various aspects of the Board’s functioning, composition 
of the Board and its Committees, culture, execution 
and performance of specific duties, obligations and
governance.

 The performance evaluation of the Directors was 
completed during the year under review. The performance 
evaluation of the Chairman and the Non-Independent 
Directors was carried out by the Independent Directors 
and Non-Executive Director. The Board of Directors 
expressed their satisfaction with the evaluation process.

19.	 DetailsofSignificantandMaterialOrderspassedby
the Regulators or ourts or ribunal impacting the 
going concern status and ompany perations in 
Future

	 The Company had filed Company Scheme Petition
for its merger with Mukand Ltd. seeking sanction of the 
National Company Law Tribunal (NCLT), Mumbai Bench. 
TheSchemeispendingapprovalofNCLT.Uponfilingof
NCLT Order with Registrar of Companies, the Scheme 
shall become operative with effect from the appointed date 
(1st April, 2019) and the Company shall stand dissolved 
withoutwindingup.Thefinancialstatementsunderreview
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

20    ther nformation

20.1 As the Company does not own an undertaking 
where manufacturing operations are carried out, 
the requirement of information to be furnished 
under Section 134(3) (m) of the Companies Act, 
2013 is not applicable.

20.2.During the year, under review there were no foreign 
exchange earnings and expenditure.
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20.3 There are no employees covered under Section 197 
(12) read with Rule 5 of the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 
2014. There were 91 Permanent Employees as on 
31st March , 2021.

20.4 None of the Directors is paid any Remuneration 
other than sitting fees for attending Board / other 
Committee meetings of the Company.

20.5 Details relating to remuneration of Key Managerial 
Personnel (KMP) is available in Corporate 
Governance Report as per provision of Section 
136(1) of the Companies Act, 2013.

20.6 The paid–up equity share capital as on March 31, 
2021 is ` 12.58 Cr. During the year under review, 
the Company has neither issued shares with 
differential voting rights nor has granted stock 
options/sweat equity.

20.7 During the year under review, no case was reported 
to the Committee formed under The Sexual 
Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, 
Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013. 

20.8 There have been no material changes and 
commitments,affectingthefinancialpositionofthe
Company, which have occurred between the end 
ofthefinancialyearoftheCompanyanduptothe
date of this report.

20.9 The Company has devised proper systems to 
ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable Secretarial Standards issued by the 
Institute of Company Secretaries of India and 
that such systems are adequate and operating 
effectively.

20.10A Cash Flow Statement for the year 2020-21 is 
attached to the Balance Sheet. 

21.  Risk Management

 Risk management is embedded in your Company’s 
operating framework. Your Company believes that 
managing risks helps in maximizing returns. The 
Company’s approach to addressing business risks is 
comprehensive and includes periodic review of such risks 
and a framework for mitigating and reporting mechanism 
of such risks. The risk management framework is 
reviewed periodically by the Board & Audit Committee.

 However, as per the Listing Regulation constitution 
of Risk Management Committee for enforcing Risk 
Management Policy is not applicable to the Company

22.  Directors’ Responsibility Statement 

 As required by Section 134 (3) of the Companies Act, 
2013, the Board of Directors of the Company hereby 
stateandconfirmthat:

a) in the preparation of the annual accounts for the year 
ending March 31, 2021, the applicable accounting 
standards have been followed along with proper 
explanation relating to material departures.

b) the Directors have selected such accounting 
policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimated that are reasonable and 
prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company at the end of the 
financial yearandof the lossof theCompany for
that period;

c)	 the Directors have taken proper and sufficient
care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 
records in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting fraud and other 
irregularities.

d) the Directors have prepared the annual accounts 
on a going concern basis; 

e)	 the Directors have laid down internal financial
controls to be followed by the Company and that 
such internal financial controls are adequate and
were operating effectively; and

f) the Directors have devised proper systems to 
ensure compliance with the provisions of all 
applicable laws and that such systems were 
adequate and operating effectively. 

23.  Directors and Key Managerial Personnel

(a) Directors retiring by Rotation

 In accordance with the provisions of Section 152 and 
other applicable provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Articles of Association of the Company, 
Shri Niraj Bajaj (DIN: 00028261), Director of the 
Company, will retire in the ensuing Annual General 
Meeting and being eligible, offers himself for re-
appointment. The Board of Directors recommends 
his re-appointment.

(b)  ndependent Directors

 The Independent Directors have submitted their 
Declaration of Independence, for the current year 
as required pursuant to Section 149(7) of the 
Companies Act, 2013, stating that they meet the 
criteria of independence as provided in sub-section 
149 (6) of the Companies Act, 2013.

(c)  Key Managerial Personnel (KMP)

 During the year under review the Company has 
complied with the provisions of Section 203 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and the information of the 
KMP is available on the website of the Company 
www.mukandengineers.com.

24.  Related Party ransactions

 In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Rules framed thereunder as well as Regulation 
23 of the LODR Regulations, 2015 your Company has 
in place Related Party Transaction Policy. All contracts 
/ arrangements / transactions entered by the Company 
duringthefinancialyearwithrelatedpartieswereasper
the Related Party Transaction Policy and were in the 
ordinary course of business and on arms’ lengths basis.
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 During the year 2020-21, pursuant to Section 177 of the 
Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 23 of the LODR 
Regulations, 2015, all RPTs were placed before Audit 
Committee for its prior / omnibus approval. The requisite 
disclosure in Form AOC-2 is furnished in Annexure-. 

 The Related Party Transaction Policy as approved 
by Board is available on the website of the Company  
www.mukandengineers.com.

25.  Details in respect of nternal Financial ontrols with 
referencetofinancialstatements

 Adequate systems for internal controls provide 
assurances on the efficiency of operations, security of
assets, statutory compliance, appropriate authorization, 
reporting and recording of transactions. The scope of the 
audit activity is broadly guided by the annual audit plan 
approved by the top management and audit committee. 
The Internal Auditor prepares regular reports on the 
review of the systems and procedures and monitors the 
actions to be taken.

26.  Auditor’s Report

	 The report given by the Auditors on the financial
statements is a part of this Report. There has been no 
qualification, reservation or disclaimer given by the
Auditors in their report.

27.  Secretarial Auditors and Secretarial Audit Report

 The Board has appointed M/s. Ragini Chokshi & 
Co, (C.P.No 1436) Company Secretaries in whole-
time practice, to carry out Secretarial Audit under the 
provisions of Section 204 of the Companies Act, 2013 for 
thefinancialyear2020-21.ThereportoftheSecretarial
Auditors is annexed to this Report as Annexure-V. The 
observation referred to in the Secretarial Audit Report 
is self-explanatory and therefore in the opinion of the 
Directors, do not call for any comments under Section 
134 of the Companies Act, 2013.

28.  orporate Social Responsibility (SR)

 Pursuant to the provisions of Sec 135 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and applicable Rules and recent amendment, 
for the year ended March 31, 2021, the Company was 
not required to constitute CSR Committee or make any 
expenditure towards CSR.

29.  Safety, ealth and nvironment:

 The Company pays utmost importance towards safety 
and health of its employees by implementing policies, 
procedures and conducting various awareness 
programmers among the employees. It conducts many 
promotional activities among its work force on safety 
adherence and developing the community related 
to Health, Safety and Environment. All functional 
Departments work in cohesion to a common goal that 
includes efficiency in energy and in utilizing natural
resources with minimal or no damage to the environment.

30.  autionary Statement 

 Statements in the Directors Report and the Management 
Discussion and Analysis describing the Company’s 
objectives, expectations, or predictions, may be forward 
looking within the meaning of applicable securities laws 
and regulations. Actual results may differ materially from 
those expressed in the statement. Important factors that 
couldinfluencetheCompany’soperationsincludechange
in global and domestic demand and supply conditions 
due to COVID-19 affecting selling prices, new capacity 
additions, availability of critical materials and their cost, 
changes in government policies and tax laws, economic 
development of the country, and other factors which are 
material to the business operations of the Company.

31.  Acknowledgement 

 The Board of Directors thanks the Banks, Financial 
Institutions, Central and State Government Authorities, 
Shareholders, Customers, Suppliers, Employees and 
Business Associates for their continued co-operation and 
support to the Company. 

n behalf of the Board of Directors

Rajesh V. Shah
 hairman

DN: 00021752

       Mumbai, May 25, 2021.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
1 ngineering onstruction Division
1.1  ndustry Structure and Developments
 The widening political differences with China and the 

international trade curbs with China has led to the 
realization in India and many other like minded nations 
that we need to look for local development of industry 
to be self-reliant. This augurs well for many industrial 
sectors in India including the capital goods industry and 
associated construction activities. The capital goods 
industryhasasignificantmultipliereffectontheoverall
economic growth as it forms the basic building blocks 
for a large number of user industries by providing critical 
inputs, such as machinery and equipment, necessary for 
manufacturing. The government is also investing heavily 
in infrastructure projects, another major area of business 
interest for our Construction Division.

 Your company is involved in offering engineering, 
procurement, construction, and allied services in the 
areas of capital intensive projects which encompasses the 
entire spectrum from feasibility studies to commissioning 
of projects across varied industrial sectors such as 
energy, oil and gas, power, metallurgical and heavy 
industry.

 The target sectors of business of the Company continue 
to be in power and metallurgical sectors, mainly in the 
areas of Supply and Installation of equipments for 
Power Generation Plants & Integrated Steel Plants. The 
contracts cover erection of Mechanical Plant, Structural 
Works, Piping Works and Electrical Works. The Company 
also undertakes Engineering and Project Management 
jobs for Steel Plants and Electrical works at Power 
Plants.   

1.2 pportunity and hreats  
 pportunity 
 Growing conomy- There is some movement in 

expansion of steel plants and improvising power plants. 
 The Company has an order book of ̀ 41 crores executable 

mostly in F.Y. 2021-2022 & balance in F.Y. 2022-23. The 
emphasis for the coming year is therefore to book fresh 
orders during the year and to have a healthy order book 
at the end of the year.

 hreats 
 Delays in project completion due to prevailing pandemic 

situation and further delays due to postponement of 
commissioning by Clients. 

1.3 Future utlook
 Due to slowdown in the economy arising out of pandemic, 

expansion activities in existing facilities and creation of 
new capacities were given less priority resulting in delays 
in placement of new orders as well as delays in execution 
of ongoing projects. The management perceives that 
with the economy showing signs of revival in the current 
fiscal, the capital investments in the economic sectors
of interest to the company can be reasonably expected. 
The Company has received enquiries for jobs in Power, 
Steel,whichare invariousstagesoffinalization.Many
companies in the infrastructures space have closed 
down in the last three years giving us competitive edge & 
better pricing now.

1.4 Risk Management 
 As the contracts undertaken by the Company are 

generally in the Public Sector and in reputed Private 
Sector Companies, the risk of payment defaults by the 
clients is negligible. The Company evaluates project 
location environment risks while bidding and before 
accepting contracts. The provision for escalation in cost 
due to delays in execution of project is considered while 
quoting tenders. There are also escalation clauses in the 
major value contracts from Public Sector.   

2 nternal ontrol System  
 The Company has instituted a system of internal control 

to safeguard and protect the assets of the Company. The 
Company has also appointed an Internal Auditor whose 
reports are regularly reviewed by the Management, and 
guidelines and procedures are formulated and monitored 
for proper controls. 

3	 Significant changes in key financial ratios as
compared to the previous year 

 Revenue from Operations is ` 2,529 lacs as compared to 
` 4,484 lacs in the previous year, a drop of 43.60%. 

	 NetProfit/(loss)marginratioisat(122.36%)asagainst
(67.31%) for previous year. Interest coverage ratio is 
(1.25) as compared to (1.32) in the previous year. 

 Revenue is down by 43.60% due to non-availability of 
workable fronts from client viz. NTPC & NMDC. Delays in 
completion of projects have correspondingly affected the 
profitmarginsandinterestcoverageratio.

 Current ratio for the year under report is 0.69 as against 
0.91 for the previous year. The inventory Turnover Ratio 
is 1.35 as compared to 0.95 in the previous year.  This is 
high due to reduction in Operational Revenue Inventory. 
The Return on Net Worth in current year is (67%), previous 
year (207%) this is due to erosion of Net Worth. As 
regards debit equity ratio it is to be noted that to calculate 
this ratio both the numerator and denominator needs to 
be positive. As the denominator is in the negative it is not 
possible to calculate this ratio for the year under report.

4 uman Resource Management nitiatives 
 The Company has adequate supervisory and managerial 

staff for execution of the present orders. Further 
recruitments shall be considered based on the skill set 
and volume of work that would arise out of fresh orders. 
Systematic training in site operational control and 
management are imparted regularly to ensure efficient
execution.

5 autionary Statements
 Statements made herein describing the Company’s 

expectations or predictions are “forward-looking 
statements”. The actual results may differ from those 
expected or predicted. Prime factors that may make a 
difference to the Company’s performance include market 
conditions, input costs, interest costs, Government 
regulations, economic developments within/outside the 
country.          

n behalf of the Board of Directors

Rajesh V. Shah
 hairman

 DN: 00021752
 Mumbai, May 25, 2021

Directors’ Report - Annexure - 
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(Pursuant to clause (h) of sub-section (3) of section 134 of the Act and Rule 8(2) of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Form for disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered into by the company with related parties referred to in sub-section 
(1) of section 188 of the Companies Act, 2013 including certain arms length transactions under third proviso thereto

1. Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm’s length basis:

(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of relationship: NIL

(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions: NIL

(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements/transactions: NIL

(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including the value, if any: NIL

(e) Justificationforenteringintosuchcontractsorarrangementsortransactions: NIL

(f) Date(s) of approval by the Board: NIL

(g) Amount paid as advances, if any: NIL

(h) Dateonwhichthespecialresolutionwaspassedingeneralmeetingasrequiredunderfirstprovisotosection188: NIL

2. Details of material contracts or arrangement or transactions at arm’s length basis:

(a) Name(s) of the related party and nature of 
relationship:

Mukand Limited, Mukand Global Finance Limited (wholly owned 
subsidiary of Mukand Limited) Mukand Sumi Metal Processing 
Limited (Subsidiary  of Mukand Limited), Adore Traders & Realtors  
Private Limited (wholly owned subsidiary  of Mukand Global Finance 
Limited) and India Thermal Power Limited.(Group Company)

(b) Nature of contracts/arrangements/transactions: Contract Execution - Design, Erection, Commissioning & 
Transportation, Consultancy Service - PMS, Contract Execution, 
Maintenance Service - Maintenance of EDP System - Commission 
on Corporate Guarantee -Supplies of Traded Material - Purchase of 
Cranes & Maintenance, Rent, and Management fess - Fixed deposit 
- SAP up-gradation services - ICD with Interest. Commission on Bank 
Guarantee.

(c) Duration of the contracts / arrangements / 
transactions:

As per Contract entered for each transaction.

(d) Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or 
transactions including the value, if any:

Arms length basis and credit period as per terms of contracts.

(e) Date(s) of approval by the Board, if any: OmnibusApprovalinthefirstquartermeetingoftheBoard.

(f) Amount paid as advances, if any: Nil

n behalf of the Board of Directors

Rajesh V. Shah
hairman 

DN - 00021752

Mumbai, May 25, 2021

Directors’ Report - Annexure - 

Form No. A-2
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RPRA GVRNAN RPR Directors' eport - Annexure - i

he Directors present the ompany’s Report on orporate 
Governance for the year ended March 31, 2021, in terms of 
Regulation 34(3) read with Schedule V of the SB (Listing 
bligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015 
(he “Listing Regulations / LDR Regulations, 2015/ LDR ”).
1. ompany’s Philosophy on ode of orporate 

Governance:
 The Company’s philosophy on Corporate Governance 

practices is built on core values, beliefs, and ethics 
derived through sustained efforts and commitment to the 
highest standards of Corporate Conduct. The Company 
believes sound Corporate  Governance is critical for 
enhancing long-term economic value of the Company 
and sustainable re-turn to its stakeholders by adopting 
best corporate practices in a fair and transparent manner. 
Your Company is in full compliance with the norms and 
disclosures that have to be made from time to time with the 
requirements of SEBI (Listing Obligations and Disclosure 
Requirements) Regulations, 2015. (“Listing Regulations, 
2015” / “LODR Regulations, 2015”) as amended.

2.  Governance Structure:
 The Corporate Governance structure at Mukand 

Engineers Limited is as follows:
•	 Board of Directors: The Board is entrusted with an 

ultimate responsibility of the management, directions 
and       performance of the Company. As its primary role 
isfiduciaryinnature,theBoardprovidesleadership,
strategic   guidance, objective, and independent view 
to the Company’s management while discharging its 
responsibilities, thus ensuring that the management 
adheres to ethics, transparency and disclosures.

•	 ommittees of the Board: The Board has constituted 
the following Committees viz, Audit Committee, 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee and the 
Stakeholders Relationship Committee. Each of the 
said Committee has been mandated to operate 
within a given framework.

(a) omposition and size of the Board 
 The Board of Directors of the Company consists of six 

Directors including the Non-Executive Chairman. All these 
six Directors are Non-Executive Directors out of which 
three Directors are Independent Directors and a Non-
Executive Woman Director. The Company does not have 
any Institutional nominee Director. The composition of the 
Board is in conformity with Regulation 17 of the Listing 
Regulations, 2015 as well as section 149 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 read with the Rules issued thereunder. 
The Company did not have any material pecuniary 
relation or transaction with Non-Executive Directors/ 
Independent Directors during the year under review. On 
the recommendation of Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee of the Company, Shri Praksh V. Mehta, Shri 
R. Sankaran and Shri N. Ramanathan were appointed as 
Independent Directors for second term of 5 Consecutive 
years in the general meeting held on 8th August 2019. The 
Boardof theCompanyhassatisfied itself thatplansare
in place for orderly succession for appointments to the 
Board and to the Senior Management.

(b) Board Meetings 

 During the year under review, 4 (four) Board Meetings 
were held on June 27, 2020, August 13, 2020, November 
11, 2020 and February 9, 2021. The gap between the two 
meetings has been according to the relaxation given by 
Ministry of Corporate affairs and SEBI due to ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic. The Board was presented with the 
relevant and necessary information. None of the Directors 
is a member of more than ten Committees or acting 
as Chairman of more than five Committees across all
Companies in which he / she is a director. The attendance 
at the Board Meetings during the year under review and 
at the last Annual General Meeting and number of other 
Directorships is given herein below:

Name of the Director / DN ategory ** Attendance 
Particulars

Number of positions held in listed and 
unlisted Public Limited ompanies 

(including he ompany)

No of 
shares 

held as on 
31.03.2021

Board 
Meetings

Last AGM
held on 

29/09/2020

Directorships ommittee 
Memberships
(ncluding as 

hairman)

ommittee 
hairmanships

Shri Rajesh V. Shah
DIN -00021752 C/NED 3/4 Yes 6 4 - 34,066

Shri Niraj Bajaj
DIN -00028261 NED 4/4 Yes  7 1 1 4,13,750

Shri Prakash V. Mehta
DIN -00001366 NED/ID 4/4 Yes 7 9 4 Nil

Shri N. Ramanathan
DIN -01566914 NED/ID 4/4 Yes 2 3 - 200

Shri R. Sankaran
DIN-00381139 NED/ID 4/4 Yes 7 4 2 438

Smt. Anna Usha Abraham
DIN-07072268 NED 4/4 Yes 2 - - Nil

** C: Chairman, NED: Non-Executive Director, NED ID: Non-
Executive Independent Director
Notes

•	 Directorships exclude Private Limited Companies, Foreign 
Companies and Section 8 Companies.

•	 Included Membership / Chairmanship ofAudit Committee
and Stakeholder Relationship Committee.

•	 AlltheDirectorshaveperiodicallyandregularlyinformedthe
Company about their Directorship and Membership on the 
Board/Committees of the Boards of other Companies.

•	 Asperdeclarationsreceived,noneof theDirectorsserves
as an Independent Director in more than 7 listed Companies.

•	 None of the Directors holds office as Director including
alternate Director, in more than twenty companies at the 
same time. None of them has Directorship in more than ten 
Public Companies

•	 BriefprofilesofeachoftheaboveDirectorsareavailableon
the Company’s website www.mukandengineers.com.

•	 NoneoftheotherDirectorsarerelatedtoeachother.
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Directorship in other Listed ompanies as on March 31, 
2021, is tabulated hereunder:

Sr. 
No.

Name of the 
Director

List of Directorship held in 
other ndian Listed ompanies 
and ategory of Directorship 

1 Niraj Bajaj Bajaj Auto Limited - Non-
Executive Director
Mukand Limited - Executive 
Director
Bajaj Holding & Investment 
Limited - Chairman, Non-
Executive Director

2 Rajesh V. Shah Mukand Limited - Executive 
Director

3 Prakash V. Mehta Oriental Aromatics Limited - 
Independent Director
Hikal Limited - Independent 
Director
Bharat Bijlee Limited - 
Independent Director
Mukand Limited - Independent 
Director
Advani Hotels and Resorts 
(India) Limited - Independent 
Director 

4 R. Sankaran Mukand Limited - Independent 
Director

5 N. Ramanathan Nil
6 Anna Usha Abraham Nil

Skills / xpertise / ompetencies of the Board of Directors:

The following is the list of core skills / expertise / competencies 
identifiedbytheBoardofDirectorsasrequiredinthecontextof
the Company’s business and that the said skills are available 
with the Board Members: 

i) Knowledge on Company’s businesses, policies and 
culture (including the Mission, Vision and Values) major 
risks / threats and potential opportunities and knowledge 
of the industry in which the Company operates;

ii) Behavioural skills - attributes and competencies to use 
their knowledge and skills to contribute effectively to the 
growth of the Company;

iii) Business Strategy, Sales & Marketing, Corporate 
Governance, Administration, Decision Making; 

iv) Financial and Management skills;

v) Technical/Legal/Professional skills and specialized 
knowledge in relation to Company’s Business;

vi) Experience of serving on the Board of different 
Companies in order to develop Insights about Corporate 
Governance, Management Responsibility, Protecting 
stakeholder interest.

IndependentDirectorsconfirmationbytheBoard
All Independent Directors have given declarations that 
they meet the criteria of independence as laid down under  
Section 149(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 16 
(1) (b) of the Listing Regulations. In the opinion of the Board, 
theIndependentDirectors,fulfiltheconditionsofindependence
specified inSection149(6)of theCompaniesAct, 2013and

Regulation 16(1) (b) of the Listing Regulations, 2015. A formal 
letter of appointment to Independent Directors as provided 
in Companies Act, 2013 has been issued and disclosed on 
website of the Company viz. www.mukandengineers.com.  
Number of ndependent Directorships
As per Regulation 17A of the Listing Regulations, 2015, 
Independent Directors of the Company do not serve as                
Independent Director in more than seven Listed Companies. 
None of the Independent Directors of the Company resigned   
during the year under review.
(c)   nformation supplied to the Board
 In advance of each meeting, the Board is presented with 

relevant information on various matters related to the 
working of the Company, especially those that require 
deliberation at the highest level. In addition to the items 
which are required to be placed before the Board for its 
noting and /or approval, information is provided on all 
thesignificantitemsrelatedtotheCompany.TheBoard
has complete access to any information within your 
Companywhichincludestheinformationasspecifiedin
Regulation 17(7) read with Part A of Schedule II of the 
Listing Regulations, 2015. Regular updates provided 
to the Board of Directors by the Management. The 
Board periodically reviews the compliance status of the 
Company.

 Post Meeting Mechanism
 The important decisions taken at the Board / Board 

Committee Meetings are communicated to the concerned 
departments.

 Board Support
 The Company Secretary attends the Board Meetings and 

advises the Board on Compliances with applicable laws 
and governance.

 Roles, Responsibilities and Duties of the Board
 The duties of Board of Directors have been enumerated in 

Listing Regulations, 2015, Section 166 of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Schedule IV of the said Act (Schedule IV 
isspecificallyforIndependentDirectors).Thereisaclear
demarcation of responsibility and authority amongst the 
Board of Directors.

 Familiarization Programme for Directors
 The Company familiarizes not only the Independent 

Directors but every new appointee on the Board, with 
a brief background of the Company, their roles, rights, 
responsibilities in the Company, nature of the industry 
in which the Company operates, operations of the 
Company, etc. They are also informed of the important 
policies of the Company, including the Code of Conduct 
for Board Members and Senior Management Personnel 
and the Code of Conduct to Regulate, Monitor and 
Report Trading in securities by Insiders, etc. The 
particulars of familiarization programme for Independent 
Directors can be accessed through the website:  
www.mukandengineers.com. Since, there was no 
change in the directors during the year, the Company did 
not hold any new Familiarisation Programme, However, 
directors were provided necessary updates and 
information about the business and compliances during 
the quarterly Board meeting/s.
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(d)  rderly succession to Board and Senior Management

	 TheBoardoftheCompanysatisfieditselfthatplansare
in place for orderly succession for appointments to the 
Board and to the Senior Management.

(e)    Review of legal compliance reports

 During the year, the Board periodically reviewed 
compliance reports with respect to the various laws 
applicable to the Company, as prepared and placed 
before it by the Management.

(f)   Maximum tenure of ndependent Directors

 The maximum tenure of Independent Directors is in 
accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and regulation 
25 (7) of SEBI LODR, 2015.

(g)  Formal Letter of Appointment to ndependent 
Directors

	 The Non-Executive Independent Directors fulfil the
conditionsofindependencespecifiedinSection149(6)of
the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 16(1)(b) of the 
Listing Regulations, 2015. A formal letter of appointment 
to Independent Directors in the manner as provided in 
Companies Act, 2013 has been issued and disclosed on 
web-site of the Company www.mukandengineers.com.

(h) Re-appointment of Directors 

 Shri Niraj Bajaj is liable to retire by rotation and being 
eligible, offer himself for re-appointment. Information 
as required under Regulation 36 of LODR Regulations, 
2015 has been given in the notice convening the Annual 
General Meeting.

GVRNAN DS

ode of Business onduct & thics
The Company has adopted Code of Business Conduct 
& Ethics (“the Code”) which is applicable to the Board of  
Directors and all Employees of the Company. The Board of 
Directors and the members of Senior Management Team 
(one level below the Board of Directors) of the Company 
are required to affirm annually Compliance of this Code. 
A declaration signed by the Chairman of the Company to this 
effect is placed at the end of this report. The Code requires 
Directors and Employees to act honestly, fairly, ethically and 
with integrity, conduct themselves in professional, courteous 
and respectful manner. The Code is displayed on the website 
of the Company www.mukandengineers.com.
ConflictofInterests
Each Director informs the Company on an annual basis about 
the Board and the Committee positions he/she occupies 
in other Companies including Chairmanships and notifies
changes during the year. The Members of the Board while        
dischargingtheirduties,avoidconflictofinterestinthedecision
making process. The Members of Board restrict themselves 
from any discussions and voting in transactions in which they 
have concern or interest.
nsider rading ode
The Company has adopted revised Internal Code of Conduct 
for Regulating, Monitoring and Reporting of Trades by     
Insiders (“the Code”) in accordance with the SEBI (Prohibition 
of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015 (The PIT Regulations) in 
its meeting held on February 14, 2020. The Code is applicable 

to Promoters and Promoter’s Group, all Directors and such 
Designated Employees who are expected to have access to 
unpublished price sensitive information (UPSI) relating to the 
Company.TheCompanySecretaryistheComplianceOfficer
for monitoring adherence to the said PIT Regulations.
The Company has also formulated ‘The Code of Practices 
and Procedures for Fair Disclosure of Unpublished Price 
Sensitive Information (UPSI)’ in compliance with the PIT 
Regulations. This code is displayed on the Company’s website  
www.mukandengineers.com. Pursuant to regulation 9A 
(5) of the amended SEBI (Prohibition of Indsider Trading) 
Regulation, 2015 effective from April 1, 2019, Company has 
formulated Board approved written policies and procedure for 
inquiry in case of leak of UPSI or suspected leak of UPSI in its 
Meeting held on May 20, 2019.
3.  ommittees of the Board:
 The Board of Directors have constituted Board 

Committees to deal with specific areas and activities
which concern the Company and requires a closer 
review. The Board Committees are formed with approval 
of the Board and function under their respective Charters. 
These Committees play an important role in the overall 
Management of day-to-day affairs and governance of 
the Company. The Board Committees meet at regular 
intervals and take necessary steps to perform its duties 
entrusted by the Board. The Minutes of the Committee 
Meetings are placed before the Board for noting.

 The Company has three Board Level Committees:
A)  Audit Committee,
B)  Nomination and Remuneration Committee and 
C)  Stakeholders Relationship Committee.

3(A) Audit ommittee:
 The Audit Committee consists of Shri Rajesh V. Shah, 

Shri Prakash V. Mehta (Chairman of Audit Committee), 
Shri N. Ramanathan and Shri R. Sankaran as 
Members, all of whom are Independent Directors except  
Shri Rajesh V. Shah. The terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee have been reviewed and revised by the Board 
at its meeting held on  February 12, 2019 and are as per 
the requirements of Section 177 of the Companies Act, 
2013 and Regulation 18 of Listing Regulations, 2015 as 
amended. There was no change in the composition of the 
Committee during the year.

 Brief description of the terms of reference of the Audit 
Committee, inter-alia are as follows:
1.	 Oversight of the Company’s financial reporting

process and the disclosure of its financial
informationtoensurethatthefinancialstatementis
correct,sufficientandcredible;

2. Recommendation for appointment, remuneration 
and terms of appointment of Auditors of the 
Company;

3. Approval of payment to Statutory Auditors for any 
other services rendered by the Statutory Auditors;

4. Reviewing with the management, the annual 
financial statementsandAuditor’sReport thereon
before submission to the Board for approval, with 
particular reference to;
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a) Matters required to be included in the 
Director’s Responsibility Statement to be 
included in the Board’s report in terms of 
clause (c) of sub-section 3 of section 134 of 
the Companies Act, 2013.

b) Changes, if any, in accounting policies and 
practices and reasons for the same.

c) Major accounting entries involving estimates 
based on the exercise of judgment by 
management.

d)	 Significantadjustmentsmadeinthefinancial
statementsarisingoutofauditfindings.

e) Compliance with listing and other legal 
requirementsrelatingtofinancialstatements.

f) Disclosure of any Related Party Transactions.

g)	 QualificationsinthedraftAuditReport.

5. Reviewing with the management, the quarterly 
financialstatementsbeforesubmissiontotheBoard
for approval including the  financial  statements,
in particular, the investments made by unlisted 
subsidiary(ies);

6. Reviewing with the management, the statement of 
uses / application of funds raised through an issue 
(public issue, rights issue, preferential issue, etc.), 
the statement of funds utilized for purposes other 
than those stated in the offer document / prospectus 
/ notice and the report submitted by the monitoring 
agency monitoring the utilisation of proceeds of 
a public or rights issue, and making appropriate 
recommendations to the Board to take up steps in 
this matter;

7. Review and monitor the Auditor’s independence 
and performance, and effectiveness of audit 
process;

8.	 Approval or any subsequent modification of
transactions of the Company with related parties;

9. Scrutiny of inter-corporate loans and investments;

10. Valuation of undertakings or assets of the Company, 
wherever it is necessary;

11.	 Evaluationofinternalfinancialcontrolsandrisk	
management systems; 

12. Reviewing, with the management, performance of 
Statutory and Internal Auditors, adequacy of the 
internal control systems;

13. Reviewing the adequacy of Internal Audit function, 
if any, including the structure of the Internal Audit 
department, staffing and seniority of the official
heading the department, reporting structure 
coverage and frequency of internal audit;

14.	 DiscussionwithInternalAuditorsofanysignificant
findingsandfollowupthereon;

15.	 Reviewingthefindingsofanyinternalinvestigations
by the Internal Auditors into matters where there is 
suspected fraud or irregularity or a failure of internal 
control systems of a material nature and reporting 
the matter to the Board;

16. Discussion with Statutory Auditors before the audit 
commences, about the nature and scope of audit 
as well as post audit discussion to ascertain any 
area of concern;

17. To look into the reasons for substantial defaults in 
the payment to the depositors, shareholders (in 
case of non-payment of declared dividends) and 
creditors;

18. To review the functioning of the Whistle Blower 
Mechanism;

19. Approval of appointment of CFO (i.e., the whole - 
time Finance Director or any other person heading 
the finance function or discharging that function)
after assessing thequalifications, experienceand
background, etc. of the candidate;

20. To review Management Discussion and Analysis of 
financialconditionandresultsofoperations;

21.	 To review and approve Statement of significant
RelatedPartyTransactions(asdefinedbytheAudit
Committee), submitted by management;

22. To review Management letters / letters of internal 
control weaknesses issued by the Statutory 
Auditors;

23. To review Internal Audit Reports relating to internal 
control weaknesses;

24. To review the appointment, removal and terms of 
remuneration of the Chief Internal Auditor / Internal 
Auditors;

25. To review statement of deviations, if any:

a. quarterly statement of deviation(s) including 
report of monitoring agency, if applicable, 
submitted to stock exchange(s) in terms of 
Regulation 32(1) of SEBI Listing Regulations, 
2015.

b. annual statement of funds utilized for 
purposes other than those stated in the offer 
document/prospectus/notice in terms of 
Regulation 32(7) of SEBI Listing Regulations, 
2015.

26. To review compliance with the provisions of 
Regulation 9 of SEBI (Prohibition of Insider Trading) 
Regulations,2015atleastonceinafinancialyear
and verify that the systems for internal control are 
adequate and are operating effectively.

 All Members of the Audit Committee are 
Independent, Non-Executive Directors except  
ShriRajeshV.Shahandare‘financiallyliterate’as
required under the provisions of the Companies Act, 
2013 and regulation 18(1) (c) of the SEBI Listing 
Regulations, 2015. Moreover, the Chairman and 
Members of the Audit Committee has ‘accounting 
orrelatedfinancialmanagementexpertise’

 During the year under review, the Audit Committee 
met 4 (four) times on June 27, 2020, August 13, 
2020, November 11, 2020 and February 9, 2021. 
The requisite quorum was present at all the 
Meetings. The gap between the two meetings has 
been according to the relaxation given by Ministry of 
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Corporate affairs and SEBI due to ongoing COVID 
-19 pandemic. These meetings were also attended 
by the Statutory Auditors, Internal Auditors, Shri 
Niraj Bajaj, Director, Ms Anna Usha Abraham, 
Director,ShriK.P.Jotwani,ChiefExecutiveOfficer
andShriR.G.Golatkar,ChiefFinancialOfficeras
invitees whenever required. Shri Dhawal J. Vora, 
Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Audit 
Committee as required by Regulation 18(1) (e) of 
the SEBI (LODR) Regulation, 2015.

	 The Company follows best practices in financial
reporting. The Company has been reporting on 
quarterly basis, the Un-audited Financial Statements 
as required by the Regulation 33 of the Listing 
Regulations, 2015. The Company’s quarterly  
Un-audited Financial Statements are made available 
on the website www.mukandengineers.com.

 The Audit Committee bridges the gap between the 
Internal Auditors and the Statutory Auditors. The 
Statutory Auditors are responsible for performing 
Independent audit of the Company’s Financial 
Statements in accordance with the generally 
accepted auditing practices and issuing reports 
based on such audits, while the Internal Auditors 
are responsible for the internal risk controls. The 
Audit Committee reviews and ensures committee 
with the applicable Accounting Standards as per 
section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013 along with 
the review of the Annual Financial Statements.

 The Chairman of the Audit Committee was present 
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company, to 
answer shareholders’ queries.

 The composition of the Audit Committee of the 
Board of Directors of the Company along with the 
details of the meetings held and attended during 
thefinancialyear2020-21isdetailedbelow;

Name of the Member ategory**
 Number of 
Meetings 
held during     
F.Y. 2020-21

Number of 
Meetings 
Attended

Shri Prakash V. Mehta C/ID/ NED 4 4
Shri Rajesh V. Shah NED 4 3
Shri N. Ramanathan ID/ NED 4 4
Shri R. Sankaran ID / NED 4 4

 **C: Chairman, NED: Non-Executive Director, ID- 
Independent Director.

3(B) Nominations and Remuneration ommittee:   
 The Company has constituted a Nomination and 

Remuneration Committee consisting of Shri R. Sankaran 
(Chairman of Nomination and Remuneration Committee), 
Shri N. Ramanathan and Shri Rajesh V. Shah as 
Members, all of whom are Independent Directors except 
Shri Rajesh V. Shah.  

 The Composition of Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee is in accordance with the provisions of Section 
178 (1) of the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 19 
of the Listing Regulations, 2015. During the year under 
review, the Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
met on 3 (Three) times on June 27, 2020, November 
11, 2020 and February 9, 2021. There was no change 

in composition of the committee during the year under 
review. The requisite quorum was present at the Meeting. 
The Chairman of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee was present at the last Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

 The composition of the Nomination and Remuneration 
Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company 
along with the details of the Meetings held and attended 
by theMembers of theCommittee during the financial
year 2020-21 is detailed below:

Name of the Member ategory**
 Number of 
Meetings held 
during F.Y. 
2020-21

Number of 
Meetings 
Attended

Shri R. Sankaran C/ID / NED 3 3
Shri Rajesh V. Shah NED 3 2
Shri N. Ramanathan ID / NED 3 3

 **C: Chairman, NED: Non-Executive Director,  
ID- Independent Director

 The decision regarding remuneration of the “CEO” under 
the Companies Act, 2013 and of the Key Managerial 
Personnel is recommended by the Committee to the Board 
subject to such other approvals, if any. The Company does 
not pay any remuneration to the Non-Executive Directors 
except payment of sitting fees for attending the Board / 
Other Committee Meetings etc. details of which are given 
below. However, Shri Rajesh V. Shah, Chairman, Shri Niraj 
Bajaj, Director and Ms. Anna Usha Abraham, Director of 
the Company have waived their sitting fees.

 erms of Reference:
 The terms of reference of the Nomination and Remuneration 

Committee (NRC) covers the areas mentioned in Section 
178 of the Act and Regulation 19 read with Part D (A) 
of Schedule II to the Listing Regulations, 2015. Brief 
description of the terms of reference of the NRC, inter-alia 
are as follows:
1.	 To identify persons who are qualified to become

Directors and who may be appointed in senior  
management in accordance with the criteria laid 
down, recommend to the Board their appointment 
and removal and shall specify the manner for 
effective evaluation of performance of Board, its 
Committees, Chairperson and individual Directors 
to be carried out by the Board, by the NRC or by 
an independent external agency and review its 
implementation and compliance. 

2.	 Toformulatethecriteriafordeterminingqualifications,
positive attributes and independence of a Director 
and recommend to the Board a policy, relating to 
the remuneration for the Directors, Key Managerial  
Personnel and other employees. 

3.	 To take into account financial position of the
Company, trend in the industry, appointees 
qualifications, experience, past performance, past
remuneration, etc., and bring about objectivity in 
determining the remuneration package while striking 
a balance between the interest of the Company and 
the shareholders while approving the remuneration 
payable to Managing Director, Whole Time Director 
or Manager.
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4. To lay down / formulate the evaluation criteria for 
performance evaluation of Independent Directors & 
the Board.

5. To devise a policy on Board diversity.
6. To recommend to board, whether to extend or 

continue the term of appointment of the Independent 
Director, on the basis of the report of performance 
evaluation of Independent Directors.

7. To review and approve the remuneration and change 
in remuneration payable to Whole-Time Directors.

8. To recommend to Board, all remuneration payable 
to senior management (i.e. members of the core  
management team, i.e. members one level below 
the Chief Executive Officer/Managing Director/
Whole Time Director and shall specifically include
CompanySecretaryandChiefFinancialOfficer).

    Sitting fees (Gross) paid to the Directors for the year ended 
March 31, 2021 is as under:

Sr. 
No.

Name of the Director Amount
(` in Lacs)

1. Shri Prakash V. Mehta 1.70
2. Shri N. Ramanathan 2.10
3. Shri R. Sankaran 2.10

AL 5.90

 Remuneration paid to following Key Managerial 
Personnel’s (KMPs) for the year ended March 31, 2021.

 (` in Lacs)

Name Shri K. P. 
Jotwani

Shri Rajan 
Golatkar

Shri 
Dhawal J. 

Vora 
Designation hief xecutive 

Officer
hief 

Financial 
Officer

ompany 
Secretary

Salary and allowances 50.74 24.49 18.90
Contribution to 
Provident Fund and 
Other Funds

1.28 2.04 1.60

Perquisites (including  
approx. money value)

0.32 0.32 0.22

AL 52.34 26.85 20.72
The employee wise break up of liability on account of 
Retirement Schemes based on Actuarial Valuation is not 
ascertainable. The amounts relatable to the ‘CEO’ will 
be, therefore, disclosed in the year of payment.
The Company does not have a stock options scheme for 
its Directors / Employees.
Remuneration Policy
The Board, on the recommendation of the Nomination 
and Remuneration Committee, has framed a 
Remuneration Policy providing (a) criteria for determining 
qualifications, positive attributes and independence of
Directors, and (b) a policy on remuneration for Directors, 
Key Managerial Personnel and other Employees. 
The same is placed on the website of the Company  
www.mukandengineers.com.

3() Stakeholders’ Relationship ommittee: 
 Stakeholders Relationship Committee consists of Shri 

R. Sankaran as the Chairman, Shri Rajesh V. Shah 
and Shri N. Ramanathan as Members, all of whom are 
Independent Directors except Shri Rajesh V. Shah, Shri 
DhawalJ.VoraistheComplianceOfficerforcomplying
with the requirements of Securities Law and also acts 
as Secretary to the Committee. There was no change in 
the composition of the Committee during the year under 
review.

 The meeting of the said Committee was held on June 27, 
2020 which was attended by all the Members. 

 There were no major complaints from the stakeholders 
during the year under review.

 erms of Reference:
 Brief description of the terms of reference of the 

Stakeholders Relationship Committee inter-alia is as 
follows:
I. Resolving the grievances of the security holders 

of the listed entity including complaints related to 
transfer/transmission of shares, non-receipt of 
annual report, non-receipt of declared dividends, 
issueofnew/duplicatecertificates,etc.

II. Review of measures taken for effective exercise of 
voting rights by shareholders.

III. Review of adherence to the service standards 
adopted by the listed entity in respect of various 
services being rendered by the Registrar & Share 
Transfer Agent.

IV. Review of the various measures and initiatives 
taken by the listed entity for reducing the quantum 
of unclaimed dividends and ensuring timely receipt 
of dividend warrants/annual reports/statutory 
notices by the shareholders of the Company.

 nvestor Services (omplaints received during the 
Financial Year)

Nature of omplaints 
/ Queries

2020-2021 2019-2020

Relating to ransfer, 
ransmission, 
Dividend, Demat
 & Remat, hange of 
address and others

Received leared Received leared

50 50 100 100

  There were no complaints / queries pending reply as on 
March 31, 2021

 The Secretarial Department of the Company and the 
Registrar and Share Transfer Agent viz. Bigshare 
Services Private Limited attend to all grievances of the 
shareholders received directly or through SEBI, Stock 
Exchanges, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Registrar  
of Companies, etc. The Minutes of the Committee 
of Directors (Stakeholders Relationship Committee) 
Meetings are circulated to the Board and noted by the 
Board of Directors.

 Continuous efforts are made to ensure that grievances 
are more expeditiously redressed to the complete 
satisfaction of the investors. Shareholders are requested 
to furnish their updated telephone numbers and e-mail 
addresses to facilitate prompt action.
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4. valuation of Board’s Performance:
 The Board has carried out the annual performance 

evaluation of its own performance, the Directors 
individually as well as the evaluation of the working 
of its Audit, Nomination and Remuneration and other 
Committees constituted as required by the provisions of 
the Companies Act, 2013 and Listing Regulations.

 A structured questionnaire was prepared after taking 
into consideration inputs received from the Directors, 
covering various aspects of the Board’s functioning such 
as adequacy of the composition of the Board and its 
Committees, Board culture, execution and performance 
ofspecificduties,obligationsandgovernanceetc.

 A separate exercise was carried out to evaluate 
the performance of individual Directors, including 
the Chairman of the Board, who were evaluated on 
parameters such as level of engagement and contribution, 
independence of judgement safeguarding the interests 
of the Company and its minority shareholders etc. The 
performance evaluation of the Independent Directors was 

carried out by the entire Board excluding the Independent 
Directors being evaluated. The performance evaluation 
of the Chairman and the Non-Independent Directors 
was carried out by the Independent Directors who also 
reviewed the performance of the Secretarial Department. 
The Directors expressed their satisfaction with the 
evaluation process. During the year under review, the 
Independent Directors met on February 9, 2021 and all 
the Independent Directors were present at the Meeting.

5.   Board Diversity Policy:
 In compliance with the provisions of the SEBI Listing 

Regulations, 2015, the Board through its Nomination and        
Remuneration Committee has devised a Policy on Board 
Diversity. The objective of the Policy is to ensure that 
the Board comprises adequate number of Members with 
diverse experience and skills, such that it best serves the 
governance and strategic needs of the Company. The 
Board composition as at present meets with the above 
objective. The same is placed on the website of the 
Company www.mukandengineers.com.

6. Annual General Meetings:

(a) he last three Annual General Meetings were held on the following dates, time and venue:

Financial Year Date ime Venue

2019-2020 September 29, 2020 11.30 a.m. Since meeting was through video conferencing, deemed venue of 
themeetingwasRegisteredofficeoftheCompanyi.e.BajajBhawan,
Jamnalal Bajaj Marg, 226, Nariman Point, Mumbai-400021

2018-2019 August 8, 2019 11.30 a.m. Kamalnayan Bajaj Hall, Bajaj Bhawan, Jamnalal Bajaj Marg, 226, 
Nariman Point, Mumbai 400 021.

2017-2018 August 13, 2018 11.30 a.m. Kamalnayan Bajaj Hall, Bajaj Bhawan, Jamnalal Bajaj Marg, 226, 
Nariman Point, Mumbai 400 021.

 (b) he details of the Special Resolutions passed in the Annual General Meetings held in the previous three (3) years 
are given below:

Financial 
Year

Date of Annual 
General Meeting

Details of Special Resolution Passed

2019-2020 September 29, 2020 Nil

2018-2019 August 8, 2019 1) Continuation of Shri Prakash Mehta as an Independent Director 

2) Continuation of Shri N. Ramanathan as an Independent Director 

3)  Re-appointment of Shri Prakash Mehta as an Independent Director of the 
Companyforasecondtermoffiveconsecutiveyear’sw.e.f.9th August, 2019

4) Re-appointment of Shri R. Sankaran as an Independent Director of the Company 
forasecondtermoffiveconsecutiveyearsw.e.f9th August, 2019

5) Re-appointment of Shri N. Ramanathan as an Independent Director of the   
Companyforasecondtermoffiveconsecutiveyearsw.e.f9th August, 2019

2017-2018 August 13, 2018   Nil

(c) Postal Ballot: 
	 TherewerenoresolutionspassedthroughPostalBallotduringthefinancialyear2020-2021.
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7. Related Party ransactions:

 There were no materially significant Related Party
Transactions made by the Company with its Promoters, 
Directors or their Relatives during the year, which may have 
potentialconflictwiththeinterestoftheCompanyatlarge.
The committee granted omnibus approval for the repetitive 
Related Party Transactions proposed to be entered into by 
the Company. On a periodic basis, the Audit Committee 
reviewed and approved Related Party Transactions. The 
details of transactions with related parties are disclosed 
in the financial statements. The Policy on Materiality of
Related Party Transactions in terms of provisions of Listing 
Regulations is uploaded on the website of the Company 
www.mukandengineers.com.

8.  Disclosure of Accounting reatment:

	 In the preparation of the financial statements, the
Company has followed the Accounting Standards 
referred to in Section 133 of the Companies Act, 2013. 
Thesignificantaccountingpolicieswhichareconsistently
applied are set out in the Notes to the Financial 
Statements.

9.  Vigil Mechanism / Whistle Blower Policy:

       Pursuant to Section 177 (9) and (10) of the Companies 
Act, 2013 and Regulation 22 of the Listing Regulations 
2015, the Company has formulated Whistle Blower 
Policy for Vigil Mechanism of Directors and Employees to 
report to the management about the unethical behaviour, 
fraud or violation of Company’s code of conduct. The 
mechanism provides for adequate safeguards against 
victimization of employees and Directors who use such 
mechanism and makes provision for direct access to 
the Chairman of the Audit Committee in exceptional 
cases. None of the personnel of the Company have 
been denied access to the Audit Committee. The Whistle 
Blower Policy is displayed on the Company’s website  
www.mukandengineers.com.

10.   ther Disclosures:
(a) The Company has complied with the requirements 

ofspecifiedinRegulations17to27andclause(b)
to (i) of Sub Regulations (2) of Regulation 46 of the 
Listing Regulations,2015, SEBI and other Statutory     
Authorities on all the matters relating to capital 
markets during the last three years. No penalties 
or    strictures have been imposed on the Company 
by the Stock Exchanges, SEBI or other Statutory 
Authorities relating to the above.

(b) The Company receives professional services in 
the normal course of business from M/s. Malvi 
Ranchoddas & Co., a legal firm in which Shri
Prakash V. Mehta is a partner. In the opinion of 
the Board, these transactions do not affect the 
independence of the said Director.

 The Company has given Inter Corporate Deposit of 
` 59.00 lacs with the interest rate of 9% p.a. to India 
ThermalPowerLimitedinthefinancialyear2020-
21 in which Shri R. Sankaran is a Non - Executive 
Director and Member. In the opinion of the Board, 
these transactions do not affect the independence 
of the said Director.  

(c)	 The process of identification and evaluation of
various risks inherent in the business environment 
and operations of the Company and initiation 
of appropriate measures for prevention and / 
or mitigation of the same is dealt with by the 
Operational head under the supervision of the 
“CEO” who has overall responsibility towards the 
Board of Directors of the Company.

(d) All Directors and Senior Management personnel 
haveaffirmedcompliancewiththecodeofconduct
for financial year 2020-21 as required under
regulation 26(3) of Listing Regulations, 2015.  
A declaration to this effect signed by the Chairman 
is given in this Annual Report.

(e) The Policy on determining “Material” Subsidiaries 
terms of provisions of Listing Regulations, 2015 
is uploaded on the website of the Company  
www.mukandengineers.com. There is no 
subsidiary, associate or joint venture Company.

(f) Disclosure as required by item 10(f) of Part C of 
Schedule V of the SEBI (LODR) Regulations 2015 
with respect to demat suspense account/unclaimed 
suspense account is not applicable to the Company.

(g) The Company has also instituted a Code of Conduct 
for Prevention of Insider Trading in the securities of 
the Company for its Directors and Key Managerial 
Personnel as required by SEBI (Prohibition of Insider 
Trading) Regulations, 2015 as amended. Further, 
the other policies / rules framed by the Company 
as required under Companies Act, 2013 and Listing 
Regulations, 2015 are also available of the website 
of the Company www.mukandengineers.com.

(h) Business risk evaluation by the management is 
an ongoing process within the Company. The 
assessment is periodically examined by the Board.

(i) Details of utilization of funds raised through 
preferential allotment or qualified institutions
placementasspecifiedunderRegulation32(7A).-
Not Applicable

(j) Where the board had not accepted any 
recommendation of any committee of the Board 
which is mandatorily required, in the relevant 
financialyear.NotApplicable

(k)  Mandatory Requirements
 The Company has fully adopted the mandatory 

requirements of all the Regulations of SEBI LODR, 
2015.

(l)  Non - Mandatory Requirements.
•	 Shareholders’rights:
 Company has not adopted the practice 

of sending out half - yearly declaration of 
Financial performance to shareholders 
Quarterly results as approved by the Board 
are disseminated to Stock Exchanges and 
updated on the website of the Company.

•	 AuditQualifications:
	 There are no modified opinions in Audit

Report.
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•	 ReportingofinternalAuditor:
 In accordance with the provisions of Section 

138 of the Companies Act, 2013, the 
Company has appointed an Internal Auditor 
who reports to the Audit Committee. Quarterly 
Internal Audit Reports are submitted to the 
Audit Committee which reviews the audit 
reports and suggests necessary action.

11. Means of ommunication:
 The quarterly un-audited and yearly Audited Financial 

results are published in English and regional language 
newspapers. The Financial Results, Shareholding Pattern 
and other Corporate Communication to Stock Exchanges 
arefiledincompliancewithRegulation30ofSEBI(LODR)
Regulations 2015 and also available on the website 
of the Company at www.mukandengineers.com. 
Likewise,thesaidinformationisalsofiledelectronically
with NSE through NEAPS portal. The Company has 
complied with filing submissions through BSE’sOnline
Portal. The Management Discussion and Analysis is a 
part of theAnnual Report.All financial and other vital
information is promptly communicated to the Stock 
Exchanges where the Company’s shares are listed.  
No Presentations was made to Institutional Investors or 
to the analysts.

12. Details of fees paid to Statutory Auditors:
 During the year, total fees for all services paid by the 

Company to the statutory auditors M/s K.K.Mankeshwar 
& Co. / M/s Bhushan Khot  & Co. and all entities in the 
networkfirm/networkentityofwhichtheStatutoryAuditor
is a part is as under:

(` in Lacs)

Particulars Paid by the 
ompany

Auditors’ Remuneration F.Y. 2020-21

- As Auditors 9.00

- For Taxation matters 0.90

- For other services 1.10

otal 11.00

13. Disclosures in relation to the Sexual arassment of 
Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and 
Redressal) Act, 2013:

 Duringthefinancialyear2020-21,nosexualharassment
complaints were filed or pending for disposal with
Company.

14.	 CEOandCFOCertification:
 The CEO and CFO of the Company have given the 

certificationonfinancialreportingandinternalcontrolsto
the Board in terms of Regulation 17(8) of SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015.TherequisitecertificatefromCEOandCFOofthe
Company is annexed hereto forms part of the report.

15.	 Certificate from Practising Company Secretary in
practice: 

 Mrs Ragini Chokshi of M/s. Ragini Chokshi & Associates, 
PracticingCompanySecretary, has issueda certificate
as required under the Listing Regulations, confirming
that none of the Directors on the Board of the Company 
hasbeendebarredordisqualifiedfrombeingappointed
or continuing as Director of Companies by the SEBI 
/ Ministry of Corporate Affairs or any such statutory 
authority.Thecertificateisannexedheretoformspartof
the report.

16.  S AUD
 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 148(1) of the 

Companies Act, 2013, cost records and cost Audit is not 
applicable to the Company.

17.  Green nitiative
 Pursuant to section 101 of the Companies Act, 2013 

read with Companies (Management and Administration) 
Rules, 2014 as amended, the Company can send Notice 
of Annual General Meeting, financial statements and
other Communication in electronics forms. This Company 
is sending the Annual Report including the Notice of 
Annual General Meeting, Audited Standalone Financial 
Statements, Directors Report, Auditors Report along with 
theirannexureetc.forthefinancialyear2020-21inthe
electronic mode to the shareholders who have registered 
their e-mail ids with the Company and/or their respective 
Depository Participates (DPs). 

 Shareholders who have not registered their e-mail 
addresses so far are requested to register their e-mail 
addresses. Those holding shares in demat form can 
register their e-mail addresses with their concerned 
DPs. Shareholders who hold shares in physical form 
are requested to register their e-mail addresses with 
the Company’s Registrar and Share Transfer Agent 
“Bigshare Services Private Limited”
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18. General nformation for Shareholders:

a. RegisteredOffice Bajaj Bhawan, Jamnalal Bajaj Marg, 
226, Nariman Point,
Mumbai - 400021.

b. Date, Time and Venue The AGM will be held on - 27th September, 2021 at 11:30 a.m.  
Since the meeting is held through Video Conferencing,  the deemed 
venue for 35thAGMshallbeRegisteredofficeoftheCompany.

c. Financial Year  1st April to 31st March

Reporting in the Financial alendar 2021-2022:

i Approval of audited annual results for the year 
ending 31st March, 2021

25th May, 2021

ii Annual General Meeting 27th September , 2021

iii Unauditedfirstquarterfinancialresults August, 2021

iv Unauditedsecondquarterfinancialresults November, 2021

v Unauditedthirdquarterfinancialresults February, 2022

vi Approval of audited annual results for the year 
ending 31st March, 2022

May, 2022

d. Dates of Book Closure 21st September, 2021 to 27th September, 2021.                                                                                  
(Both days  inclusive)

e. Listing Details For the year 2020-21, the listing fees payable to BSE & NSE have 
been paid in full.

f. Subsidiary Company There is no subsidiary, associate or joint venture Company

g. Suspension of trading in securities There was no suspension of trading in securities of the Company 
during the year under review.

h. Stock code

1. BSE Limited (BSE)
P.J. Towers, Dalal Street, Mumbai - 400 001.

532097

2. National Stock Exchange of India Limited (NSE)
Exchange Plaza, 5th Floor, Bandra-Kurla 
Complex, Bandra (E), Mumbai - 400 051.

 MUKANDENGG

3. ISIN INE 022B01014

4. Corporate Identity Number (CIN) L45200MH1987PLC042378
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 i. Stock Market Data              (in `)

Month
Bombay Stock xchange Ltd.  National Stock xchange of ndia Ltd. 

igh Price Low Price igh Price Low Price
Apr-2020 9.19 5.71 9.10 6.65
May-2020 8.07 6.57 8.05 6.30
June-2020 11.08 7.32 11.25 7.20
July-2020 10.00 6.83 10.00 7.50
Aug-2020 9.68 7.00 9.70 7.50
Sep-2020 11.62 8.24 11.80 8.25
Oct-2020 9.96 8.10 10.15 7.75
Nov-2020 13.02 7.75 13.10 8.00
Dec-2020 14.40 10.20 14.70 11.00
Jan-2021 15.52 11.56 15.45 11.55
Feb-2021 14.45 11.25 14.90 11.30
Mar-2021 16.98 12.75 17.75 12.65

  omparative Stock Price Performance:

  The Equity share prices of the Company on Bombay Stock Exchange in comparison with the Bombay Stock Exchange  
  Sensex for the period from 1st April, 2020 to 31st March, 2021 are given in the following graph:

j. Registrar and Share ransfer Agents
(For share transfers and other communication 
relatingtosharecertificates,dividendand
change of address, etc.)

Bigshare Services Pvt. Ltd.
1st Floor, Bharat Tin Works Building, Opp. Vasant Oasis,  
Makwana Road, Marol, Andheri(E), Mumbai-400059 
Tel : (022) 62638200. Fax : (022) 62638299
E-Mail : investor@bigshareonline.com
Website : www.bigshareonline.com

 Our Registrar & Transfer Agents M/s Bigshare Services Private Limited has launched Gen-Next Investor Module i’Boss the most 
advanced tool to interact with shareholders. Please login into i’Boss (www.bigshareonline.com) and help them to serve you 
better
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k.  Unclaimed Dividend / Shares
 Pursuant to the provisions of Section 124(5) of the Companies Act, 2013, if the dividend transferred to the Unpaid Dividend 

Account of the Company remains unpaid or unclaimed for a period of seven years from the date of such transfer then such 
unclaimed or unpaid dividend shall be transferred by the Company along with interest accrued, if any to the Investor Education 
and Protection Fund (‘the IEPF’), a fund established under sub-section (1) of section 125 of the Companies Act, 2013. The 
details of unclaimed/unpaid dividend are available on Company’s website viz. www.mukandengineers.com

l.  Mandatory ransfer of Shares to Demat Account of nvestors ducation and Protection Fund Authority (PFA) in case 
of unpaid/unclaimed dividend on shares for a consecutive period of seven years

 In terms of Section 124(6) of the Companies Act, 2013 read with Rule 6 of the Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority 
(Accounting, Audit, Transfer and Refund) Rules, 2016 (‘the Rules’), (as amended from time to time) (IEPF Rules) shares on 
which dividend has not been paid or claimed by a shareholder for a period of seven consecutive years or more shall be credited 
to the Demat Account of Investor Education and Protection Fund Authority (IEPFA) within a period of thirty days of such shares 
becomingduetobesotransferred.Upontransferofsuchshares,allbenefits(likebonus,etc.),ifany,accruingonsuchshares
shall also be credited to such Demat Account and the voting rights on such shares shall remain frozen till the rightful owner 
claims the shares. Shares which are transferred to the Demat Account of IEPFA can be claimed back by the shareholders from 
IEPFA by following the procedure prescribed under the IEPF Rules. As required under the IEPF Rules, the Company has also 
published a Notice informing the Members’ who have not claimed their shares for a period of 7 years to claim the same from the 
Company before they are transferred to IEPFA. 

 The Company has sent out individual communication to the concerned Members whose shares are liable to be transferred 
to IEPF requesting them, to take immediate action in the matter. As required under the IEPF Rules, the Company has also 
published a Notice informing the Members’ who have not claimed their dividend for a period of 7 years to claim the same from 
the Company before they are transferred to IEPF.

m.  Details of Unclaimed Dividend as on March 31, 2021 and due dates for transfer are as follows:

Sr. No. Year of Declaration 
of Dividend

Date of Declaration of 
Dividend

Unclaimed 
Amount (`) Due Date for transfer to PF Account

1. 2013-14 August 13, 2014 4,11,084 September 18, 2021
2. 2014-15 No Dividend Declared N.A. N.A.
3. 2015-16 No Dividend Declared N.A. N.A.
4. 2016-17 No Dividend Declared N.A. N.A.
5. 2017-18 No Dividend Declared N.A. N.A.
6. 2018-19 No Dividend Declared N.A. N.A.
7. 2019-20 No Dividend Declared N.A. N.A.

 ompliance with Secretarial Standards
 The Institute of Company Secretaries of India, a Statutory Body, has issued Secretarial Standards on various aspects of 

corporate law and practices. The Company has complied with each one of them.
n. Reconciliation of Share apital Audit Report
 AsstipulatedbySEBI,aqualifiedPracticingCompanySecretarycarriesoutSecretarialAudittoreconcilethetotaladmitted

capital with National Securities Depository Limited (NSDL) and Central Depository Services (India) Limited (CDSL) and the total 
issued and listed capital. This audit is carried out every quarter and the report thereon is submitted to the Stock Exchanges 
wheretheCompany’ssharesarelisted.TheauditconfirmsthatthetotalListedandPaid-upCapitalisinagreementwiththe
aggregate of the total number of shares in dematerialised form (held with NSDL and CDSL) and total number of shares in 
physical form.

o. Share ransfer System
 98.10 % of the equity shares of the Company are in electronic form. In terms of Regulation 40(1) of SEBI (Listing Obligations 

and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2015, as amended, securities can be transferred only in Dematerialized form w.e.f.  
April 1, 2019, except in case of request received for transmission or transposition of securities. Members holding shares in physical 
form are requested to consider converting their holdings to dematerialized form. Share transactions in electronic form can be 
effectedinamuchsimplerandfastermanner.Afteraconfirmationofasale/purchasetransactionfromthebroker,shareholders
should approach the Depository Participant (“DP”) with a request to debit or credit the account for the transaction. The DP will 
immediately arrange to complete the transaction by updating the account. There is no need for a separate communication to 
the Company to register these share transfers. Shareholders should communicate with Bigshare Services Private Limited, the 
Company’s Registrars and Transfer Agent (‘RTA’) quoting their folio number or Depository Participant ID (‘DP ID’) and Client ID 
number,foranyqueriestotheirsecurities.Requestsfordematerialisationofsharesareprocessedandconfirmationisgivento
the respective depositories i.e. NSDL and CDSL within 21 days.
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 During the year under review, the Company has followed the guidelines issued by SEBI for dematerialization of shares sent for 
transfer by the investors. Total numbers of shares transferred in physical category (non-dematerialized) during 2020-2021 were 
373 shares versus 909 shares during 2019-2020. There were no transfers which remained unattended as of March 31, 2021. 
The Board in their respective Board Meetings duly takes note of the transfers.

p.    Nomination

 Individual shareholders holding shares singly or jointly in physical form can nominate a person in whose name the shares shall 
be transferable in case of death of the registered shareholder(s). Nomination facility in respect of shares held in electronic 
form is also available with the Depository Participants as per the bye- laws and business rules applicable to NSDL and CDSL. 
Nomination forms can be obtained from the Company’s Registrar and Share Transfer Agent.

q.  nformation on Deviation from Accounting Standards, if any

	 TherehasbeennodeviationfromtheAccountingStandardsinpreparationofannualaccountsforthefinancialyear2020-21

r.  Distribution of Shareholding as on:

No. of
quity shares 

held

31st  March, 2021 31st  March, 2020

No. of 
Share

olders

% of
Share

olders

No. of 
Shares

eld

% of
Share 

olding

No. of 
Share

Holders

% of
Share

Holders

No. of 
Shares

Held

% of
Share

Holding

1-500 16,383 91.39 11,92,303 9.48 17,581 91.79 12,54,007 9.97

501-1000 755 4.21 6,28,176 5.00 769 4.01 6 ,42 ,566 5.11

1001-2000 378 2.11 5,87,402 4.67 369 1.92 5,75,931 4.58

2001-3000 142 0.79 3,63,122 2.89 151 0.79 3,84,110 3.06

3001-4000 66 0.37 2,34,876 1.87 73 0.38 2,59,951 2.07

4001-5000 53 0.30 2,51,830 2.00 49 0.26 2,33,424 1.86

5001-10000 77 0.43 5,36,849 4.27 92 0.48 6,53,416 5.19

10001-above 72 0.40 87,77,842 69.82 70 0.37 85,68,995 68.16

otal 17,926 100.00 1,25,72,400 100.00 19,154 100.00 1,25,72,400 100.00

s. ategories of Shareholding as on:

ategories
of Shareholder

31st  March, 2021 31st  March, 2020

No. of 
Share

olders

% of
Share

olders

No. of 
Shares

eld

% of
Share

olding

No. of 
Share

Holders

% of
Share

Holders

No. of 
Shares

Held

% of
Share

Holding

ndividuals 17,660 98.52 51,21,371 40.74 18,834 98.33 50,53,906 40.20

orporate 102 0.57 4,56,136 3.63 152 0.79 5,79,937 4.61

(PF) entral 
Government

1 0.01 1,21,064 0.96 1 0.01 1,02,287 0.82

Financial 
nstitutions

2 0.01 70 0.00 3 0.01 78 0.00

Fs 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0 0 0

NRs/Bs 115 0.64 1,54,475 1.23 119 0.62 1,14,708 0.91

Banks 5 0.03 388 0.00 6 0.03 588 0.00

Mutual Funds 1 0.01 400 0.00 1 0.01 400 0.00

rusts 10 0.06 87,698 0.70 11 0.06 89,698 0.72

Promoters 30 0.17 66,30,798 52.74 27 0.14 66,30,798 52.74

otal 17,926 100.00 1,25,72,400 100.00 19,154 100 1,25,72,400 100
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t. Dematerialisation of Shares and Liquidity 98.10 % of outstanding equity shares have been dematerialised up to March 
31, 2021. Trading in Equity Shares of the Company on any Stock Exchange is 
permittedonlyinthedematerialisedformfromJuly24,2000asperNotifications
Issued by SEBI.

u. OutstandingGDRs/ADRs/Warrants/
onvertible instruments and their impact 
on equity

Your Company does not have any outstanding GDRs/ADRs/Warrants/Convertible 
Instruments as on March 31, 2021.

v. Commodity price risk and hedging
activities.

TheCompanyisexposedtotheriskofpricefluctuationsofStoresandSpares.
The Company proactively manages these risks through inventory management 
and proactive vendor development practices The Company does not indulge in 
commodity hedging activities.

w. Plant Locations The Company has no plants but carries out jobs at various sites of customers.

x. nvestor orrespondence For any queries, investors are requested to get in touch with the Company’s 
Registrar and Share Transfer Agent:
Bigshare Services Private Limited
1stFloor,BharatTinWorksBuilding, Opp.VasantOasis,MakwanaRoad,Marol,
Andheri East, Mumbai-400059.
or
RegisteredOfficeoftheCompany:
Bajaj Bhawan, Jamnalal Bajaj Marg, 226 Nariman Point, Mumbai-400021.

y. Credit Rating issued by M/s Brickwork
Rating ndia Private Limited  

Fixed Deposit from Shareholders - BWR F 
(utlook - Credit watch with developing implication)
Cash Credit from Central Bank of India - BWR 
(utlook - Credit watch with developing implication)
B.G /L.C facilities from Central Bank of India - A4

z. Auditors Certificate of Corporate
Governance

TheCompanyhasobtainedacertificatefromtheMrs.RaginiChokshipartnerof
M/S Ragini Chokshi & Co, Practising Company Secretaries regarding compliance 
of conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the LODR Regulations 
with Stock Exchanges. This is annexed to the Directors’ Report.

n behalf of the Board of Directors

Rajesh V. Shah
 hairman

DN: 00021752
                  Mumbai, May 25, 2021
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DLARAN
CodeofConductCertificate

ThisistoconfirmthatfortheFinancialYear2020-21,allBoardMembersandSeniorManagementPersonnelhaveaffirmedcompliancewith
the Code of Conduct as laid down by the Company.

n behalf of the Board of Directors

  Rajesh V.Shah 
   hairman 
  Di - 00021752

Mumbai, May 25, 2021

CertificatebyChiefExecutiveOfficerandChiefFinancialOfficerundertheCompaniesAct,2013
(Pursuant to Regulation 17(8) of SB (Listing bligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015)
We,theundersigned,inourrespectivecapacitiesasChiefExecutiveOfficerandChiefFinancialOfficerofMukand ngineers Limited (“the 
Company”), to the best of our knowledge and belief certify that; 
(a)	 WehavereviewedthefinancialstatementsandthecashflowstatementfortheyearendedonMarch31,2021andthattothebestof

knowledge and belief, we state that: 
1)  These statements do not contain any materially untrue statement or omit any material fact or contain any statements that might be 

misleading; 
2)  These statements together present a true and fair view of the Company’s affairs and are in compliance with existing accounting 

standards, applicable laws and regulations. 
(b)  We further state that to the best of our knowledge and belief, no transactions entered into by the Company during the year, which are 

fraudulent, illegal, or violative of the Company’s code of conduct.
(c)	 Weareresponsibleforestablishingandmaintaininginternalcontrolsforfinancialreportingandthatwehaveevaluatedtheeffectiveness

ofinternalcontrolsystemsoftheCompanypertainingtofinancialreportingandhavedisclosedtotheAuditorsandtheAuditCommittee,
deficienciesinthedesignoroperationofsuchinternalcontrols,ifany,ofwhichweareawareandthestepswehavetakenorproposeto
taketorectifythesedeficiencies.

(d)  We have indicated to the Statutory Auditors and Audit Committee:
i.	 Significantchanges,ifany,intheinternalcontroloverfinancialreportingduringtheyear;
ii.	 Significantchanges,ifany,inaccountingpoliciesmadeduringtheyearandthatthesamehavebeendisclosedinthenotestothe

financialstatements;and
iii.	 Instancesofsignificant fraudofwhichwehavebecomeawareand the involvement therein, ifany,of themanagementoran

employeehavingasignificantroleintheCompany’sinternalcontrolsystemoverfinancialreporting.

K. P. Jotwani    R. G. Golatkar
Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Mumbai, May 25, 2021

VNG PARULARS 

VSN
(lectronic Voting Sequence Number)

210816018

Note: read the detailed instructions printed under the notes of the Notice dated May 25, 2021 for the 35th Annual General Meeting with 
regards to e-voting provided by the Company.
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SRARAL AUDR’S RFA N MPLAN W 
 NDNS F RPRA GVRNAN

[AS PR PRVSNS F APR V F SURS AND XANG BARD F NDA (LSNG BLGANS AND 
DSLSUR RQURMNS) RGULANS, 2015, AS AMNDD]

To,
he Members
Mukand ngineers Limited

We have examined the compliance of the conditions of Corporate Governance by MUKAND ENGINEERS LIMITED (‘the Company’) for 
thefinancialyearended31st March, 2021, as stipulated in Regulations 17 to 27, clauses (b) to (i) of sub-regulation (2) of Regulation 46 
and para C, D and E of Schedule V of the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (hereinafter referred to as “the SEBI Listing Regulations”).

The compliance of conditions of Corporate Governance is the responsibility of the management. Our examination was limited to 
procedures and implementation thereof, adopted by the Company for ensuring the compliance of the conditions of the Corporate 
Governance.ItisneitheranauditnoranexpressionofopiniononthefinancialstatementsoftheCompany.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us, we certify that the Company 
has complied with the conditions of Corporate Governance as stipulated in the SEBI Listing Regulations for the year ended  
31st March, 2021.

WefurtherstatethatsuchcomplianceisneitheranassuranceastothefutureviabilityoftheCompanynortheefficiencyoreffectiveness
with which the management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

 

 
For Ragini Chokshi & Co. 

(Company Secretaries)

Ragini Chokshi
Partner 

FCS No.: 2390
C .P. No.: 1436

UDIN : F002390C000368503
Mumbai, May 25, 2021
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SRARAL AUD RPR Directors' eport- Annexure-

Form No. MR - 3
Secretarial Audit Report

[Pursuant to section 204(1) of the Companies Act, 2013 
and Rule No. 9 of the Companies (Appointment and 

Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014]
FOR THE PERIOD FROM 01-04-2020 TO 31-03-2021

To,
The Members
MUKAND NGNRS LMD
Bajaj Bhawan,
226 Nariman Point,
Mumbai-400 021.
We have conducted the secretarial audit of the compliance 
of applicable statutory provisions and the adherence to good 
corporate practices by MUKAND NGNRS LMD 
(N: L45200M1987PL042378) (hereinafter called “the 
Company”). Secretarial Audit was conducted in a manner that 
provided us a reasonable basis for evaluating the corporate 
conducts/statutory compliances and expressing our opinion 
thereon. 
Based on our verification of the Company’s books, papers,
minute books, forms and returns filed and other records
maintained by the company and also the information 
providedbytheCompany,itsofficers,agentsandauthorized
representatives during the conduct of secretarial audit, we 
hereby report that in our opinion, the company has, during 
the audit period covering 1st April, 2020 to 31st March, 2021 
complied with the statutory provisions listed hereunder and 
also that the Company has proper Board-processes and 
compliance-mechanism in place to the extent, in the manner 
and subject to the reporting made hereinafter:
We have examined the books, papers, minute books, forms 
andreturnsfiledandotherrecordsmaintainedbytheCompany
for the audit period 1st April, 2020 to 31st March, 2021 according 
to the provisions of:
i. The Companies Act, 2013 (the Act) and the rules made 

thereunder;
ii. The Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956 (‘SCRA’) 

and the rules made thereunder;
iii. The Depositories Act, 1996 and the Regulations and Bye-

laws Framed thereunder;
iv. Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999 and the rules 

and regulations made thereunder to extent of Foreign 
Direct Investment, Overseas Direct Investment and 
External Commercial borrowings;(to the extent applicable)

v. The following Regulations and Guidelines prescribed 
under the Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 
1992 (‘SEBI Act’):-
a) The Securities and Exchange Board of India 

(Substantial Acquisition of Shares and Takeovers) 
Regulations, 2011;

b) The Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Prohibition of Insider Trading) Regulations, 2015;

c) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of 
Capital and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2018; 

d) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Share 
Based Employee Benefits) Regulations, 2014; (Not
Applicable to the Company during the Audit Period)

e) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue 
and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008;(Not 
applicable as the Company has not issued any debt 
securities during the period under review)

f) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Registrars 
to an Issue and Share Transfer Agents) Regulations, 
1993 regarding the Companies Act and dealing with 
client;(Not applicable as the Company is not registered 
as Registrar to an Issue and Share Transfer Agent 
duringthefinancialyearunderreview)

g) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Delisting 
of Equity Shares) Regulations, 2009; (Not applicable 
as the Company has not delisted its equity shares from 
any stock exchange during the period under review)

h) The Securities and Exchange Board of India (Buyback 
of Securities) Regulations, 2018; (Not applicable as 
the Company has not bought back any of its securities 
during the period under review)

i) Securities and Exchange Board of India (Depositories 
& Participants) Regulations, 2018; (To the extent 
applicable) 

We have relied on the representation made by the Company 
and its Officers for systems and mechanism formed by the
Company for compliances under other applicable Acts, Laws 
and Regulations to the Company.

We are of the opinion that the management has complied with 
thefollowinglawsspecificallyapplicabletotheCompany:

1. Industries (Development & Regulation) Act, 1951;

2. Labour Laws and other incidental laws;

3. Environment Protection Act, 1986 and other Environmental 
Laws;

4. The Legal Metrology Act, 2009;

5. Any other laws, Acts, Rules and Regulations as applicable 
tothecompany(otherthanspecificallymentioned)

BasedontheComplianceCertificatesobtainedbytheCompany
from the various functional heads and Factory Managers, we 
relied on the Compliances of the above mentioned statutes.

We have also examined compliance with the applicable 
clauses of the following:

a) Secretarial Standards i.e SS-1 & SS-2 issued by The 
Institute of Company Secretaries of India.

b) The Securities Exchange Board of India (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 
2015 and the Listing Agreements entered into by the 
Company with Stock Exchanges.

During the period under review the Company has complied 
with the provisions of the Act, Rules, Regulations, Guidelines, 
Standards, etc. mentioned above except the following:
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1. As per Sub Regulation 6 of Regulation 30 of SEBI (Listing 
Obligation and Disclosure Requirement) Regulations, 
2015, read with sub-para 4 of Para A of Schedule III, there 
was some delay in submitting the outcome/disclosure of 
Boardmeetingsheldduringthefinancialyear2020-21.

We further report that

The Board of Directors of the Company is duly constituted 
with proper balance of Executive Directors, Non-Executive 
Directors and Independent Directors. The changes in the 
composition of the Board of Directors that took place during 
the period under review were carried out in compliance with 
the provisions of the Act.

Adequate notice were given to all directors to schedule the 
Board Meetings, agenda and detailed notes on agenda were 
sent at least seven days in advance, and a system exists for 
seeking and obtaining further information and clarifications
on the agenda items before the meeting and for meaningful 
participation at the meeting.

All decisions of the Board and Committee meeting were carried 
with requisite majority. 

We further report that there are adequate systems and 
processes in the Company commensurate with the size and 
operations of the Company to monitor and ensure compliance 
with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines.

The Compliance by the company of applicable Financial Laws 
like Direct & Indirect Tax Laws, Goods and Service Tax has not 
been reviewed in the audit since the same has been subject to 
thereviewbythestatutoryfinancialauditandotherdesignated
professionals.

We further report that during the audit period, the company had 
nospecificeventsoractionswhichmighthaveabearingon
the company’s affairs in pursuance of the above referred laws, 
rules, regulations, guidelines, standards, etc. except following ;

1.	 TheCompanyhadfiledCompanySchemePetitionforits
merger with Mukand Ltd. seeking sanction of the NCLT, 
Mumbai Bench. The Scheme is pending approval of NCLT. 
Upon filing ofNCLTOrderwithRegistrar ofCompanies,
the Scheme shall become operative with effect from the 
appointed date (1st April,2019) and the company shall 
stand dissolved without winding up.

For Ragini hokshi & o.
ompany Secretaries

Ragini hokshi
Partner

Membership No: 2390
P No: 1436

    UDN: F002390000368657
Mumbai, May 25, 2021

This report is to be read with our letter of even date which is annexed as Annexure -1 and forms an integral part of this report.

ANEXURE - 1 TO SECRETARIAL AUDIT REPORT
To,
he Members
MUKAND NGNRS LMD
Bajaj Bhawan,
226 Nariman Point,
Mumbai-400 021.
Our report of even date is to be read along with this letter.
1. The maintenance of Secretarial record is the responsibility of the Management of the Company. Our responsibility is to express 

an opinion on these Secretarial records based on our audit.
2. We have followed the audit practices and processes as were appropriate to obtain reasonable assurance about the correctness 

ofthecontentsoftheSecretarialrecords.Theverificationwasdoneontestbasistoensurethatcorrectfactsarereflectedin
Secretarial records. We believe that the processes and practices, we followed provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

3.	 WehavenotverifiedthecorrectnessandappropriatenessoffinancialrecordsandBooksofAccountsoftheCompany.
4. Wherever required, we have obtained the Management representation about the compliance of laws, rules and regulations and 

happening of events etc.
5. The compliance of the provision of Corporate and other applicable laws, rules, regulations, standards is the responsibility of 

Management.Ourexaminationwaslimitedtotheverificationofproceduresontestbasis.
6.	 TheSecretarialAuditreportisneitheranassuranceastothefutureviabilityoftheCompanynoroftheefficacyoreffectiveness

with which the Management has conducted the affairs of the Company.

For Ragini hokshi & o.
ompany Secretaries

Ragini hokshi
Partner

Membership No: 2390
P No: 1436

    UDN: F002390000368657
Mumbai, May 25, 2021
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RFA F NN-DSQUALFAN F DRRS
(Pursuant to Regulation 34(3) and Schedule V Para C clause (10)(i) of the SEBI 

(Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015)

To,
The Members of 
MUKAND NGNRS LMD

We have examined the relevant registers, records, forms, returns and disclosures received from the Directors of MUKAND 
NGNRS LMDhavingCINL45200MH1987PLC042378andhavingregisteredofficeatBajajBhawan,226,NarimanPoint, 
Mumbai - 400 021 (hereinafter referred to as ‘the Company’) produced before us by the Company for the purpose of issuing this 
Certificate,inaccordancewithRegulation34(3)readwithScheduleVPara-CSubclause10(i)oftheSecuritiesExchangeBoardof
India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) Regulations, 2015.

Inmy/ouropinionandtothebestofmy/ourinformationandaccordingtotheverifications(includingDirectorsIdentificationNumber
(DIN) status at the portal (www.mca.gov.in) as considered necessary and explanations furnished to me / us by the Company & its 
officers,I/WeherebycertifythatnoneoftheDirectorsontheBoardoftheCompanyasstatedbelowfortheFinancialYearendingon
March31,2021havebeendebarredordisqualifiedfrombeingappointedorcontinuingasDirectorsofcompaniesbytheSecurities
and Exchange Board of India, Ministry of Corporate Affairs, or any such other Statutory Authority.

Sr. 
No.

Name of Director DN Date of Appointment in ompany

1. PRAKASH VASANTLAL MEHTA 00001366 19/08/1992

2. RAJESH VIREN SHAH 00021752 23/10/1989

3. NIRAJ RAMKRISHNAJI BAJAJ 00028261 27/07/1992

4. SANKARAN RADHAKRISHNAN 00381139 07/02/2012

5. NARAYANA RAMANATHAN 01566914 14/05/2007

6. ANNA USHA ABRAHAM 07072268 11/02/2015

Ensuring the eligibility for the appointment / continuity of every Director on the Board is the responsibility of the management of the 
Company.Ourresponsibilityistoexpressanopiniononthesebasedonourverification.Thiscertificateisneitheranassuranceasto
thefutureviabilityoftheCompanynoroftheefficiencyoreffectivenesswithwhichthemanagementhasconductedtheaffairsofthe
Company.

For Ragini hokshi & o
ompany Secretaries

Ragini hokshi
Partner

.P. No: 1436
FS No: 2390

UDN: F002390000268535
Mumbai, May 10, 2021 
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Directors' eport- Annexure-ompany’s Policies
Brief description of Company’s policies on I) Directors’ 
Appointment and Remuneration, determining criteria for 
qualification/independence, II) Remuneration for Directors,
Key Managerial Personnel III) Performance Evaluation of the 
Board, Committees and Directors, IV) Materiality of Related 
Party Transactions, V) Risk Management, VI) for Determining 
Material Subsidiaries and VII) Whistle Blower/Vigil Mechanism.

()  Policy on Directors’ appointment and Remuneration, 
determining criteria for qualification/independence,
etc.

i) The ‘Policy on the Board Diversity’ is formulated by 
the Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the 
Board of Directors of the Company

ii) The Committee, while recommending the 
appointment of Directors, is required to keep in 
view that the persons being recommended are 
persons of eminence having diverse experience 
and skills in areas such as profession, business, 
industry,finance,law,administration,researchetc.,
add value to the strategic needs of the Company 
and serve the governance. 

iii) Independence of Independent Directors:

 An independent director to meet the requirements 
of the Companies Act, 2013 and SEBI (Listing 
Obligations and Disclosure Requirements) 
Regulations, 2015 (SEBI LODR, 2015) concerning 
independence of Directors.

() Remuneration Policy for Directors, Key Managerial 
Personnel and other mployees

 i) ndependent Directors (Ds)

 IDs are paid -

a)  a sitting fee of ` 20,000 for every meeting 
of the Board or Audit Committee thereof 
attended by them as a member; and 

b)  a sitting fee of ` 10,000/- for every meeting 
of Committee of the Board other than that of 
Audit Committee.

ii) Key Managerial Personnel & ther mployees

 The objective of the Remuneration Policy is directed 
towards having a compensation philosophy and 
structure that will reward and retain talent. 

 The Company does not have stock option plans 
and hence such instruments do not form part of the 
remuneration package.

 Remuneration to Key Managerial Personnel and 
Senior Management involves a balance between 
fixed and incentive pay reflecting short and long
term performance objectives appropriate to the 
working of the Company and its goals. 

() Performance valuation 

 The criteria for evaluation for performance of the Board, 
its Directors and Committees are formulated by the 
Nomination & Remuneration Committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Company and are as above :

1. For Board & Committees of the Board

a. The Board will have requisite number of 
Independent Directors including a woman 
director as required under Companies Act, 
2013;

b. Frequency and Quality of Meetings and 
attendance thereat;

c. Discharge of the key functions and 
responsibility prescribed under Law;

d. Monitoring the effectiveness of corporate 
governance practices;

e. Ensuring the integrity of the Company’s 
accounting and financial reporting systems,
independent audit, internal audit and risk 
management systems (for Board and Audit 
Committee);

f.  Reviewing Management Performance.

2. For Directors

a. Pro-active and positive approach with regard 
to Board and Senior Management particularly 
the arrangements for management of risk and 
the steps needed to meet challenges from the 
competition;

b. Acting in good faith and in the interests of the 
Company as whole;

c.	 Capacity to effectively examine financial
and other information on operations of the 
Company and the ability to make positive 
contribution thereon.

(V) Policy on Materiality of Related Party ransactions

 All Related Party Transactions (RPTs) of the Company 
covered under the Companies Act, 2013 and Regulation 
23 of SEBI LODR, 2015 are to be approved by the Audit 
Committee of the Board from time to time.

 Consent of the Board and the Shareholders would be 
taken in respect of all RPTs, except in following cases:

a. Where the transactions are below the threshold limits 
specified in the CompaniesAct, 2013 & Rules framed
thereunder or the SEBI LODR, 2015 as may be 
applicable; or

b. Where the transactions are entered into by the Company 
in its ordinary course of business and are on an arms’ 
length basis; or

c. Where the transactions to be entered into individually 
or taken together with previous transactions during a 
financialyeardoesnotexceedtenpercentoftheannual
consolidated turnover of the Company as per the last 
auditedfinancialstatementsoftheCompany.

 Dealing with Related Party Transactions shall be in 
accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 & Rules 
thereunder, SEBI LODR, 2015 and other applicable 
provisions for the time being in force. The above policy 
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will be available on the website of the Company at  
www.mukandengineers.com

(V) Risk Management Policy of the ompany

	 The process of identification and evaluation of various
risks inherent in the business environment and the 
operations of the Company and initiation of appropriate 
measures for prevention and/or mitigation of the same 
are dealt with by the concerned operational heads under 
the overall supervision of the Chairman of the Company. 
The Audit Committee/Board periodically reviews the 
adequacy and efficacy of the overall riskmanagement
system.

(V) Policy for determining Material Subsidiaries 

 ‘Material subsidiary’ shall mean a subsidiary, whose  
income or net worth exceeds ten percent of the  
consolidated income or net worth respectively, of  
the Company and its subsidiaries in the 
immediately preceding accounting year. The 
above policy will be available on the website of the  
Company at www.mukandengineers.com.

(V)  Whistle Blower Policy/Vigil Mechanism

 The Director/Employee to address the complaint to any 
member of the Enforcement Committee along with the 
available details and evidence to the extent possible. In 
case, the complaint is received by a person, other than 
an enforcement committee member, the same is required 
to be forwarded by him to the Enforcement Committee. 

 The Whistle Blower is to be protected from any kind of 
discrimination, harassment, victimization or any other 
unfair employment practice. 

 The Enforcement Committee to investigate and decide 
the case and recommend action within four weeks to the 
Chairman.Thefinalactiontobetakenwillbedecidedby
the Chairman. 

 The Director in all cases and employee in appropriate 
or exceptional cases to have direct access with the 
Chairman of the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors of the Company. 

	 TheCompanyaffirmsthatnoemployeehasbeendenied
access to the Audit Committee. 

 The Enforcement Committee to report to the Chairman.

 n behalf of the Board of Directors

Rajesh V. Shah
 hairman

DN: 00021752
      Mumbai, May 25, 2021 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Members of Mukand Engineers Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the standalone Ind AS financial statements of Mukand Engineers Ltd (“the Company”), which comprises of the 
Balance Sheet as at 31st March, 2021, and the Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Income), the Cash 
Flow Statement and the Statement of Changes in Equity for the year then ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements, 
including a summary of the significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us,  the aforesaid standalone  financial 
statements give the information required by the Companies Act, 2013 (“the act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view 
in conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India including Indian Accounting Standards (“Ind AS”) specified 
under section 133 of the Act, of the state of affairs of the Company as at 31st March, 2021, and its profit (including other comprehensive 
income), its cash flows and the changes in equity for the year ended on that date.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under Section 143(10) of the Act. Our 
responsibilities under those SAs are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial 
statements under the provision of the Act and the Rules there under, and we have fulfilled our other ethic responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion on standalone financial statements.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

Attention to Note No. 44 We draw your attention to the Statement which states that the Company has incurred a net loss of ` 3,152.50 
lakhs (loss after tax) during the year ending 31st March, 2021 and as of that date, the Company’s current liabilities exceeded its total 
assets by ` 4063.86 lakhs and has accumulated losses amounting to ` 8191.62 (loss after tax) up to 31st March, 2021 resulting in to 
erosion of the Net Worth of the Company. During the period under review, Fund flow of the Company has been impacted on account 
of general slow-down in the business, which may also seriously impair Company’s financial position. This indicate that a material 
uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as going concern. However, keeping in mind 
the ongoing restructuring exercise by the Company, it is believed that the business will be able to generate sufficient profits in future to 
meet its financial obligations, these annual financial statements have been prepared using going concern basis of accounting.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters (‘KAM’) are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the standalone 
Ind AS financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the standalone financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be communicated in our report.
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Accuracy of revenues and onerous obligations in respect of fixed-price contracts
The Company inter alia engages in various fixed-price 
engineering contracts, for which revenue is recognized by the 
Company using the percentage of completion computed as 
per the Input method prescribed under Ind AS 115 Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers. The application of Ind AS 115 
involves certain key judgments relating to identification of distinct 
performance obligations, determination of transaction price of 
the identified performance obligations, the appropriateness of 
the basis used to measure revenue recognized over a period. 

The following factors requiring significant auditor attention: 

� High inherent risk around accuracy of revenue, given the 
customised and complex nature of these contracts and 
interdependence on performance of these contracts. 

� High estimation uncertainty relating to determination of 
the progress of each contract, costs incurred till date and 
additional costs required to complete the remaining contract. 

� Identification and determination of onerous contracts and 
related obligations. 

� Determination of unbilled revenue receivables and unearned 
revenue related to these contracts as at end of reporting 
period. 

Considering the materiality of the amounts involved, and 
significant degree of judgement and subjectivity involved in 
the estimates as mentioned above, we have identified revenue 
recognition for fixed price contracts and determination of 
onerous contracts and related provisions, as a key audit matter 
for the current year audit. 

Our audit work included but was not restricted to the following 
procedures: 
ØObtained an understanding of the systems, processes and 

controls implemented by management for recording and 
calculating revenue, and the associated unbilled revenue, 
unearned and deferred revenue balances, and onerous contract 
obligations. 

ØTested the design and operating effectiveness of related manual 
controls and involved auditor’s experts to assess key controls 
over: 

ØBusiness environment in which the business systems operate, 
including access controls, segregation of duties; 

ØTesting the controls over the completeness and accuracy of 
cost/efforts and revenue reports generated by the system; and 

ØTesting the access and application controls pertaining to 
allocation of resources and budgeting systems which prevents 
the unauthorized changes to recording of efforts incurred and 
controls relating to the estimation of contract efforts required to 
complete the project. 

ØSelected a sample of contracts and performed a retrospective 
review of efforts incurred with estimated efforts to identify 
significant variations and verify whether those variations have 
been considered in estimating the remaining efforts to complete 
the contract. 

ØReviewed a sample of contracts with unbilled revenues to identify 
possible delays in achieving milestones, which require change 
in estimated efforts to complete the remaining performance 
obligations.

ØPerformed analytical procedures for reasonableness of incurred 
and estimated efforts. contracts based on estimates tested as 
above.

Evaluated the appropriateness of disclosures made in the financial 
statements with respect to revenue recognized during the year as 
required by applicable Indian Accounting Standards.
ØFor Fixed price contracts, we have verified the measurement 

of revenue for the extent of delivery of performance obligations 
with the actual and estimated cost of efforts as per the projected 
budgets.

ØEvaluated the identification of performance obligations and the 
prescribed transaction.

ØTested the management’s computation of the estimation of 
contract costs and onerous  obligations, if any. 

ØWe performed analytical procedures as applicable for 
reasonableness of revenues disclosed and service offerings.

ØWe:  
ØAssessed that the estimates of costs to complete were reviewed 

and approved by appropriate designated management 
personnel;  

ØPerformed a retrospective analysis of costs incurred with 
estimated costs to identify significant variations and verified 
whether those variations are required to be considered in 
estimating the remaining costs to complete the contract; and  

ØInspected underlying documents and performed analytics to 
determine reasonableness of contract costs.

Based on the above stated procedures, no significant exceptions 
were noted in revenue recognition
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Key Audit Matters How our audit addressed the key audit matter
Evaluation of uncertain tax positions
The Company operates in multiple jurisdictions and is subject 
to periodic challenges by local tax authorities on a range of tax 
matters during the normal course of business including direct 
and indirect tax matters. This involves significant management 
judgment to determine the possible outcome of the uncertain tax 
positions, consequently having an impact on related accounting 
and disclosure in the financial statements.

Our audit procedures include the following substantive procedures:

� Obtained details of completed tax assessments and demands 
for the year ended March 31, 2021 from the management 
to understand management’s underlying assumptions in 
estimating the tax provision and the possible outcome of the 
disputes.

� Discussed with appropriate senior management and evaluated 
management’s underlying key assumptions in estimating the tax 
provisions.

� Legal precedence and other rulings in evaluating management’s 
position on these uncertain tax positions were also considered.

� We also considered the effect of new information in respect 
of uncertain tax positions as at April,2020 to evaluate whether 
any change was required to management’s position on these 
uncertainties.

� Read and analyzed select key correspondences, external legal 
opinions/consultations by managements for key uncertain tax 
positions.

Allowance for doubtful debts/ Provision for Expected Credit Loss
Allowance for doubtful debts was identified as key audit matter 
since- 

� Receivables comprise a significant portion of the liquid assets 
of the Company.

� There is an inherent risk around the accuracy of company’s 
trade receivables being fairly valued and adequately provided 
against where doubt exists.

� There is a risk of debtors being misstated and disclosures 
related to the same in the financial statements.

� Accordingly, the estimation of the allowance for trade 
receivables is a significant judgement area and is therefore 
considered a key audit matter.

Our audit work included but was not restricted to the following 
procedures:

� We assessed the validity of material long outstanding 
receivables by considering past payment history and unusual 
patterns to identify potentially impaired balances.

� The assessment of the appropriateness of the allowance for 
trade receivables comprised a variety of audit procedures 
including:

� Verifying the appropriateness and reasonableness of the 
assumptions applied in the management’s assessment of the 
receivables allowance.

� To address the risk of management bias, we evaluated the 
results of our procedures against audit procedures on other key 
balances to assess whether or not there was an indication of 
bias.

Information Other than Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report thereon 

The Company’s Board of Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included 
in the Company’s annual report but does not include the standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.  The Annual 
Report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this Auditor’s Report. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified above 
when it becomes available, and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the standalone 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the 
matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Standalone Financial Statements

The accompanying Standalone Financial Statements have been approved by the Company’s Board of Directors. The Company’s 
Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of the Companies Act, 2013  with respect to the preparation 
of these standalone Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance including 
other comprehensive income, cash flows and changes in equity of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles 
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generally accepted in India, including the Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS) prescribed under section 133 of the Act. 
This responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act 
for safeguarding the assets of the Company and for preventing 
and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection 
and application of appropriate accounting policies; making 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and 
design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring 
the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, 
relevant to the preparation and presentation of the standalone 
Ind AS financial statements that give a true and fair view and 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the standalone financial statements, management 
and Board of Directors are responsible for assessing the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, of has 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Board of Directors is also responsible for overseeing the 
company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial 
Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the standalone financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
of error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone 
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of 
the standalone financial statements, whether due to fraud 
of error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risks of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omission, 
misrepresentation, of the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstance. Under Section 143(3)
(i) of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our 
opinion on whether the company has adequate internal 

financial control with reference to standalone financial 
statements in place and the operating effectiveness of 
such controls.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the company ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
standalone financial statements or, if such disclosers are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are 
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the standalone financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the standalone financial 
statements represent the underlying transaction and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the standalone financial statements 
of the currents period and are therefore the key audit matter. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless  law 
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or 
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a 
matter should not be communicated in our report because 
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Other Matters :

1) Corresponding figures of the Company for the year 
ended 31st March 2020 have been audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion dated  
27th June,2020 on the standalone financial statements of 
the Company for the year ended 31st March 2020. Our 
opinion on the standalone financial statements is not 
modified in respect of the above matter.
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2) Due to the COVID-19 related restrictions imposed by the 
state government, we were unable to physically observe 
the verification of inventory that was carried out by the 
management of the company. Consequently, we have 
performed analytical audit procedures as an alternative 
to obtain comfort over the existence of inventory at 
year end as per the guidance provided in SA 501 “Audit 
Evidence - Specific Considerations for Selected items”. 
Analytical procedures include reconciling the inventory 
count performed by internal auditor with general ledger, 
testing item costs and high value items. Our opinion on 
the Ind as financial statements is not modified in respect 
of the above matter.

3) The company has accepted and advanced inter corporate 
deposits. The company has classified the same under 
current borrowings/Loans advanced as in the opinion 
of the management same will be matured/renewed with 
fresh terms within a period of 12 months.

4) The company recognizes in few contracts revenue 
from Contracts with Customer when the outcome of 
the contract is ascertained reliably instead of it to be 
recognized when a performance obligation is satisfied by 
transferring a promised service to the customer.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of aforesaid matter.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

1. As required by section 197(16) of the Act, based on our 
audit, we report that the Company has paid remuneration 
to its directors during the year in accordance with the 
provisions of and limits laid down under section 197 read 
with Schedule V to the Act.

2. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 
2016 (“the Order”) issued by the Central Government in 
terms of Section 143(11) of the Act, and on the basis of 
such checks of the books and records of the Company 
as we considered appropriate and according to the 
information and explanations given to us, we give in the 
“Annexure A” a statement on the matters specified in the 
paragraph 3 and 4 of the Order.

 Further to our comments in Annexure A, as required by 
section 143(3) of the Act, based on our audit, we report, 
to the extent applicable, that:

i. We have sought and obtained all the information 
and explanations which to the best of our knowledge 
and belief were necessary for the purposes of our 
audit.

ii. In our opinion, proper books of account as required 
by law have been kept by the Company so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books.

iii. The Standalone financial statements dealt with 
by this Report are in agreement with the relevant 
books of account

iv. In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone Ind 
AS financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards prescribed under section 
133 of the Act, read with Rule 7 of the Companies 
(Accounts) Rules, 2014.

v. On the basis of the written representations received 
from the directors as on 31st March 2021 taken 
on record by the Board of Directors, none of the 
directors is disqualified as on 31st March, 2021 from 
being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164(2) of the Act.

vi. With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial 
controls over financial reporting of the Company, and 
the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to 
our separate Report in “Annexure B”.

5) With respect to the other matters to be included in 
the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 11 of 
the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, as 
amended, in our opinion and to the best of our information 
and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending 
litigation as at 31 March 2021 on its financial 
position in its standalone financial statements- refer 
Note No. 30 to the standalone financial statements.

ii. The Company has made provision, as required 
under the applicable law or accounting standards, 
for material foreseeable losses, if any, on long-term 
contracts including derivatives contract.

iii. There has been no delay in transferring amounts, 
required to be transferred, to the Investor Education 
and Protection Fund by the Company. 

iv. The disclosures in the standalone financial 
statements regarding holding as well as dealings 
in specified bank notes during the period from 
8 November 2016 to 30 December 2016 have 
not been made in these standalone financial 
statements since they do not pertain to the financial 
year ended 31 March 2021.

For Bhushan Khot & Co.
Chartered Accountants

(Firm’s Registration No.116888W)
Bhushan Khot

(Partner)
Membership No. 101858

UDIN: 21101858AAAADE3809

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 25, 2021
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“ANNEXURE A” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
With reference to the Annexure A reference to in the 
Independent Auditor’s Report to the member of the Company 
on the standalone financial statements for the year ended  
31st March 2021, we report the following:
1. In respect of its Fixed Assets:

(a)  The Company has maintained proper records 
showing full particulars, including quantitative 
details and situation of property, plant and 
equipment.

(b) The Company has a regular Schedule of 
Physical Verification of its fixed assets performed 
by Management and Internal Auditors, by which 
all fixed assets are verified in a phased manner 
over a  period of three year. In our opinion, this 
periodicity of physical verification is reasonable 
having regards to the size of the Company and 
the nature of its assets. Pursuant to the Schedule 
of Physical Verification, certain fixed assets were 
physically verified existing in office during the year 
and no material discrepancies were noticed on 
such verification.

(c)  According to the information and explanation given 
to us and on the basis of our examination of the 
records of the Company, the Company does not 
hold any immovable properties in its name.

2 The inventory has been physically verified by the 
management during the year. In our opinion, the frequency 
of such verification is reasonable. The Company has 
maintained proper record of inventory. The discrepancies 
noticed on verification between the physical stock and 
the book record were not material.

3. According to information and explanations given to us 
and the records produced to us for our verification, the 
Company has granted unsecured loan to a company 
covered in the register maintained under Section 189 of 
the Act during the year. 
a)   In respect of the aforesaid loan, the terms and 

conditions of the grant of such loan are prima facie 
not prejudicial to the Company’s interest; 

b)   In respect of the aforesaid loan, the schedule of 
repayment of principal and payment of interest 
is stipulated and as at 31st March, 2021, no 
repayment of the principal and interest amounts, as 
stipulated is due; 

c)   In respect of the aforesaid loan, no amount is 
overdue for more than ninety days.

4. In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has yet to comply 
the provisions of Section 185 & 186 of the Act, with 
respect to the loan given, investments made guarantees 
and securities given.

5. In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us, the Company has generally 
complied with the directives issued by the Reserve Bank 
of India and the provisions of Sections 73 to 76 or any other 
provisions of the Act and the Companies (Acceptance of 
Deposits) Rules, 2014 to the extent notified, with regard 
to deposits accepted from the public. The Company not 
being an “Eligible Company” as defined in Companies 
(Acceptance of Deposits) Rules, 2014, sought and 
obtained the approval from the Company Law Board for 
extension in time limit for repayment of Public Deposits 
outstanding as on March 31 2015 on the respective due 
dates of maturity.

6. To the best of our knowledge and as explained the 
Central Government has not prescribed the maintenance 
of cost records under Section 148 of the Act for any of the 
services rendered by the Company.

7. In respect of Statutory Dues: 
(a)  According to the information and explanations given 

to us and the records of the Company examined by 
us, in our opinion, the Company is generally regular 
in depositing undisputed statutory dues including 
Provident Fund, Employee State Insurance 
Corporation (ESIC), Income Tax, Goods and 
Service Tax, Custom Duty, Cess and other material 
statutory dues applicable to it with the appropriate 
authorities. Some delays have been observed in 
the payment of Income Tax, Goods and Services 
Tax and Cess. As explained to us, there were no 
dues towards Custom Duty and Wealth Tax during 
the year. 

(b)  According to information and explanations given 
to us, there were no undisputed amounts payable 
in respect of Provident Fund, Employee State 
Insurance Corporation (ESIC), Income Tax, Goods 
and Service Tax, Cess and other material statutory 
dues in arrears as on 31st March, 2021 for a period 
of more than six months from the date they become 
payable. 

(c)  According to information and explanations given to 
us upon our enquiries in this regard and records 
of the Company, the following statutory dues in 
respect of Income Tax, Works Contract Tax, Entry 
Tax, Central Sales Tax Act,1956 and Service Tax as 
at 31st March, 2021 have not been deposited by the 
Company on account of dispute:
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Name of the Statue Nature of 
dues

Amount of 
Contingent 
Liabilities (In `)

Amount paid 
under Protest  
(In `)

Period
(Financial Year)

Forum where dispute is 
pending

The Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 86,22,250 Nil 2000-2001, 2001-2002 High Court of Bombay
The Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 13,09,112 Nil 1999-2000 Income Tax Appellate 

Tribunal
The Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 1,94,63,724 Nil 2013-2014, 2015-2016,

2016-2017
Commissioner of Income 
Tax-Appeal

The Income Tax Act, 1961 Income Tax 98,95,634 Nil 2002-2003 to 2012-2013 Income Tax Department 
Authorities

Sales Tax Act Works 
Contracts Tax

85,57,186 9,73,212 2001-2002 and 2002-2003 High Court-UP & Odisha

Sales Tax Act Works 
Contracts Tax

2,82,50,347 93,58,386 2001-2002 to 2004-2005, 
2011-12, 2012-13, 2014-15

Sales Tax Department 
Authorities

Sales Tax Act Entry Tax 16,27,173 8,16,000 1999-2000 to 2002-2003 High Court, Odisha
Sales Tax Act Entry Tax 1,97,835 70,000 2003-2004 and 1999-2000 Asst. Commissioner 

(Sales Tax) Odisha

8. In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanation given to us, the Company has not defaulted 
in the repayments of loans or borrowings to financial 
institutions, banks, government and The Company has 
not issued any debentures.

9. The Company did not raise any money by way of 
initial public offer or further public offer (including debt 
instruments) and term loans during the year. Accordingly, 
clause (ix) of paragraph 3 of the Order is not applicable.

10. Based on the audit procedures performed for the 
purpose of reporting the true and fair view of the financial 
statements and according to the information and 
explanations given by the Management, we report that 
no fraud by the Company or no fraud on the Company 
by the officers and employees of the Company has been 
noticed or reported during the year

11. To the best of our knowledge and according to the 
information and explanation given to us and based 
on examination of the record of the Company, the 
Company has paid / provided managerial remuneration 
in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by 
the provisions of Section 197 read with Scheduled V tot 
the Act.

12. According to the information and explanation given to us, 
in our opinion, the Company is not a Nidhi Company as 
prescribed under Section 406 of the Act.

13. According to the information and explanations given to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, transactions with the related parties are in 
compliance with Sections 177 and 188 of the Act, where 

applicable. The details of related party transactions have 
been disclosed in the financial statements as required by 
the applicable accounting standard.

14. According to the information and explanation given to 
us and based on our examination of the records of the 
Company, the Company has not made any preferential 
allotment or private placement of shares of fully or partly 
convertible debentures during the year, Accordingly, 
paragraph 3(xiv) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

15. According to the information and explanation given to 
us and based on our examination of the record of the 
Company, the Company has not entered into any non-
cash transaction with its directors or persons connected 
with him. Accordingly, Paragraph 3(xv) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

16. According to the information and explanation given to 
us, the Company is not required to be registered under 
Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank of India Act 1934.

For Bhushan Khot & Co.
Chartered Accountants

FRN 116888 W
CA Bhushan Khot

Partner
Membership No. 101858

UDIN: 21101858AAAADE3809

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 25, 2021
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“ANNEXURE B” TO INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

(Referred to in paragraph 1 A(f) under “Report on Other Legal 
and Regulatory Requirements “ section of our report of even 
date)
Independent Auditor’s Report on the Internal Financial 
Controls with reference to the standalone financial 
statements under Clause (i) of Sub-section 3 of Section 
143 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”)
In conjunction with our audit of the standalone financial 
statements of Mukand Engineers Limited ( the Company) as 
at and for the year ended 31 March 2021, we have audited the 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
of the Company as at that date. 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with 
Governance for Internal Financial Controls
The Company’s management is responsible for establishing 
and maintaining internal financial controls based on the 
internal financial control with reference to financial statements 
criteria established by the Company considering the essential 
components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note on 
Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (‘ICAI’). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation and 
maintenance of adequate internal financial controls that were 
operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient 
conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s 
policies, the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and 
detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness 
of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable 
financial information, as required under the Companies Act, 
2013.
Auditors Responsibility for the Audit of the Internal 
Financial Controls with Reference to Financial Statements 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
the Standards on Auditing issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (ICAI) prescribed under Section 143(10) 
of the Act, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements, and 
the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls 
Over Financial Reporting (the Guidance Note issued by the 
ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that 
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
were established and maintained and if such controls operated 
effectively in all material respects. .
Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the adequacy of the internal financial controls 
with reference to financial statements and their operating 
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements includes obtaining an 
understanding of such internal financial controls, assessing the 
risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating 
the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based 

on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the 
auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system 
with reference to financial statements.
Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with Reference to 
Financial Statements 
A company’s internal financial control with reference to financial 
statements is a process designed to provide reasonable 
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes 
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company’s internal financial control with reference to financial 
statements includes those policies and procedures that:
(1) Pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable 

detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; 

(2) Provide reasonable assurance that transactions are 
recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial 
statements in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures 
of the company are being made only in accordance 
with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and

(3) Provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention 
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a 
material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls Over 
Financial Reporting 
Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls 
with reference to financial statements, including the possibility 
of collusion or improper management override of controls, 
material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not 
be detected. Also, projections of any evaluation of the internal 
financial controls with reference to financial statements to 
future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial 
control with reference to financial statements may become 
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the 
degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may 
deteriorate.
Opinion 
In our opinion, the Company has, in all material aspects, have 
an adequate internal financial controls system over financial 
reporting and such internal financial controls over financial 
reporting were generally operating effectively as at 31st March, 
2021, exceptions
Internal Financial Controls over Sundry Creditors / Other 
Payables : In respect of Sundry Creditors / Other Payables , the 
company does not have strict payment & reconciliation policy 
of dues over a period of time resulting into Long outstanding of 
creditors overdue for significant longer period of time. 
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Internal Financial Controls over Sundry Debtors : In respect 
of Sundry Debtors arising in the normal course of business, 
the company does not have strict collection policy for recovery 
of dues resulting into long outstanding of debtors overdue for 
significant longer period of time. The provision for the debtors 
is estimated by Management and there is appropriate process 
or methodology applied by the company to ascertain provision 
on debtors, if any.

The above opinion is based on the internal control over financial 
reporting criteria established by the Company considering the 
essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance 
Note on Audit of Internal Financial Reporting issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India.

For Bhushan Khot & Co.
Chartered Accountants

(Firm’s Registration No.116888W)
Bhushan Khot

(Partner)
Membership No. 101858

UDIN: 21101858AAAADE3809

Place: Mumbai
Date: May 25, 2021
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 M, 2021

(` in lakhs)
Particulars Note

No.
As at

31st March, 2021
As at

31st March, 2020
I ASSETS

1 Non-current assets
(a) Property, plant and equipment 2  341.20  414.10 
(b) Financial Assets

i) Investments 3  -    -   
ii) Trade receivables 4  368.85  592.72 
iii) Others 5  270.44  430.99 

(c) Deferred tax assets (net) 6  473.94  415.92 
(d) Other non-current assets 7  2,608.60  2,612.96 
Total Non - Current Assets  4,063.03  4,466.69 

2 Current Assets
(a) Inventories 8  3,017.56  3,980.24 
(b) Financial Assets

i) Trade receivables 4  3,169.71  3,219.17 
ii) Unbilled Revenue 5  2,208.26  2,491.36 
iii) Cash and cash equivalents 9  60.99  72.37 
iv) Bank balances other than (ii) above 10  20.89  97.38 
v) Loans 11  509.00  459.00 
vi) Others 5  95.14  62.11 

(c) Other current assets 12  221.40  210.31 
Total Current Assets  9,302.95  10,591.94 

Total Assets  13,365.98  15,058.63 
II EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity
(a) Share capital 13  1,257.98  1,257.98 
(b) Other equity 14  (5,870.39)  (2,717.88)
Total Equity  (4,612.41)  (1,459.91)

LIABILITIES
1 Non-Current Liabilities

(a) Financial liabilities
i) Borrowings 15  -    47.86 
ii) Trade payables 18  215.08  247.47 
iii) Other financial Liabilities 19  2.14  2.14 

(b) Provisions 16  331.33  324.19 
Total Non -Current Liabilities  548.55  621.66 

2 Current liabilities
(a) Financial liabilities

i) Borrowings 17  11,097.10  9,673.60 
ii) Trade payables 18  3,091.63  3,659.82 
iii) Other financial liabilities 19  1,505.01  1,248.89 

(b) Other current liabilities 20  111.58  154.69 
(c) Provisions 16  157.52  89.46 
(d) Current tax liabilities(Net) 21  1,467.00  1,070.41 
Total Current Liabilities  17,429.84  15,896.86 

Total Equity and Liabilities  13,365.98  15,058.63 
Notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our attached report of even date
BHUSHAN KHOT RAJESH V. SHAH R. SANKARAN
Partner  Chairman Director
Membership No: 101858 DIN : 00021752 DIN : 00381139
For & on behalf of
BHUSHAN KHOT & CO K. P. JOTWANI R. G. GOLATKAR
Chartered Accountants Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Firm Registration No: 116888W
UDIN : 21101858AAAADE3809

D.J. VORA
Mumbai, May 25,2021 Company Secretary
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(` in lakhs)
Particulars Note

No.
For the Year Ended

31st March, 2021
For the Year Ended

31st March, 2020
I. Revenue from Operations 22  2,229.70  4,204.80 
II. Other Income 23  299.43  279.18 
III. Total Income (I + II)  2,529.13  4,483.98 
IV. Expenses:

Contract Execution Costs 24  1,066.68  2,881.12 
Changes in inventories of Finished Goods, Work-in-Progress and 
Stock-in-Trade

25  939.96  974.64 

Employee benefits expense 26  1,263.27  1,394.24 
Finance costs 27  1,346.11  1,264.23 
Depreciation and amortization expense 28  68.32  84.81 
Other Expenses 29  977.25  904.02 
Total Expenses (IV)  5,661.59  7,503.06 

V. Loss for the year before Exceptional Items and tax (III - IV)  (3,132.46)  (3,019.08)
VI. Exceptional Items (refer note no 29 (c))  -    -   
VII. Loss before tax (V - VI)  (3,132.46)  (3,019.08)
VIII. Tax Expense: 30

Current tax  -    -   
Deferred tax charge/(credit)  (37.72)  (0.96)

IX. Loss for the period (VII - VIII)  (3,094.74)  (3,018.12)
X. Other Comprehensive Income

(i) Items that will not be reclassified to Profit or Loss
(a) I.  Remeasurement of Defined Benefit scheme 41  (78.06)  (6.80)

II. Income tax effect  20.29  1.77 
(b) I.  Equity instruments designated at fair value through other  

comprehensive income
 -    (135.90)

(ii) Items that will be reclassified to Profit or Loss  -    -   
Other Comprehensive Income for the year (net of tax) (x)  (57.77)  (140.93)

XI. Total Comprehensive Income for the year (IX+X)  (3,152.51)  (3,159.05)
XII. Earnings per Equity Share of `10/- each: 31

Basic  (24.62)  (24.01)
Diluted  (24.62)  (24.01)

Notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our attached report of even date

BHUSHAN KHOT RAJESH V. SHAH R. SANKARAN
Partner  Chairman Director
Membership No: 101858 DIN : 00021752 DIN : 00381139
For & on behalf of
BHUSHAN KHOT & CO K. P. JOTWANI R. G. GOLATKAR
Chartered Accountants Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Firm Registration No: 116888W
UDIN : 21101858AAAADE3809

D.J. VORA
Mumbai, May 25,2021 Company Secretary

STATEMENT OF PROFIT AND LOSS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 M, 2021
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 M, 2021

 (` in lakhs)
Particulars Year ended

31st March, 2021
Year ended

31st March, 2020
CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Profit/(loss) before tax (3,132.46)  (3,019.08)
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation expense 68.32  84.81 
Finance Cost 1,346.11  1,264.23 
(Profit)/Loss on sale of investment/Assets -  46.00 
Loss on sale/discard of assets 5.07  16.71 
Interest Income (101.81)  (77.07)
Net gain on fair value changes of Preference shares -  (0.19)
Sundry Balances Written back (176.25)  (161.70) 
Operating profit before working capital changes (1,991.02)  (1,846.29)
Adjustments for:
(Increase)/Decrease in trade receivables  273.32  1,324.76 
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories 962.68  993.27 
(Increase)/Decrease in loans/bank 76.49  88.89 
(Increase)/Decrease in other financial assets 349.32  296.00 
(Increase)/Decrease in other current assets (6.73)  (98.56)
Increase/(Decrease) in trade payables (424.32)  (1,171.36)
Increase/(Decrease) in other financial liabilities (106.84)  (286.82)
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions 75.20  36.94 
Increase/(Decrease) in other current liabilities & others 275.43  115.17 

Cash generated from operations (516.46)  (548.00)
Income Tax paid  -    -   
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities (516.46)  (548.00)
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 (` in lakhs)
Particulars Year ended

31st March, 2021
Year ended

31st March, 2020
CASH FLOW FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Inflows
Sale proceeds of Investment -  194.70 
Sale proceeds of property, plant and equipment 0.04  1.20 
Interest received 163.11  62.26 

163.15  258.16 
Outflows
Loans / deposits given  (50.00)  (459.00)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (0.55)  (0.37)
Additions to Facilities at Customers Sites -  (0.98)

 (50.55)  (460.35)
Net cash Inflow/ (Outflow) from investing activities  (112.59)  (202.19)
CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Inflows
Proceeds from long-term borrowings - -
Proceeds from short-term borrowings(net) 1,031.70  2,213.66 

1,031.70  2,213.66 
Outflows
Repayment of long-term borrowings (47.86)  (439.66)
Interest paid (591.35)  (989.25)
Repayment of short-term borrowings - -

(639.21)  (1,428.91)
Net cash inflow (used in) financing activities 392.49  784.75 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (11.38)  34.56 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 72.37  37.81 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 60.99  72.37 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
Notes:
The cash flow statement has been prepared under the indirect method as set out in Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS 7 statement 
of cash flows).
This is the cash flow Statement referred to in our report of even date.

CASH FLOW STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 M, 2021 (Contd.)

Notes 1 to 45 form an integral part of the financial statements
As per our attached report of even date

BHUSHAN KHOT RAJESH V. SHAH R. SANKARAN
Partner  Chairman Director
Membership No: 101858 DIN : 00021752 DIN : 00381139
For & on behalf of
BHUSHAN KHOT & CO K. P. JOTWANI R. G. GOLATKAR
Chartered Accountants Chief Executive Officer Chief Financial Officer
Firm Registration No: 116888W
UDIN : 21101858AAAADE3809

D.J. VORA
Mumbai, May 25,2021 Company Secretary
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A. Equity share capital
(` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the reporting year  1,257.98  1,257.98 
Changes in Equity Share capital during the year  -    -   
Balance at the end of the reporting year  1,257.98  1,257.98 

B. Other Equity
(` in lakhs)

Particulars
Reserves and Surplus Equity instruments 

through other 
Comprehensive 

Income
TotalSecurities 

Premium
General 
Reserve

Retained 
Earnings

Balance as at 1st April, 2020  2,247.66  73.57  (5,039.11) -  (2,717.88)
Loss for the year FY20-21  -    -    (3,094.74)  -    (3,094.74)
Other comprehensive income  -    -    (57.77) -  (57.77)
Reclassification of Other 
Comprehensive Income to Retained 
Earning (Refer note 3)

 -    -   -  -   

Balance as at 31st March, 2021  2,247.66  73.57  (8,191.62) -  (5,870.39)

S  g  qu     31 M 2021
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Background of the Company

Mukand Engineers Limited is a Company limited by shares, 
incorporated and domiciled in India. The Company is 
predominantly engaged in to construction / erection business. 
The registered office of the Company is located at Bajaj 
Bhawan, Jamnalal Bajaj Marg 226, Nariman Point Mumbai. 
The Company is listed on the Bombay Stock Exchange (BSE) 
and the National Stock Exchange (NSE).

The financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021, 
were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for 
issue on May 25, 2021.

Note 1: Significant Accounting Policies followed by the 
Company

(a) Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with Ind AS

 These financial statements comply in all material 
aspects with Indian Accounting Standards (Ind AS) 
notified under section 133 of the Companies Act, 
2013 [Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015] and other relevant provisions of the 
Act, on accrual basis.

 This note provides a list of the significant 
accounting policies adopted in the preparation of 
these financial statements. The accounting policies 
are applied consistently to all the periods presented 
in the financial statements.

(ii) Historical cost convention

 The financial statements have been prepared on a 
historical cost basis, except for the following assets 
and liabilities which are measured at fair value or 
amortised cost:

i)  Certain financial assets and liabilities 

ii)  Assets held for sale-measured at fair value 
less cost to sell.

iii)  defined benefit plans - plan assets ;

 The financial statements are presented 
in Indian Rupees (‘INR’) which is also the 
Company’s functional and presentation 
currency and all values are rounded to nearest 
lakhs, except when otherwise indicated.

(iii) Current versus Non-current classification

 The Company presents assets and liabilities in 
the balance sheet based on current/non-current 
classification. An asset is treated as current when 
it is:

n Expected to be realized or intended to be sold 
or consumed in normal operating cycle i.e. 12 
months.

n Held primarily for purpose of trading

n Expected to be realized within twelve months 
after the reporting  period, or

n Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted 
from being exchanged or used to settle a 
liability for at least twelve months after the 
reporting period.

All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability is current when:

n It is expected to be settled in normal operating 
cycle i.e. 12 months.

n It is held primarily for purpose of trading

n It is due to be settled within twelve months 
after the reporting period, or

n There is no unconditional right to defer the 
settlement of the liability for at least twelve 
months after the reporting period.

All other liabilities are classified as non-current.

(b) Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE)
 All items of property, plant and equipment are stated at 

cost less depreciation and impairment, if any. Historical 
cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of the items. Cost includes its purchase 
price including non cenvatable taxes and duties, directly 
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its present 
location and condition and initial estimate of costs of 
dismantling and removing the item and restoring the site 
on which it is located. 

 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying 
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Company and the 
cost of the item can be measured reliably.

 The carrying amount of any component accounted for 
as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All 
other repairs and maintenance are charged to statement 
of profit or loss during the reporting period in which they 
are incurred. 

 Machinery spares, stand-by equipment and servicing 
equipment are recognised as PPE when they meet the 
definition of PPE. Otherwise, such items are classified as 
inventory.

 Capital work- in- progress includes cost of property, plant 
and equipment under installation / under development as 
at the balance sheet date.

 Depreciation methods, estimated useful lives and 
residual value

 Depreciation on property, plant & equipment has been 
provided on straight line method based on the useful 
life specified in Schedule II of the Companies Act, 2013 
except where management estimate of useful life is 
different.
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 Depreciation commences when the assets are ready for 
their intended use.

 Based on an independent technical evaluation, the 
useful life of Office Equipment has been estimated 20 
years (on a single shift basis), which is different from that 
prescribed in Schedule II of the Act.

 The residual values are not more than 5% of the original 
cost of the asset. The assets residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing net disposal proceeds with carrying amount. 
These are included in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(c) Intangible Assets

 Intangible assets that are acquired by the Company, 
which have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Cost includes expenditures that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the intangible asset.

 Amortisation

 Intangible assets are amortised on straight line basis 
over the estimated useful life. The method of amortisation 
and useful life is reviewed at the end of each accounting 
year with the effect of any changes in the estimate being 
accounted for on a prospective basis.

 Currently it is amortised over a period of five years.

 Gains and losses on disposals are determined by 
comparing net disposal proceeds with carrying amount. 
These are included in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

(d) Leases

 Operating Lease

 The Company has  used the practical expedient provided 
by the standard when applying Ind AS 116 . The Company 
has entered into short term lease contracts for which Ind 
As 116 has specified a simplified approach. A short term 
lease is a lease that, at the date of commencement, has a 
term of 12 months or less. Company has elected to treat 
short- term leases by recognizing the lease rentals as an 
expense over the lease term rather than recognizing a 
“right of use asset” and a “lease liability” in accordance 
with Ind As 116.

(e) Borrowing cost

 General and specific borrowing costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of a qualifying asset are capitalised during the period 
of time that is required to complete and prepare the 
asset for its intended use. Qualifying assets are assets 
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get 
ready for their intended use. Other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

(f) Impairment of Non-financial assets

 The Company assesses, at each reporting date, whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any indication exists, the Company estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. An asset’s recoverable amount is 
the higher of an asset’s or cash-generating units (CGU) 
fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. For 
the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped 
at the lowest levels for which there are separately 
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or group of assets 
(cash-generating units). Where the carrying amount of 
an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to its 
recoverable amount. 

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows 
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
In determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account, if available. 
If no such transactions can be identified, an appropriate 
valuation model is used. After impairment, depreciation/
amortisation is provided on the revised carrying amount 
of the asset over its remaining useful life.

(g) Financial instruments

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

(I) Financial Assets

 Financial assets are recognized when the Company 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of 
the instrument. The Company classifies its financial 
assets in the following measurement categories:

n those to be measured subsequently at fair 
value (either through other comprehensive 
income, or through profit or loss), and

n Those to be measured at amortised cost.

 The classification depends on the Company’s 
business model for managing the financial assets 
and contractual terms of the cash flows. The 
Company’s business model for managing financial 
assets refers to how it manages its financial 
assets to generate cash flows. The business 
model determines whether cash flows will result 
from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the 
financial assets or both.

 Initial Recognition & Measurement

 All financial assets are recognised initially at 
fair value plus, in the case of financial assets 
not recorded at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are attributable to the 
acquisition of the financial asset.
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 Subsequent Measurement

 For purposes of subsequent measurement financial 
assets are classified in following categories:
n Debt instruments at fair value through profit 

and loss (FVTPL)
n Debt instruments at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (FVTOCI)
n Debt instruments at amortised cost
n Equity instruments (either through profit and 

loss or through other comprehensive income, 
if designated)

 Where assets are measured at fair value, gains 
and losses are either recognised entirely in 
the statement of profit and loss (i.e. fair value 
through profit or loss), or recognised in other 
comprehensive income (i.e. fair value through other 
comprehensive income). For investment in debt 
instruments, this will depend on the business model 
in which the investment is held. For investment in 
equity instruments, this will depend on whether 
the Company has made an irrevocable election at 
the time of initial recognition to account for equity 
instruments at FVTOCI.

 Debt instruments at amortised cost
 A Debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if 

both the following conditions are met:
a)  Business Model Test: The objective is 

to hold the debt instrument to collect the 
contractual cash flows (rather than to sell the 
instrument prior to its contractual maturity to 
realize its fair value changes).

b)  Cash flow characteristics test: The 
contractual terms of the debt instrument give 
rise on specific dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on 
principal amount outstanding.

 After initial measurement, such financial 
assets are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR) method. Amortised cost is 
calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs 
that are an integral part of EIR. EIR is the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future 
cash receipts over the expected life of the 
financial instrument or a shorter period, where 
appropriate, to the gross carrying amount of 
the financial asset.

 Debt instruments at fair value through OCI
 A Debt instrument is measured at fair value through 

other comprehensive income if following criteria are 
met:

a)  Business Model Test: The objective of 
financial instrument is achieved by both 
collecting contractual cash flows and for 
selling financial assets.

b)  Cash flow characteristics test: The 
contractual terms of the debt instrument give 
rise on specific dates to cash flows that are 
solely payments of principal and interest on 
principal amount outstanding.

 Debt instrument included within the FVTOCI 
category are measured initially as well as at 
each reporting date at fair value. Fair value 
movements are recognised in the other 
comprehensive income (OCI), except for the 
recognition of interest income, impairment 
gains or losses and foreign exchange gains 
or losses which are recognised in statement 
of profit and loss. On derecognition of 
asset, cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in OCI is reclassified from the 
equity to statement of profit & loss. Interest 
earned whilst holding FVTOCI financial asset 
is reported as interest income using the EIR 
method.

 Debt instruments at FVTPL

 FVTPL is a residual category for financial 
instruments. Any financial instrument which does 
not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVTOCI 
is classified as at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a Debt 
instrument that is subsequently measured at 
FVTPL and is not a part of a hedging relationship 
is recognised in statement of profit or loss and 
presented net in the statement of profit and loss 
within other gains or losses in the period in which it 
arises. Interest income from these Debt instruments 
is included in other income.

 Equity Instruments

 For all equity instruments, the Company may 
make an irrevocable election to present in other 
comprehensive income all subsequent changes 
in the fair value. The Company makes such 
election on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is 
irrevocable.

 If the Company decides to classify an equity 
instrument as at FVTOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, 
are recognised in the OCI. There is no recycling 
of the amounts from OCI to profit and loss, even 
on sale of investment. However, the Company 
may transfer the cumulative gain or loss within 
equity. Equity instruments included within the 
FVTPL category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognised in the Profit and loss.
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 Reclassification of financial assets

 The Company normally does not reclassify 
its financial assets subsequent to their initial 
recognition, apart from the exceptional 
circumstances in which the Company changes its 
business model. Changes to the business model are 
expected to be infrequent. Such reclassifications 
are given prospective impact as per the principles 
laid down in Ind AS 109 ‘Financial Instruments’.

 Derecognition of financial assets

 The Company de-recognises a financial asset only 
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 
the asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset 
and substantially all risks and rewards of ownership 
of the asset to another entity.  

 If the Company neither transfers nor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
and continues to control the transferred asset, the 
Company recognises its retained interest in the 
assets and an associated liability for amounts it 
may have to pay.  

 If the Company retains substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial 
asset, the Company continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised 
borrowing for the proceeds received.

 Impairment of financial assets

 The Company assesses on a forward-looking 
basis, the expected credit losses associated with 
its financial assets carried at amortised cost and 
fair value through other comprehensive income. 
The impairment methodology applied depends on 
whether there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk and if so, assess the need to provide for 
the same in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

 The Company recognises life time expected credit 
losses for all trade receivables that do not constitute 
a financing transaction.  For financial assets whose 
credit risk has not significantly increased since 
initial recognition, loss allowance equal to twelve 
months expected credit losses is recognised. Loss 
allowance equal to the lifetime expected credit 
losses is recognised if the credit risk on the financial 
instruments has significantly increased since initial 
recognition. 

(II) Equity & Financial Liabilities

 Debt and equity instruments issued by an entity are 
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual 
arrangements and the definitions of a financial 
liability and an equity instrument.

(i) Equity Instruments:

 An equity instrument is any contract that 
evidences a residual interest in the assets 
of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. 
Equity instruments issued by the Company 
are recognised at the proceeds received, net 
of direct issue costs.

(ii) Financial liabilities:

 Initial recognition and measurement:

 Financial liabilities are initially recognised 
at fair value plus any transaction costs that 
are attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial liabilities except financial liabilities 
at FVTPL which are initially measured at fair 
value.         

 Subsequent measurement:

 The financial liabilities are classified for 
subsequent measurement into following 
categories:

n At amortised cost

n At fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL)

 Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

 The Company is classifying the following 
under amortised cost;

n Borrowings from banks

n Borrowings from others

n Finance lease liabilities

n Trade payables

 Amortised cost for financial liabilities 
represents amount at which financial liability 
is measured at initial recognition minus the 
principal repayments, plus or minus the 
cumulative amortisation using the effective 
interest method of any difference between 
that initial amount and the maturity amount.

 Financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss:

 Financial liabilities held for trading are 
measured at FVTPL.                                                                 

 Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at 
fair value with any gains or losses arising on 
remeasurement, recognised in profit or loss. 
The net gain or loss recognised in profit or 
loss incorporates any interest paid on the 
financial liability and is included in the ‘other 
gains and losses’ line item.

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021



~MUKAND
IImII ENGINEERS

57

 Derecognition of financial liabilities:

 A financial liability is removed from the balance 
sheet when the obligation is discharged, or is 
cancelled, or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, 
such an exchange or modification is treated as 
the derecognition of the original liability and the 
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the 
respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss.

(III) Financial guarantees contracts :

 Financial guarantee contracts issued by the 
Company are those contracts that require a 
payment to be made to reimburse the holder for 
a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails 
to make a payment when due in accordance with 
the terms of a debt instrument. Financial guarantee 
contracts are recognised initially as a liability at fair 
value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. 
Subsequently, the liability is measured at the higher 
of the amount of loss allowance determined as per 
impairment requirements of Ind AS109 and the 
amount recognised less cumulative amortisation.

(IV) Derivative financial instruments
 Derivative financial instruments such as forward 

contracts are taken by the Company to hedge its 
foreign currency risks, are initially recognised at fair 
value on the date a derivative contract is entered 
into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair 
value with changes in fair value recognised in the 
Statement of Profit and Loss in the period when 
they arise (other than in case of hedge accounting).

(V) Offsetting of financial instruments
 Financials assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount is reported in the balance sheet 
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, to realize the assets and settle 
the liabilities simultaneously.

(h) Fair value measurement:
 The Company measures financial instruments, such as, 

certain investments at fair value at each balance sheet 
date.

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an 
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 
The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability 
takes place either:
n In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
n In the absence of a principal market, in the most 

advantageous market for the asset or liability.

 The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using 
the assumptions that market participants would use 
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest.

 All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured 
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, 
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole:

n Level 1 - Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities

n Level 2 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable

n Level 3 - Valuation techniques for which the lowest 
level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

(i) Inventories

 Inventories comprise all costs of purchase, conversion 
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to 
their present location and condition. 

 Raw materials, work-in-progress, finished goods and 
traded goods are carried at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. Cost is determined on the basis of the 
weighted average method. 

 Inventories also comprise engineering contract costs 
(work in progress) where costs incurred are accumulated 
until revenue recognition criteria is met.

 The net realisable value of work-in-progress is 
determined with reference to the estimated selling price 
less estimated cost of completion and estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale of related finished goods. 
Raw materials held for the production of finished goods 
are not written down below cost except in case where 
material prices have declined and it is estimated that the 
cost of the finished product will exceed its net realisable 
value.

(j) Taxes

 The income tax expense or credit for the period is the 
tax payable on the current period’s taxable income based 
on the applicable income tax rate adjusted by changes 
in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

 The Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using 
the Indian tax rates and laws that have been enacted by 
the reporting date. The Company periodically evaluates 
positions taken in the tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject 
to interpretations and provisions where appropriate.

 Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability 
method on temporary differences arising between the 
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tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amount in the financial statement. Deferred income 
tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have 
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the 
reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred income tax assets is realised or the 
deferred income tax liability is settled.

 Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences and unused tax losses, only if, it is 
probable that future taxable amounts will be available to 
utilise those temporary differences and losses.

 Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there 
is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate 
to the same taxation authority. Current tax assets and 
tax liabilities are offset where the Company has a legally 
enforceable right to offset and intends either to settle on 
a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

 Current and deferred tax is recognised in the Statement 
of Profit and Loss, except to the extent that it relates 
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or 
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised 
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.

 Minimum Alternate Tax credit is recognised as deferred 
tax asset only when and to the extent there is convincing 
evidence that the Company will pay normal income tax 
during the specified period. Such asset is reviewed at 
each Balance Sheet date and the carrying amount of 
the MAT credit asset is written down to the extent there 
is no longer a convincing evidence to the effect that the 
Company will pay normal income tax during the specified 
period.

(k) Provisions and Contingencies

 Provisions

 A provision is recognised when the Company has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. These estimates are reviewed 
at each reporting date and adjusted to reflect the current 
best estimates.

 If the effect of the time value of money is material, 
provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate 
that reflects, when appropriate, the risks specific to the 
liability. When discounting is used, the increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a 
finance cost.

 A provision for onerous contracts is recognized when 
the expected benefits to be derived by the Company 
from a contract are lower than the unavoidable cost 

of meeting its obligations under the contract. The 
provision is measured at the present value of the lower 
of the expected cost of terminating the contract and the 
expected net cost of continuing with the contract. Before 
a provision is established, the Company recognizes 
any impairment loss on the assets associated with that 
contract.

 Contingent liabilities & contingent assets

 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises 
from past events whose existence will be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain 
future events beyond the control of the Company or a 
present obligation that is not recognised because it is not 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to 
settle the obligation. A contingent liability also arises in 
extremely rare cases, where there is a liability that cannot 
be recognised because it cannot be measured reliably. 
The Company does not recognize a contingent liability 
but discloses its existence in the financial statements 
unless the probability of outflow of resources is remote.

 Contingent assets are not recognized in the financial 
statements. If the inflow of economic benefits is probable, 
then it is disclosed in the financial statements.

 Provisions, contingent liabilities, contingent assets and 
commitments are reviewed at each balance sheet date.

(l) Employee Benefits

(i) Short-term obligations 

 Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits that are expected to be settled 
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in 
which the employees render the related service are 
recognised in respect of employees’ services up to 
the end of the reporting period and are measured at 
the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled.

(ii) Other long-term employee benefit obligations

 The liabilities for compensated absences that 
are not expected to be settled wholly within 12 
months are measured as the present value of 
expected future payments to be made in respect 
of services provided by employees up to the end of 
the reporting period using the projected unit credit 
method. Remeasurements as a result of experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions 
are recognised in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

 The obligations are presented as current liabilities 
in the balance sheet if the entity does not have 
any unconditional right to defer settlement for 
at least 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period, regardless of when the actual settlement is 
expected to occur.
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(iii) Post-employment obligations

 The Company operates the following post-
employment schemes:

(a)  defined benefit plans such as gratuity and

(b) defined contribution plans such as 
superannuation scheme, provident fund.

 Gratuity Obligations

 The gratuity liability as per the Payment of Gratuity 
Act, 1972 for Permanent Employees is funded with 
the Life Insurance Corporation of India. 

 The liability or asset recognised in the balance 
sheet in respect of defined benefit gratuity plans is 
the present value of the defined benefit obligation 
at the end of the reporting period less the fair value 
of plan assets. The defined benefit obligation is 
calculated annually by actuaries using the projected 
unit credit method.

 The present value of the defined benefit obligation 
is determined by discounting the estimated future 
cash outflows by reference to market yields at the 
end of the reporting period on government bonds 
that have terms approximating to the terms of the 
related obligation.

 The net interest cost is calculated by applying the 
discount rate to the net balance of the defined 
benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. 
This cost is included in employee benefit expense 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss.

 Remeasurement gains and losses arising from 
experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions are recognised in the period in which 
they occur, directly in other comprehensive income.

 Defined Contribution plans

 Defined Contribution Plans such as superannuation 
scheme, provident fund are charged to the 
Statement of Profit and Loss as an expense, 
when an employee renders the related services. 
If the contribution payable to scheme for service 
received before the balance sheet date exceeds 
the contribution already paid, the deficit payable to 
the scheme is recognised as liability after deducting 
the contribution already paid. If the contribution 
already paid exceeds the contribution due for 
services received before the balance sheet date, 
then excess is recognised as an asset.

 Superannuation

 Defined Contribution to superannuation fund is 
being made as per the scheme of the Company and 
recognised as expense as and when due.

 Provident Fund Contributions

 Provident fund contributions are made to 
Government Provident Fund Authority. The 
contributions are accounted  as employee benefit 
expense when they are due. 

 Employees Pension Scheme 1995

 Defined contribution to Employees Pension 
Scheme 1995 is made to Government Provident 
Fund Authority and recognised as expense as and 
when due. 

(m) Segment Reporting

 Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent 
with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision maker. The chief operational decision maker 
monitors the operating results of its business Segments 
separately for the purpose of making decision about 
the resources allocation and performance assessment. 
Segment performance is evaluated based on the profit or 
loss and is measured consistently with profit or loss in the 
financial statements. The operating segments have been 
identified on the basis of the nature of products/ services.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

 For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, 
demand deposits with banks, other short-term highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months 
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of 
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

(o) Cash flow statement 

 Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, 
whereby profit / (loss) before extraordinary items and 
tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions of non-cash 
nature and any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash flows from operating, 
investing and financing activities of the Company are 
segregated based on the available information.

(p) Earnings per share

 Basic earnings per share 

 Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing:

n the profit attributable  to owners of the Company

n by the weighted average number of equity shares 
outstanding during the financial year.

 Diluted earnings per share

 Diluted earnings per share adjust the figures used in the 
determination of basic earnings per share to take into 
account:
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n the after income tax effect of interest and other 
financing costs associated with dilutive potential 
equity shares, and

n the weighted average number of additional equity 
shares that would have been outstanding assuming 
the conversion of all dilutive potential equity shares.

(q) Non-current assets held for sale

 The Company classifies non-current assets as held sale 
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally 
through a sale rather than through continuing use. 
Such non-current assets classified as held for sale are 
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and fair 
value less costs to sell. Any expected loss is recognised 
immediately in the statement of profit and loss.

 The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as 
met only when the sale is highly probable i.e. an active 
program to locate a buyer to complete the plan has 
been initiated and the asset is available for immediate 
sale in its present condition and the assets must have 
actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable 
in relation to its current fair value. Actions required to 
complete the sale should indicate that it is unlikely that 
significant changes to that plan to sale these assets will 
be made. Management must be committed to the sale, 
which should be expected to qualify for recognition 
as a completed sale within one year from the date of 
classification.

 Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets once 
classified as held for sale are not depreciated or amortised. 
Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale are presented 
separately as current items in the balance sheet.

(r) Dividend distribution to equity shareholders

 Dividend distributed to Equity shareholders is recognised 
as distribution to owners of capital in the Statement of 
Changes in Equity, in the period in which it is paid.

(s) Foreign currencies

 The financial statements are presented in Indian rupee 
(INR), which is Company’s functional and presentation 
currency.

 Transactions in foreign currencies are recognised at 
the prevailing exchange rates on the transaction dates. 
Realised gains  or losses on settlement of foreign 
currency transactions are recognised in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss.

 Monetary foreign currency assets and liabilities at the 
year-end are translated at the year-end exchange rates 
and the resultant exchange differences are recognised 
in the Statement of Profit and Loss. Non-monetary 
items denominated in a foreign currency and measured 
at historical cost are translated at the exchange rate 
prevalent at the date of transaction.

(t) Revenue Recognition

 Engineering construction business:

 Revenue from construction/project related activity 
and contracts for supply/ commissioning of plant and 
equipment is recognised only to the extent of cost 
incurred till such time the outcome of the job cannot 
be ascertained reliably (5% to 15% depending upon 
the contract) subject to condition that it is probable that 
such cost will be recoverable. When the outcome of 
the contract is ascertained reliably, contract revenue is 
recognised at cost of work performed on the contract plus 
proportionate margin, using the percentage of completion 
method. Percentage of completion is the proportion of 
cost of work performed to-date, to the total estimated 
contract costs. 

 Procurement of goods and materials, prior to 
commencement of the contract activity, is not considered 
as a progress in the contract activity and hence, no 
revenue is recognised, although, value of such goods 
and materials procured, exceeds 5% / 10% / 15% of the 
estimated contract costs.

 The estimated outcome of a contract is considered 
reliable when all the following conditions are satisfied:

i.    the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

ii.   it is probable that the economic benefits associated 
with the contract will flow to  the Company; 

iii.  the stage of completion of the contract at the end of 
the reporting period can be   measured reliably; and

iv.  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the 
contract can be measured reliably.

 Expected loss, if any, on a contract is recognised as 
expense in the period in which it is foreseen, irrespective 
of the stage of completion of the contract.

 Claims made on account of variation in contract work and 
extension of time, both, are recognised as revenue only 
when and to the extent of the acceptance of the claim 
and or variation by the customers.

 Unbilled Revenue

 Difference between revenue as per percentage of 
completion method and billing milestone are considered 
as unbilled revenue and receivable from such revenue 
are shown as other financial assets.

 Infotech Business:

 Income from Infotech services provided is accounted on 
accrual basis.

 Interest income 

 Interest income is accrued on a time proportion basis, by 
reference to the principal outstanding and the effective 
interest rate applicable. 
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 Dividend income

 Dividend income from investments is recognised when 
the shareholder’s rights to receive payment have been 
established. 

(u) Exceptional items

 When items of income and expense within statement of 
profit and loss from ordinary activities are of such size, 
nature or incidence that their disclosure is relevant to 
explain the performance of the enterprise for the period, 
the nature and amount of such material items are 
disclosed separately as exceptional items.

(v) Significant accounting estimates, judgements and 
assumptions:

 The preparation of the Company’s financial statements 
in conformity with Ind AS requires management to make 
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the 
reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and 
liabilities and the accompanying disclosures, and the 
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these 
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that 
require a material adjustment to the carrying amount 
of assets or liabilities affected in future periods. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on 
historical experience and various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances 
existing when the financial statements were prepared. 
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revision to accounting estimates is 
recognised in the year in which the estimates are revised 
and in any future year affected.

 In the process of applying the Company’s accounting 
policies, management has made the following judgements 
which have significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements:

i. seful lives of property, plant and equipment: 
Determination of the estimated useful     life of 
tangible assets and the assessment as to which 
components of the cost may be capitalised. 
Useful life of tangible assets is based on the life 
specified in Schedule II of the Act and also as 
per management estimate for certain category of 
assets. Assumptions also need to be made, when 
Company assesses, whether as asset may be 
capitalised and which components of the cost of 
the assets may be capitalised.

Type of Assets Useful life followed by 
the company

Plant & Machinery 2 to 15 Years
Computers 3 to 6 Years
Vehicles 8 to 10 Years
Office Equipments 1 to 20 Years
Furniture & Fixtures 10 Years
Air Conditioners 5 Years
SAP License 5 Years

ii. Construction Income: Revenue is recognised 
based on the in proportion to the stage of 
completion of the transaction at the reporting date. 
Determination of the stage of completion is very 
technical and determined by the management 
experts.  

iii. Fair value measurement of financial instruments: 
When the fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities recorded in the Balance Sheet 
cannot be measured based on quoted prices in 
active markets, their fair value is measured using 
appropriate valuation techniques. The inputs for 
these valuations are taken from observable sources 
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a 
degree of judgement is required in establishing 
fair values. Judgements include considerations of 
various inputs including liquidity risk, credit risk, 
volatility etc. Changes in assumptions/ judgements 
about these factors could affect the reported fair 
value of financial instruments.

iv. Defined benefit plan: The cost of the defined 
benefit gratuity plan and the present value of the 
gratuity obligation are determined using actuarial 
valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making 
various assumptions that may differ from actual 
developments in the future. These include 
the determination of the discount rate, future 
salary increases and mortality rates. Due to the 
complexities involved in the valuation and its long 
term nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly 
sensitive to changes in these assumptions. All 
assumptions are reviewed at each reporting date.

v. Allowances for uncollected accounts receivable: 
Trade receivables do are stated at their normal value 
as reduced by appropriate allowances for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. Individual trade receivables 
are written off when management deems them not 
collectable. Impairment is made on the expected 
credit loss model, which are the present value of the 
cash shortfall over the expected life of the financial 
assets. The impairment provisions for financial 
assets are based on assumption about the risk 
of default and expected loss rates. Judgement in 
making these assumptions and selecting the inputs 
to the impairment calculation are based on past 
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history, existing market condition as well as forward 
looking estimates at the end of each reporting 
period.

vi. Impairment of non-financial assets: The 
Company assesses at each reporting date 
whether there is an indication that an asset may 
be impaired. If any indication exists, the Company 
estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An 
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or Cash Generating Units (CGU’s) fair 
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. 
It is determined for an individual asset, unless 
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or a 
group of assets. Where the carrying amount of an 
asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down to 
its recoverable amount. 

 In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using 
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the asset. In determining fair value 
less costs of disposal, recent market transactions 
are taken into account, if no such transactions can 
be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used.

vii. Contingencies: Management judgement is 
required for estimating the possible outflow of 
resources, if any, in respect of contingencies/ claim/ 
litigation against Company as it is not possible 
to predict the outcome of pending matters with 
accuracy.

(w) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures:

1. IMPACT OF COVID-19 (PANDEMIC)

 The Company has taken into account all the 
possible impacts of COVID-19 in preparation of 
these standalone financial statements, including 
but not limited to its assessment of, liquidity and 
going concern assumption, recoverable values 
of its financial and non-financial assets, impact 
on revenue recognition owing to changes in 
cost budgets of fixed price contracts, impact on 
leases and impact on effectiveness of its hedges. 
The Company has carried out this assessment 
based on available internal and external sources 
of information upto the date of approval of these 
standalone financial statements and believes 
that the impact of COVID-19 is not material to 
these financial statements and expects to recover 
the carrying amount of its assets. The impact of 
COVID-19 on the standalone financial statements 
may differ from that estimated as at the date of 
approval of these standalone financial statements 
owing to the nature and duration of COVID-19.

2. RECENT ACCONTIN PRONONCEMENTS

 On March 24, 2021, the Ministry of Corporate Affairs 
(“MCA”) through a notification, amended Schedule 
III of the Companies Act, 2013. The amendments 
revise Division I, II and III of Schedule III and are 
applicable from April 1, 2021. Key amendments 
relating to Division II which relate to companies 
whose financial statements are required to comply 
with Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules 2015 are:

 Balance Sheet:

•  Lease liabilities should be separately 
disclosed under the head ‘financial liabilities’, 
duly distinguished as current or non-current.

•  Certain additional disclosures in the statement 
of changes in equity such as changes in 
equity share capital due to prior period errors 
and restated balances at the beginning of the 
current reporting period.

•  Specified format for disclosure of shareholding 
of promoters.

•  Specified format for ageing schedule of 
trade receivables, trade payables, capital 
work-in-progress and intangible asset under 
development.

•  If a company has not used funds for the 
specific purpose for which it was borrowed 
from banks and financial institutions, then 
disclosure of details of where it has been 
used.

•  Specific disclosure under ‘additional 
regulatory requirement’ such as compliance 
with approved schemes of arrangements, 
compliance with number of layers of 
companies, title deeds of immovable property 
not held in name of company, loans and 
advances to promoters, directors, key 
managerial personnel (KMP) and related 
parties, details of benami property held etc.

 Statement of profit and loss:

•  Additional disclosures relating to Corporate 
Social Responsibility (CSR), undisclosed 
income and crypto or virtual currency specified 
under the head ‘additional information’ in the 
notes forming part of the standalone financial 
statements.

 The amendments are extensive and the 
Company will evaluate the same to give effect 
to them as required by law.
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021

Note 3: Non-Current Investments (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

A) Investments in Equity Instruments
i) Quoted other investment carried at Fair value through other comprehensive 

income
Mukand Limited  -   -
Nil (March 31, 2020: 6,81,200) equity shares of ` 10/- each fully paid up 
ii) Unquoted other investment carried at Fair value through other comprehensive 
income
India Thermal Power Limited

7,153 (March 31, 2020: 7,153) equity shares of ` 10/- each fully paid up  0.72  0.72 
Less: Provision for dimunition in the value of investments  (0.72)  (0.72)

- -

B) Investments in Preference Shares
Mukand Limited  -   -
Nil (March 31, 2020 52,400) 0.01% Cummulative Redeemable Preference Shares of 
` 10/- each fully paid up
Total  -    -   

Aggregate amount of quoted investments and market value thereof  -    -   
Aggregate amount of unquoted investments  -    -   
Aggregate amount of impairment in the value of investments  0.72  0.72 

Note 4: Trade receivables (` in lakhs)
As at

31st March 2021
As at

31st March 2020
Current Non- current Current Non- current

Unsecured, considerred good  3,876.21  994.03  3,910.81  1,009.60 
Less: Allowances as per expected credit loss model  (706.50)  (625.18)  (691.64)  (416.88)

 3,169.71  368.85  3,219.17  592.72 

Unsecured, Considered Doubtful  685.24  -    685.24  -   
Less: Allowances as per expected credit loss model  (685.24)  -    (685.24)  -   

 -    -    -    -   
Total  3,169.71  368.85  3,219.17  592.72 

* Non current portion includes amount receivable where defection period is over as per the terms of contract.

Note (a): No trade or other receivable are due from directors or other officers of the Company either severally or jointly with any 
other person. Further no trade or other receivable are due from firms or private companies respectively in which any director is 
a partner, or director or member other than as stated in Note 35.

Note (b): The Company’s exposure to credit risk and loss allowances related to trade receivables are disclosed in Note 43.

Note (c): For receivables secured against borrowings, see Note 17.

Note (d): For receivables due from related parties, refer Note 35.
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021

Note 5: Other Financial Assets (` in lakhs)

Particulars
As at

31st March 2021
As at

31st March 2020
Current Non- current Current Non- current

Interest Receivable  89.89  -    56.83  - 
Security Deposits with Govt.Authorities & Others]  5.25  31.22  5.28  34.96 

Fixed Deposits with Banks (remaining maturity of more than 
12 months) *

 -    239.22  -    396.03 

Unbilled revenue  2,208.26  -    2,491.36  - 
Total  2,303.40  270.44  2,553.47  430.99 

* Represents Fixed deposits with banks towards margin money for non fund based facilities availed. 
Note (a): No loans due by directors or other officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any 
other person or amounts due by firms or private companies respectively in which any director is a partner or a director or a 
member.  
Note (b): The Company’s exposure to credit risk and loss allowance related to its financial assets are disclosed in note 43.

Note 6: Deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (net) (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Deferred tax asset on account of:
Provision for doubtful debts  399.58  341.56 
Employee benefit expenses  97.93  97.93 
Taxes & Duties  11.74  11.74 
Deferred tax liability on account of:
Difference between book depreciation and tax depreciation  (35.31)  (35.31)
Net deferred tax assets  473.94 415.92

Note (a): Movements in deferred tax assets/(liabilities) (` in lakhs)

Particulars
Property, 
plant & 

equipment

Provision for 
Employee 

Benefit

Provision 
for Doubtful 
Debts (ECL)

Taxes & 
Duties Total

At April 01, 2020  (35.31)  97.93  341.56  11.74  415.92 
(Charged) / Credited
 - to profit or loss  -    (20.29)  58.02  -    37.72 
 - to other comprehensive income  -    20.29  -    -    20.29 
 At March 31, 2021  (35.31)  97.93  399.58  11.74  473.94 

The Company has not recognised deferred tax assets amounting to ` 1,777,56 lakhs as on March 31, 2021 (March 31, 2020: 
` 1,769.19 lakhs) on account of unabsorbed depreciation, unabsorbed business losses, employee benefits due to uncertainty 
surrounding availability of future taxable income against which such losses can be offset.  

Note 7: Other Non-Current Assets (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Balance with Revenue Authorities  2,608.60  2,612.96 

Total  2,608.60  2,612.96 
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Note 8: Inventories (` in lakhs)
Particulars As at

31st March, 2021
As at

31st March, 2020
Contract Work-in-progress  2,927.83  3,867.79 
Stores and spares  89.73  112.45 
Total  3,017.56  3,980.24 
Note (a) : For Inventories secured against borrowing, refer Note 17.

Note 9: Cash and cash equivalents (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Balances with banks in current accounts  60.92  72.10 
Cash on hand  0.07  0.27 
Total  60.99  72.37 
There are no restrictions with regards to bank balances as at the end of the reporting period and prior period.

Note 10: Other Bank Balances (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Earmarked balances with banks for:
Unpaid Dividend  2.14  4.05 
Deposit Repayment Reserve Account*  18.75  93.33 

Total  20.89  97.38 
*Account pertains to Deposit maintained with Scheduled Bank as statutory liquidity Ratio (SLR) for Repayment of Deposits 
maturing in the current financial year and next financial year as per the requirements of the Act.

Note 11: LOANS - CRRENT (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

nsecured, considered good
Loans to Others  509.00  459.00 

Total  509.00  459.00 
The Company has, as at 31st March, 2021 loans aggregating 509 lakhs (Previous Year ` 459 lakhs) and interest recoverable 
thereon aggregating 71.72 lakhs (Previous Year 19.39 lakhs) due from companies.
No loans due by Directors or Other Officers of the Company or any of them either severally or jointly with any other person or 
amounts due by firms or private companies respectively in which any Director is a Partner or a Director or a Member except 
as disclosed in note no 35.
The management, based on its assessment of the estimated realisable values of the financial assets of these companies, 
believes that the Company will be able to recover the loans and interest as mentioned above within 12 months and has 
accordingly treated the said loan amount and interest due thereon as current asset.

Note 12: Other Current Assets (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Prepaid Expenses  74.37  91.73 
Advance paid to Suppliers/Contractors  0.32  35.08 
Balance with Revenue Authorities  146.71  83.50 
Total  221.40  210.31 
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Note 13: Equity Share Capital
(a) Authorised & Issued Share capital: (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Authorised Share Capital
2,00,00,000 (31st March, 2020: 2,00,00,000) Equity Shares of ` 10/- each  2,000.00  2,000.00 
500,000 (31st March, 2020: 500,000) Preference Shares of ` 100/- each  500.00  500.00 

 2,500.00  2,500.00 
Issued Share Capital
1,25,92,700 (31st March, 2020: 1,25,92,700) Equity Shares of ` 10/- each  1,259.27  1,259.27 
Total  1,259.27  1,259.27 

(b) Subscribed and paid capital (` in lakhs)

Particulars
As at 31st March, 2021 As at 31st March, 2020

No. of 
Shares Amount No. of 

Shares Amount

i) Equity shares of ` 10/- each fully paid up  11,973,900  1,197.39  11,973,900  1,197.39 

ii) Fully paid up persuant to contract(s) without payment being 
received in cash

 598,500  59.85  598,500  59.85 

iii) Forfeited shares  20,300  0.74  20,300  0.74 

Total  12,592,700  1,257.98  12,592,700  1,257.98 

(c) Reconciliation of number of equity shares (` in lakhs)

Particulars
As at 31st March, 2021 As at 31st March, 2020

No. of 
Shares Amount No. of 

Shares Amount

Balance as at the beginning of the year  12,592,700  1,259.27  1,259.27  1,259.27 

Increase/Decrease during the year  -    -    -    -   

Balance as at the end of the year  12,592,700  1,259.27  1,259.27  1,259.27 

(d) Details of shareholders holding more than 5% shares in the company

Particulars
As at 31st March, 2021 As at 31st March, 2020

No. of 
Shares % of holding No. of 

Shares % of holding

Mukand Limited  4,539,781 36.11%  4,539,781 36.11%

Jamanlal Sons Private Limited  1,392,245 11.07%  1,392,245 11.07%

Total  5,932,026 47.18%  5,932,026 47.18%

(e) Rights, preferences and restrictions attached to shares 

The company has issued only one class of equity shares having par value of ` 10/- per share. Each holder of equity shares is 
entitled to one vote per share. In the event of liquidation of the company, the holders of equity shares will be entitled to receive 
remaining assets of the company, after distribution of all the preferential amounts. The distribution will be in proportion to the 
number of equity shares held by the shareholders.
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Note 14: Other Equity (` in lakhs)

Particulars Note As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Securities Premium Reserve                             (i)  2,247.66  2,247.66 
General Reserve                                             (ii)  73.57  73.57 
Retained Earnings                                          (iii)  (8,191.62)  (5,039.11)
Total  (5,870.39)  (2,717.88)

(i) Securities Premium
Securities Premium Reserve is used to record premium on issue of shares. The reserve is utilised as per the provisions of the 
Companies Act, 2013. 

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year  2,247.66  2,247.66 
Movement during the year  -    -   
Balance at the end of the year  2,247.66  2,247.66 

(ii) General Reserve
General Reserve represents appropriations of retained earnings and are available for distribution to shareholders.

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year  73.57  73.57 
Movement during the year  -    -   
Balance at the end of the year  73.57  73.57 

(iii) Retained Earnings
Retained Earnings are the profits of the Company earned till date net of appropriations. 

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year  (5,039.11)  (2,337.76)
Reclassification of Other Comprehensive Income to Retained Earnings (Refer note 3 
& 14(iv))

 -    321.80 

Movement during the year  (3,152.51)  (3,023.15)
Balance at the end of the year  (8,191.62)  (5,039.11)

(iv) Equity Instrument at fair value through Other Comprehensive Income. 
This reserve represents the cumulative gains and losses arising on revaluation of equity instruments measured at fair value 
through Other Comprehensive Income, net of amounts reclassified to retained earnings when those assets are disposed off. 

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Balance at the beginning of the year  -    457.70 
Movement during the year  -    (135.90)
Reclassification of Other Comprehensive Income to Retain Earning (Refer note 3)  -    (321.80)
Balance at the end of the year  -   -

Note 15: Non-Current Borrowings (` in lakhs)

Particsulars Note As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Unsecured
Public Deposits  -    47.86 
Total  -    47.86 
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Note (a): Details of public deposits are as below -
(` in lakhs)

Interest rate & repayment schedule Total amount 
outstanding 

(Refer Note 40)

Shown under current 
maturity - Other 

Financial Liabilities
(Refer Note 20)

Shown 
under 

borrowing

As at 

Amount of ` 439.66 lakhs is repayable in 2020-21, 
` 47.86 lakhs is repayable in 2021-22 and carries 
interest of 11% & 11.5 % p.a.

 487.52  439.66  47.86 31-Mar-20

Amount of ` 47.86 lakhs is repayable in 2021-22, and 
carries interest of 11% & 11.5 % p.a.

 47.86  47.86  -   31-Mar-21

Note (b): The Company has not defaulted in the repayment of borrowings and interest as at Balance Sheet date.
Note 16: Provisions (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

(a) Provision for Gratuity (Refer Note 41):
Current  90.05  19.20 
Non current  190.47  178.85 

(b) Provision for compensated absences (Refer Note 41):
Current  67.47  70.26 
Non current  130.86  135.34 

(c) Provision for Warranty [Refer Note (a)]
Current  -    -   
Non current  10.00  10.00 

Total Non-Current  331.33  324.19 
Total Current  157.52  89.46 
Note (a): Provision for warranties represents claims against the Company that are expected to materialise

(` in lakhs)
Movement in provision for warranty As at

31st March, 2021
As at

31st March, 2020
Balance as at beginning of the year  10.00  10.00 
Provision recognised during the year  -    -   
Amount utilised / reclassified during the year  -    -   
Amount reversed during the year  -    -   
Balance as at end of the year  10.00  10.00 

Note 17: Current Borrowings (` in lakhs)

Particulars Note As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Secured
Loans repayable on demand
a) From banks - Central Bank of India (Refer Note No. 39) (a)  117.10  2,352.60 
Unsecured
Inter corporate deposits (Refer Note No. 39) (b)  10,980.00  7,321.00 
Total  11,097.10  9,673.60 
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Note (a): The carrying amounts of assets pledged as security for Cash Credit Facility 
(` in lakhs)

As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Current Assets
Financial Assets

Trade Receivables (Refer note 4)  3,538.56  3,811.89 
Non Financial Assets

Inventories (Refer note 8)  3,017.56  3,980.24 
Total current assets pledged as security  6,556.12  7,792.14 
Non Current Assets (Refer note 2)

Fixed Assets
Plant & Equipment  266.96  325.17 
Furniture & Fixtures  2.13  2.52 
Office Equipment  61.96  70.71 
Others  8.58  13.69 

Total Non-Current assets pledged as security  339.63  412.09 

Total Assets Pledged as Security  6,895.75  8,204.22 
Note : (b) The cash credit facility is further secured by Corporate Guarantee given by an Associate Company
                 The above credit facility from bank carries interest rate at MCLR rate (1yr) + 4%.
Note (c): Interest rate - Inter corporate deposit carries fixed interest rate within range of 8% - 13.50 %.
Note (d): The Company has not defaulted in the repayment of borrowings and interest as at Balance Sheet date.
Note 18: Trade Payables (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Non-Current Current Non-Current Current
Trade payables  215.08  3,091.63  247.47  3,659.82 
Total  215.08  3,091.63  247.47  3,659.82 
Note (a): The company’s exposure to liquidity risks related to trade payable is disclosed in Note 43.
Note (b): For amount payable to related parties, refer Note 35.
Note (c): Trade Payables includes ` 9 lakhs (2019-20 : 29 lakhs) balance due to Micro Small & Medium Enterprises registered 
under Micro Small & Medium Enterprises Development Act, 2006 (MSME Act). During the year, no amounts have been paid 
beyond the appointed day in terms of MSME Act and there are no amounts paid towards interest. Further, there is no interest 
accrued / payable under the MSME Act at the close of the year. 
The disclosure above is based on the information available with the Company regarding the status of suppliers under the said 
MSME Act.  

Note 19: Other Financial Liabilities (` in lakhs)

Particulars
As at

31st March, 2021
As at

31st March, 2020
 Current  Non-current  Current  Non-current 

Current maturities of long-term debt (Refer Note 15)  47.86 -  439.66 -
Interest accrued on Public Deposits/ICD  1,227.25 -  472.50 -
Unpaid dividend* - 2.14  1.91 2.14
Unclaimed Deposits (Refer Note 38)  11.45 -  14.47 -
Employee related liabilities  103.65 -  133.20 -
Other liabilities  114.80 -  187.15 -
Total  1,505.01  2.14  1,248.89 2.14
* No due amounts are outstanding to be credited to Investor Education & Protection Fund as at the year end under section 125 

of the Company’s Act, 2013.
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Note 20: Other Current Liabilities (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Advance received against contracts  37.44  48.55 
Statutory Dues Payable  42.81  74.81 
Other Liabilities  31.33  31.33 
Total 111.58 154.69

Note 21: Current tax liabilities (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Provision for tax (net of advance tax)  1,467.00  1,070.41 
Total  1,467.00  1,070.41 

Note 22: Revenue from Operations (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Revenue from Construction / Erection business
Supply of materials  9.98  1,055.79 
Sale of services  1,547.72  2,477.01 

 1,557.70  3,532.80 
Income from Infotech Business  672.00  672.00 
Total  2,229.70  4,204.80 

Note 23: Other income (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Interest From Financial Assets measured at amortized cost (Refer Note 1 (g))  -    0.19 
Interest from IT refund  25.74  25.11 
Other Interest  56.33  19.39 
From Fixed Deposits  19.73  32.57 
Excess provisions written back  19.72  40.22 
Sundry Balances Written back  176.25  161.70 
Other Operating Income  1.50  -   
Profit on sale of Assets  0.16  -   
Total  299.43  279.18 

Note 24: Contract Execution Cost (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Sub-contracting expenses  866.04  1,481.97 
Cost of materials supplied  7.78  1,043.42 
Stores, spares and construction materials consumed  146.20  213.80 
Equipment Hire Charges  35.05  83.05 
Testing Charges  3.72  20.26 
Transportation Charges  1.97  16.00 
Others  5.92  22.62 
Total  1,066.68  2,881.12 
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Note 25: Changes in inventories of finished goods, work-in-progress and stock-in-trade (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Work in progress -
Opening stock  3,867.79  4,842.43 
Less: Closing stock  (2,927.83)  (3,867.79)
Net increase/(decrease) in inventories  939.96  974.64 

Note 26:  Employee Benefit Expense (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Salaries and wages  1,117.13  1,232.12 
Contributions to provident and other funds  145.73  146.42 
Staff welfare expenses  0.41  15.70 
Total  1,263.27  1,394.24 

Note 27: Finance Costs (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Interest cost on financial liabilities measured at amortized cost  1,318.47  1,234.81 
Other Finance Cost  27.64  29.42 
Total  1,346.11  1,264.23 

Note 28: Depreciation and amortisation expense (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  68.32  84.81 
Amortisation of intangible assets  -    -   
Total  68.32  84.81 

Note 29: Other expenses (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Provision for Doubtful Debts  223.15  10.52 
Bank Gaurantee / LC Commission  182.21  155.42 
Legal and Professional Charges  100.39  129.87 
Rent Commercial/Electricity/Service charges  86.55  96.87 
Travelling and Conveyance  67.32  86.49 
Repairs - Others  60.67  64.13 
Watch & Ward Expenses  58.53  76.15 
Insurance  54.52  55.18 
Miscellaneous Expenses  36.64  26.24 
Rent  33.99  38.76 
Guest House Expenses at site  31.88  28.40 
VAT/Service Tax/GST  12.21  48.06 
Auditor's Remuneration (Refer note 29 (a))  11.06  11.16 
Listing/Custodial fees & Advetising Expenses  6.59  8.88 
Directors'  Fees  5.90  5.00 
Loss on Assets Discarded  5.07  16.71 
Repairs to Machinery  0.56  0.18 
Loss on Sale of Investments  -    46.00 
Total  977.25  904.02 
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Note 29 (a): Details of payments to Auditors (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Audit fee  7.20  7.20 
For Limited Review  1.80  1.80 
For taxation matters  0.90  0.90 
For other services  1.10  1.10 
Reimbursement of expenses  0.06  0.16 
Total  11.06  11.16 

Note 29 (b): The provisions of Section 135 (Corporate Social Responsibility) of the Companies Act, 2013 read together with 
the rules framed there under relating to CSR initiatives which need to be undertaken by specified companies are at present 
not applicable to the Company.

Note 29 (c): During FY1819, on recommendation of the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors of the Company on July 
16, 2018, has considered and approved the Scheme of Amalgamation amongst  Adore Traders and Realtors Private Limited 
(“Adore”), Mukand Global Finance Limited (“MGFL”), the Company  and Mukand Limited and their respective Shareholders and 
Creditors  as per the provisions of Section 230 to 232 read with Section 52 and other applicable provisions of the Companies 
Act, 2013 (“Scheme”). The Appointed Date for the amalgamation is April 1, 2019. The Stock exchange viz BSE Limited and 
National Stock Exchange of India Limited have not given adverse Observation about the scheme. The Company  had filed the 
Scheme Application with National Company Law Tribunal, Mumbai Bench (“NCLT”) and the same is pending before NCLT. 

Note 30:  Tax Expense (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Income Tax Expense
Current Tax

Current tax on profits for the year  -  -
Adjustments for current tax of prior periods  -  -

Total current tax expense  -  -
Deferred tax

Increase in deferred tax asset (net)  (37.72)  (0.96)
Total deferred tax expense/(benefit)  (37.72)  (0.96)
Income Tax expense  (37.72)  (0.96)

(b) Reconciliation of effective tax rate: (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Profit/(Loss) before income tax expense  (3,132.46)  (3,019.08)
Enacted income tax rate in India applicable to the Company 26.00% 
(2019-20 - 26.00%) 

 (814.44)  (784.97)

Tax effect of:
Permanent Disallowances  0.94  0.09 
Items for which no deferred tax is created eg.Employee benefit obligation, 
depreciation etc.

 (8.54)  21.73 

Unabsorbed business loss for which no deferred tax asset is created  784.42  762.29 
Others  (0.10)  (0.10)
Income tax expense/(benefits)  (37.72)  (0.96)
Effective average tax rate for the year (1.20%) (0.03%)

(c) Amounts recognised directly in equity
No aggregate amounts of current and deferred tax have arisen in the reporting period which have been recognised in equity.
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Note 31: Earning Per Share

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Profit/ (Loss) attributable to the equity holders of the company (A) (` in lakhs)  (3,094.74)  (3,018.12)
Weighted average number of shares for Basic EPS (B)  12,572,400  12,572,400 
Adjsutments for calculation of Diluted EPS (C)  -    -   
Weighted average number of shares for Diluted EPS (D= B+C)  12,572,400  12,572,400 
(a) Basic EPS (`)  (24.62)  (24.01)
(b) Diluted EPS (`)  (24.62)  (24.01)

Note 32: Capital Management
The primary objective of the Company’s capital management is to ensure that it maintains an efficient capital structure and maximize 
shareholder value. 
The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions, annual operating 
plans and long term and other strategic investment plans. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust 
the amount of dividends paid to shareholders  or issue new shares.
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or 
processes for managing capital during the year ended March 31, 2021 and March 31, 2020.
The Company monitors capital using a ratio of ‘adjusted net debt’ to ‘equity’. For this purpose, adjusted net debt is defined as total 
liabilities, comprising interest-bearing loans and borrowings  less cash and cash equivalents. Equity comprises all components of 
equity including share premium and all other equity reserves attributable to the equity share holders.
The Company’s adjusted net debt to equity ratio is as follows.

(` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Borrowings
Long term and Short term borrowings (Refer Note 15&17)  11,097.10  9,721.46 
Current maturities of Long term borrowings (Refer Note19)  47.86  439.66 
Less: Cash and cash equivalents  60.99  72.37 
Adjusted net debt  11,083.97  10,088.75 
Total Equity (Refer Note 13 & 14)  (4,612.41)  (1,459.91)
Adjusted net debt to adjusted equity ratio  (2.40)  (6.91)

Note 33: Contingnt Liabilities (` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

i. Disputed income tax dues  392.91  464.37 
ii. Disputed VAT/WCT/Service Tax (After Adjusting amount paid under protest)  274.15  334.24 
Total  667.096  798.61 
iii.The Company has given performance guarantee and/or guarantees against advances received from clients in the course of 

its business. Based on past experience, the Company is of the opinion that no liability would arise on this account and as 
such at present the liability, if any, cannot be estimated.

Note 34:  
1. Amounts specified in the financial statements are in lakhs and rounded upto the nearest rupee.
2. The Figures for the corresponding previous year have been regrouped / reclassified wherever necessary, to make it comparable.
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Note 35: Related Party Disclosures
a) Details of related parties:

Description of Relationship Name of the Related Party
i) KMP and their Relationship Mr. Rajesh V Shah - Chairman #

Mr. Niraj Bajaj - Director #
ii) Other Entities/Persons Mr. Prakash V Mehta #

Mr. N  Ramanathan #
Mr. R. Sankaran #
Ms.Anna Usha Abraham
Mr. K. P. Jotwani - CEO*
Mr. R. G. Golatkar - CFO*
Mr. D. J. Vora - CS*
India Termal Power Limited

iii) Related Parties where significant influence exists. @ Mukand Limited
Mukand Global Finance Limited 
Mukand Sumi Special Steels Ltd
Mukand Sumi Metal Processing Limited.

b) Details of Related Party Transactions for the year ended on 31st March, 2021: (` in lakhs)
Name of the related party Nature of Transaction For the Year Ended

31st March, 2021
For the Year Ended

31st March, 2020
Mukand Limited  Sales

-Contracts Executed (including supply of 
materials)

 172.70  1,241.64 

- Infotech Services (Excluding GST)  672.00  672.00 
- Interest Income  -    17.33 
Other Payments/Expenditure
Rent  30.24  27.30 
Interest on -ICD  954.49  490.08 
Commission Charged on Corp.
Gurantee@1%

 115.00  115.00 

Electricity  31.40  32.02 
Reimbursement of Expenses  1.09  1.20 
IT Communication  facilities  6.00  6.00 
Finance Drawn (ICD)  4,739.00  3,338.00 

India Thermal Power Limited Inter Corporate Deposists Given  -    59.00 
Interest Income on ICD Given  7.45  1.03 

Mukand Global Finance Limited Legal and Professional Charges  2.40  2.40 
Independent Directors Sitting Fees  5.90  5.00 

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021



~MUKAND
IImII ENGINEERS

76

c) Details of balances outstanding for Related Party Transactions (` in lakhs)

Particulars Nature of Transaction As at
March 31, 2021

As at
March 31, 2020

Mukand Limited Trade receivable  109.33  126.94 
Trade payable  1,966.58  1,967.42 
ICD with Interest  11,546.07  5,853.54 
Rent deposit given  6.50  6.50 
Investment in Equity Shares  -    -   
Investment in Preference shares  -    -   
Corporate Guarantee given to Central Bank of India 
for Credit Facilities 

 11,500  11,500.00 

India Thermal Power Ltd. ICD with Interest  66.82  60.03 
Mukand Global Finance Ltd. Trade payable  0.44  0.65 

d) @ Name of the related party and the related party relationship where control exists have been disclosed only when there have 
been transactions with those parties. Related parties as defined under para 9 of Ind AS 24 “Related Party Disclosures” have 
been identified by the Company based on the representations made by Key managerial personnel and information available 
with the Company and relied upon by the Auditors.

e) The transactions with related parties are made on terms equivalent to those that prevail in arm’s length transactions. Outstanding 
balances at the year-end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash. This assessment is undertaken each financial year 
through examining the financial position of the related party and the market in which the related party operates.

f) # * Details of sitting fees paid and remuneration paid have been given in Corporate Governance Report.

Note 36: There are no financial instruments which are offset, or subject to enforceable master netting arrangements and other 
similar agreements but not offset, as at the reporting date.
Note 37: Disclosure regarding Contracts in progress

(` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Cumulative Contract Costs incurred and recognized Profits (less recognized 
losses)

 44,881.04  44,013.74 

Advances received for running projects  28.66  56.90 
The amount of retention (Included in Trade Receivables)  2,474.52  2,786.59 

Note 38: nclaimed deposits

 As per section 73 of the Act, read with The Companies (Acceptance of Deposit) Rules, 2014, every Company having net worth 
less than ` 100 Crores or turnover less than ` 500 Crores, shall repay the deposits, on or before March 31, 2015, accepted 
before the commencement of the Act, along with interest due thereon.

 Though the Company has not made any default in repayment of deposits which were due on maturity dates, the Company not 
being an “Eligible Company”, was required to repay the deposits accepted before the commencement of the Act, on or before 
March 31, 2015. The Company had preferred an appeal before the Company Law Board for granting permission to repay the 
deposits along with interest thereon on the respective maturity dates.

 The Company Law Board by its order dated May 19, 2015, has granted the said permission to the Company subject to fulfilling 
of certain conditions therein. In view of the above, the Company has continued to repay its deposits along with its interest 
thereon,on the respective maturity dates.

 During the year under review, the Company has repaid deposits to all the deposit holders who claimed their maturity proceeds.
The Company Communicates / sends letter & reminders to holders who have not claimed the maturity proceeds of their 
respective Fixed deposits. The balance of unclaimed deposits as on March 31, 2021 is ` 11.45 lakhs (March 31,2020 : ` 14.47 
lakhs) and same has been shown under other current financial liabilities which will be paid as & when claimed by the depositors 
(Refer Note 19).

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021



~MUKAND
IImII ENGINEERS

77

Note 39:  Reconciliation of liabilities arising from Financing Activities
(` in lakhs)

Particulars Opening 
Balance

Cash 
Movement

Buisness 
Acquisition/
Disposals

Foreign 
exchange 
changes

Fair 
value 

changes
Others Total

March 31, 2021
Public Deposits  487.52  (439.66)  -    -    -    -    47.86 
Cash Credit Facility  2,352.60  (2,235.50)  -    -    -    -    117.10 
Inter corporate Deposits  7,321.00  3,659.00  -    -    -    -    10,980.00 
Total  10,161.12  983.84  -    -    -    -    11,144.96 

March 31, 2020
Public Deposits  1,333.32  (845.80)  -    -    -    -    487.52 
Cash Credit Facility  2,997.80  (645.20)  -    -    -    -    2,352.60 
Inter corporate Deposits  4,056.00  3,265.00  -    -    -    -    7,321.00 
Total  8,387.12  1,774.00  -    -    -    -    10,161.12 

These cash movements are included within the following lines in the cash flow statement:
a) Proceeds from borrowing.
b) Repayment of borrowing.

Note 40: Segment Reporting
 Identification of Segments:
 Operating segment have been identified on the basis of nature of products and  other quantitative criteria specified in the Ind 

AS 108. Information reported to the Chief Operating Decisions Maker (CODM) for the purpose of resource allocation and 
assessment of segment performance focus on business segment comprises of -

 a)  Construction - Construction and Engineering Activities

 b) Infotech - ERP Implementation and Infotech Services

 Revenue and expenses directly attributable to segments are reported under each reportable segment.All other expenses which 
are not attributable or allocable to segments have been disclosed as unallocable expenses.

 Assets and liabilities that are directly attributable or allocable to segments are disclosed under each reportable segment. All other 
assets and liabilities are disclosed as unallocable.

 The Company is operating only within India.
(a) Summary of Segmental Information (` in lakhs)

Particulars For the Year Ended 31st March, 2021 For the Year Ended 31st March, 2020
Construction Infotech Unallocable Total Construction Infotech Unallocable Total

Revenue
External Sales  1,557.70  672.00  -    2,229.70  3,532.80  672.00  -    4,204.80 
Inter Segment 
Sales

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

Total Revenue  1,557.70  672.00  -    2,229.70  3,532.80  672.00  -    4,204.80 
Segment Result  (1,753.71)  334.75  (443.45) (1,862.40)  (1,865.75)  281.10  (222.35) (1,807.00)
Interest Income  -    76.06  76.06  -    -    52.15  52.15 
Finance Costs  -    -    (1,346.11) (1,346.11)  -    -    (1,264.23) (1,264.23)
Tax Expense 
(Charge)/Credit 
(Current+Deferred 
tax)

 -    -    37.72  37.72  -    -    0.96  0.96 

Profit/(Loss) for 
the year

 (1,753.71)  334.75  (1,675.78) (3,094.74)  (1,865.75)  281.10  (1,433.47) (3,018.12)
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(a) Summary of Segmental Information (` in lakhs)
Particulars For the Year Ended 31st March, 2021 For the Year Ended 31st March, 2020

Construction Infotech Unallocable Total Construction Infotech Unallocable Total
Other Information
Segment Assets  6,085.23  162.60  7,118.15 13,365.98  8,185.45  234.43  6,638.75 15,058.63 
Segment Liabilities  3,613.96  216.68  14,147.75 17,978.39  5,119.60  333.90  11,065.03 16,518.53 
Capital 
Expenditure

 -    0.55  -    0.55  0.37  -    -    0.37 

Depreciation & 
Amortisation

 60.30  6.93  1.09  68.32  76.25  1.73  6.83  84.81 

Significant Non-
Cash Expenditure

 -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -   

(b) Information about major customers
Revenue of aggregating ̀  1,044.06 lakhs (March 31, 2020 -  ̀  1,277.25 lakhs) are derived from two external customers`  These 
revenues are attributable to construction segment.

Note 41: Employee Benefits

 (a)  Long term employee benefit obligations
  The leave obligations cover the Company’s liability for earned leave.

 The compensated absences charge for the year ended March 31, 2021 based on actuarial valuation amounting to  
` 7.28 lakhs (March 31, 2020 : ` 22.85 lakhs) has been charged in the Statement of Profit and Loss. 

 (b)  Post employment obligations;

 Defined contribution plans
 The Company also contributes on a defined contribution basis to employees’ provident fund and superannuation fund.
 Contributions are made to provident fund in India for employees at the rate of 12% of basic salary as per regulations. The 

contributions are made to registered provident fund administered by the Government. The obligation of the Company is limited 
to the amount contributed and it has no further contractual nor any constructive obligation.  

 The expense recognised during the period towards defined contribution plan
(` in lakhs)

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2021

For the Year Ended
31st March, 2020

Employer’s Contribution to Provident Fund  67.15  72.94 
Employer’s Contribution to Superannuation Fund  35.96  35.67 

Defined benefit plans
Gratuity
The Company provides for gratuity for employees in India as per the Payment of Gratuity Act, 1972. Employees who are in 
continuous service for a period of 5 years are eligible for gratuity. The amount of gratuity payable on retirement/termination 
is the employees last drawn basic salary per month computed proportionately for 15 days salary multiplied for the number of 
years of service. The gratuity plan is a funded plan. The scheme is funded with Life Insurance Corporation in the form of a 
qualifying insurance policy.    

(` in lakhs)
FY 2020-21 FY 2019-20

 Present 
value of 

obligation

 Fair value 
of plan 
assets

 Net 
amount

 Present 
value of 

obligation

 Fair value 
of plan 
assets

 Net 
amount

Balance as at the beginning of the year  263.80  (65.76)  198.04  242.24  (79.53)  162.71 
Current service cost  21.07  -    21.07  15.80  -    15.80 
Interest expense/(income)  17.79  (4.43)  13.36  18.69  (6.13)  12.56 
Total amount recognised in profit and loss  38.86  (4.43)  34.43  34.49  (6.13)  28.36 

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021
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(` in lakhs)
FY 2020-21 FY 2019-20

 Present 
value of 

obligation

 Fair value 
of plan 
assets

 Net 
amount

 Present 
value of 

obligation

 Fair value 
of plan 
assets

 Net 
amount

Remeasurements
Return on plan assets, excluding amount 
included in interest expense/(income)

 -    -    -    -    -    -   

(Gain)/loss from change in demographic 
assumptions

 -    -    -    0.08  -    0.08 

(Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions  (20.53)  -    (20.53)  15.61  -    15.61 
Experience (gains)/losses  98.58  -    98.58  (8.72)  -    (8.72)
Total amount recognised in other 
comprehensive income

 78.05  -    78.05  6.97  -    6.97 

Employer contributions  -    (30.00)  (30.00)  -    -    -   
Benefit paid  (43.08)  43.08  -    (19.90)  19.90  -   
Balance as at end of the year  337.63  (57.11)  280.52  263.80  (65.76)  198.04 

The net liability disclosed above relates to gratuity are as follows:
(` in lakhs)

As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Fair value of plan assets  57.11  65.76 
Present value of funded obligations  337.63  263.80 
Surplus/(Deficit) of gratuity plan  (280.52)  (198.04)

Categories of plan assets are as follows:
(` in lakhs)

As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Insurer managed funds  57.11  51.99 
Total  57.11  51.99 

Significant estimates: Actuarial assumptions and sensitivity
The significant actuarial assumptions were as follows:

As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Discount rate 6.75% 6.75%
Salary growth rate 3.00% 4.00%
Mortality Rate (% of IALM 06-08) 100.00% 100.00%
Withdrawal rate (per annum) 1.50% 1.50%

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021
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Sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the weighted principal assumptions is:

 Change in assumptions 
 Impact on defined benefit obligation 

 Increase in assumptions  Decrease in assumptions 
 31 March 

2021 
 31 March 

2020 
 31 March 

2021 
 31 March 

2020 
 31 March 

2021 
 31 March 

2020 
Discount rate 1.00% 1.00%  320.20  247.43  357.60  282.79 
Salary growth rate 1.00% 1.00%  358.16  283.13  319.45  246.88 
Attrition Rate 50.00% 50.00%  340.67  265.67  334.34  261.77 
Mortality Rate 10.00% 10.00%  337.80  263.90  337.47  263.70 

 The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, 
this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the 
defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation 
calculated with the projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the 
defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet.

 The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change compared to the prior period.
 Risk exposure
 Interest Rate risk: The plan exposes the Company to the risk of fall in interest rates. A fall in interest rates will result in an 

increase in the ultimate cost of providing the above benefit and will thus result in an increase in the value of the liability (as shown 
in financial statements).

 Liquidity Risk: This is the risk that the Company is not able to meet the short-term gratuity payouts. This may arise due to non 
availabilty of enough cash / cash equivalent to meet the liabilities or holding of illiquid assets not being sold in time.

 Salary Escalation Risk: The present value of the defined benefit plan is calculated with the assumption of salary increase rate 
of plan participants in future. Deviation in the rate of increase of salary in future for plan participants from the rate of increase in 
salary used to determine the present value of obligation will have a bearing on the plan’s liabilty.

 Demographic Risk: The Company has used certain mortality and attrition assumptions in valuation of the liability. The Company 
is exposed to the risk of actual experience turning out to be worse compared to the assumption.

 Regulatory Risk: Gratuity benefit is paid in accordance with the Company adopted scheme (as amended from time to time). 
There is a risk of change in regulations requiring higher gratuity payouts (e.g. Increase in the maximum limit on gratuity of ` 20 
lakhs).    

 Asset Liability Mismatching or Market Risk: The duration of the liabilty is longer compared to duration of assets,exposing the 
Company to market risk for volatilities/fall in interest rate.    

 Investment Risk: The probability or likelihood of occurrence of losses relative to the expected return on any particular 
investment.    

 Defined benefit liability and employer contributions
 Expected contributions to post-employment benefit plans for the year ending March 31, 2021 are ` 336.14 lakhs.
 The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 5 years (March 31, 2020 - 7 years). The expected maturity 

analysis of undiscounted gratuity is as follows:
 Less than a year  Between 2-5 years  Over 5 years  Total 

March 31, 2021
Defined benefit obligation (gratuity)  147.17  109.01  301.23  557.41 
March 31, 2020
Defined benefit obligation (gratuity)  84.96  103.83  294.62  483.41 
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B. Measurement of fair value            

 The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in  
 a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation sale.

 The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair values:

 1.  Fair value of cash and short-term deposits, trade and other short term receivables, trade payables, other current liabilities, 
short term loans from banks and other financial institutions approximate their carrying amounts largely due to short term 
maturities of these instruments.

 2.  Financial instruments with fixed and variable interest rates are evaluated by the Company based on parameters such 
as interest rates and individual credit worthiness of the counterparty. Based on this evaluation, allowances are taken to 
account for expected losses of these receivables.

 3.  The fair values of the Company’s interest-bearing borrowings and loans are determined by using Discounted cash flow 
method using discount rate that reflects the borrowing rate as at the end of the reporting period. The own non-performance 
risk as at 31 March 2020 was assessed to be insignificant.

 4.  Investment in preference shares of Mukand Ltd. are listed. However considering the fact that the shares are thinly traded, 
we cannot take the valuation from the market, cannot be taken hence investment is considered as Level 3 investment as 
no similar category of instrument is available in the market and valuation of the same has been done in accordance with 
Level 3 instrument based on the inputs and data available.

C.  Fair Value Hierarchy            

The fair value of financial instruments as referred to above have been classified into three categories depending on the inputs 
used in the valuation technique. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements).

Level 1:   Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. The fair value of equity instruments 
which are traded in the stock exchanges is valued using the closing price as at the reporting period. 

Level 2:   The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 
techniques which maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in 
level 2.

Level 3:   If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is included in level 
3. Level 3 is the case for unlisted equity securities and/or shares which are thinly traded.

Note 43: Financial Risk Management

The Company’s board of directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management 
framework. The Company’s approach to addressing risks is comprehensive and includes periodic review of such risks and a framework 
for mitigating and reporting mechanism of such risks. The risk management framework is reviewed periodically by the Board & Audit 
Committee. The Company’s financial risk management is an integral part of how to plan and execute its business strategies.

The Company has exposure to the following risks arising from financial instruments:

•  Credit risk

•  Liquidity risk and

•  Market risk

NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021

(A)  Credit Risk

 Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its 
contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s trade and other receivables. The carrying amounts of financial 
assets represent the maximum credit risk exposure. 

 i.  Trade and Other receivables

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date. The expected credit losses over lifetime of the asset are 
estimated by adopting the simplified approach using a provision matrix. The loss rates are computed using a ‘roll rate’ 
method based on the probability of receivable progressing through successive stages till full provision for the trade 
receivable is made.  

  The ageing analysis of trade receivables (gross) has been considered from the date the invoice falls due -  
(` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Not due  2,467.90  2,863.34 
0 to 180 days past due date  449.08  471.17 
More than 180 days past due date  1,843.40  1,695.52 

 4,760.38  5,030.04 

The following table summarizes the changes in loss allowances measured using life time expected credit loss model -
 (` in lakhs) 

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Opening Provision  1,108.53  1,098.01 
Provision during the year  223.15  10.52 
Reversal of provision  -    -   
Closing provision  1,331.68  1,108.53 

 ii.  Cash and bank balances

 The Company held cash and cash equivalent and other bank balance of ` 60.99 Lakhs at March 31, 2021 (March 31, 
2020: ` 72.37 Lakhs). The same are generaly held with Nationalised scheduled bank. Also, Company invests its short term 
surplus funds in Nationalised schedule bank fixed deposit which carry no market risks for short duration, therefore does not 
expose the Company to credit risk.   

 iii.  Others

 Other than trade financial assets reported above, the Company has no other financial assets which carries any significant 
credit risk.

(B)  Liquidity Risk
 Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities 

that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset. The Company’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far 
as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Company’s reputation.  

 Management manages liquidity risk by monitoring rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity position and cash and cash 
equivalents on the basis of expected cash flows.

 Net Working Capital of the Company and available cash and cash equivalents   
(` in lakhs)

Particulars As at
31st March, 2021

As at
31st March, 2020

Net Working Capital Fund  (8,126.89)  (5,304.93)
Which include
i) Cash & Cash Equivalents  60.99  72.37 
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NOTES FORMING PART OF THE F S FOR THE YEAR ENDED ON 
31 M, 2021

  (i)  Maturities of financial liabilities
  The following are the remaining contractual maturities of financial liabilities at the reporting date. The amounts are gross 

and undiscounted, and include contractual interest payments.
(` in lakhs)

Contractual maturities of financial liabilities
31 March 2021

1 year 
or less

1-2 years More than 
2 years

Total

Long term borrowings (Refer Note 15)  -    -    -   
Short term borrowings (Refer Note 17)  11,097.10  -    -    11,097.10 
Trade payables (Refer Note18)  3,091.63  215.08  -    3,306.71 
Other financial liabilities (Refer Note 19)  1,505.01  2.14  -    1,507.15 
Total  15,693.74  217.22  -    15,910.96 

(` in lakhs)
Contractual maturities of financial liabilities
31 March 2020

1 year or less 1-2 years More than 
2 years

Total

Long term borrowings (Refer Note15)  -   -  47.86 
Short term borrowings (Refer Note17)  9,673.60  -    -    9,673.60 
Trade payables (Refer Note18)  3,659.82  247.47  -    3,907.29 
Other financial liabilities (Refer Note19)  1,248.89  2.14  -    1,251.03 
Total  14,582.31  297.47  -    14,879.78 

(C)  Market Risk

 Market risk is the risk that arises from changes in market prices, such as interest rates (interest rate risk).They will affect the 
Company’s income. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return. 

 Interest rate risk

 Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cashflows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in 
market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Company’s 
long term debt obligation at floating interest rates. The Company’s fixed rate borrowings are carried at amortised cost. They are 
therefore not subject to interest rate risk as defined in Ind AS 107, since neither the carrying amount nor the future cash flows 
will fluctuate because of a change in market interest rates.

 Interest rate risk exposure

 The exposure of the Company’s borrowing to interest rate changes at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
 (` in lakhs) 

Particulars 31st March, 2021 31st March, 2020
Variable rate borrowings  117.10  2,352.60 
Fixed rate borrowings  11,027.86  7,808.52 
Total borrowings  11,144.96  10,161.12 

Sensitivity:
A change of 100 basis points in interest rates (in case of variable rate loan) would have following impact on profit after tax and 
equity -

 (` in lakhs) 
31st March, 2021 31st March, 2020

Interest rates - increase by 100 basis points *  (0.87)  (17.41)
Interest rates - decrease by 100 basis points *                                                                       0.87  17.41 
* Holding all other variables constant
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UDIN : 21101858AAAADE3809

D.J. VORA
Mumbai, May 25, 2021 Company Secretary

Note 44: Note on Uncertainty Related to Going Concern
 (` in lakhs) 

Particulars 31st March, 2021 31st March, 2020
Loss as per P & L(PAT)  3,094.74 3018.12
Add:Remeasurement of Defined Benefit scheme 78.06  6.80 
Less : Income tax impact  20.29  1.77 
Total (refer note 14)  3,152.51  3,023.15 
Add Loss at the  beginning of the year  5,039.11 2337.76
Less : Amount transferred to Retained Earning  -   321.8
Total Accumulated Loss as at year end  8,191.62  5,039.11 

 The Company has accumulated loss for the year end ` 8,191.62 lakhs/- (2019-20: ` 5,039.11 lakhs) resulting in erosion of net 
worth. Keeping in mind the ongoing restructuring exercise, it is believed that the business will be able to generate sufficient 
profits in future to meet its financial obligations, this statement has been prepared using going concern basis of accounting.

45 Impact of Covid-19

Based on the internal and external information upto the date of approval of these financial results, the company has considered 
the possible impact of Covid-19 pandemic on its operation, liquidity position,recoverability of assets balance at 31/03/2021. 
The impact may be different from that estimated as at the date of approval of these financial results. The management will 
continue to monitor any material changes arising out of this pandemic on its financials and operational performance and take 
necessary measures accordingly.

Signatures to Notes 1 to 45
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